Preventing youth violence: an overview of the evidence



World Health Organization

Preventing youth violence: an overview of the evidence



WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data:

Preventing youth violence: an overview of the evidence.

1.Violence – prevention and control. 2.Adolescent. 3.Young Adult. 4.Adolescent Behavior. 5.Age Factors. 6.Juvenile Delinguency. 7.Family Relations. I.World Health Organization.

ISBN 978 92 4 150925 1

(NLM classification: HV 6625)

© World Health Organization 2015

All rights reserved. Publications of the World Health Organization are available on the WHO website (www.who.int) or can be purchased from WHO Press, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland (tel.: +41 22 791 3264; fax: +41 22 791 4857; e-mail: bookorders@who.int).

Requests for permission to reproduce or translate WHO publications – whether for sale or for non-commercial distribution – should be addressed to WHO Press through the WHO website (www.who.int/about/licensing/copyright_form/en/index.html).

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use.

Photo credits Cover: © World Bank/Scott Wallace Page 4: © UN Photo/Marie Frechon Page 13: © UN Photo/Steve Winter Page 20: © UN Photo/Evan Schneider Page 60: © UN Photo/Eric Kanalstein

Printed in Luxembourg

Contents

Acknowled	gements	vi
Preface		vii
Executives	summary	ix
Introductio	n	1
	Who should read this manual?	1
	How was this manual developed?	2
	Overview of the content	2
Chapter 1.	Youth violence definition, prevalence and consequences	4
	Definitions: youth violence in context	5
	Youth violence: magnitude, distribution and consequences	6
	Homicide	6
	Non-fatal youth violence	7
	Youth receiving hospital emergency treatment for violence-related injuries	7
	Self-reported victimization and perpetration	7
	Dating violence prevalence	9
	Sexual violence prevalence	9
	Consequences of non-fatal youth violence	9
	Wider social and economic consequences	10
Chapter 2.	Risk factors for youth violence	12
	Risk factors most strongly associated with youth violence	13
	Involvement in crime and delinquency	13
	Antisocial peers and lack of social ties	13
	Alcohol and drugs	15
	Sex	15
	Socioeconomic status	15
	Parental involvement in antisocial behaviour and crime	15
	Aggressive behaviour and history of involvement in violence	16
	Child maltreatment	16
	Parenting skills and parent child relations: supervision, discipline, bonding	16
	School attitude/performance	16
	Psychological conditions	16

	Other risk factors for youth violence	17
	Individual level risk factors	17
	Family and close relationship risk factors	17
	Community-level risk factors	17
	Society-level risk factors	17
	Use of risk factors for developing and planning interventions	18
Chapter 3.	What is the evidence for youth violence prevention?	20
	Parenting and early childhood development approaches	22
	Home visiting programmes	22
	Parenting programmes	24
	Early childhood development programmes	26
	School-based academic and social skills development strategies	28
	Life and social skills development	28
	Bullying prevention	30
	Academic enrichment programmes	31
	Dating violence prevention programmes	32
	Financial incentives for adolescents to attend school	34
	Peer mediation	35
	After-school and other structured leisure time activities	37
	Strategies for young people at higher risk of, or already involved in, violence	39
	Therapeutic approaches	39
	Vocational training	40
	Mentoring	42
	Gang and street-violence prevention programmes	43
	Community- and society-level programmes and policies	45
	Hotspots policing	45
	Community- and problem-orientated policing	48
	Reducing access to and the harmful use of alcohol	49
	Drug control programmes	51
	Reducing access to and misuse of firearms	53
	Spatial modifications and urban upgrading	54
	Poverty de-concentration	56
	Overview of evidence	58

CONTENTS

Chapter 4.		hat governments and civil society can do to implement youth olence prevention programmes	60
	1.	Raising awareness about prevention	62
		Awareness within the health sector	62
		Awareness among other sectors	62
		Public awareness	63
	2.	Developing partnerships across sectors	64
		Consulting with different sectors	64
	3.	Strengthening knowledge about the importance of data collection on fatal and non-fatal youth violence, and on risk and protective factors	65
		Sources of youth violence data	65
		Role of the ministry of health in data collection	65
		Putting violence and injury information systems in place	66
		Why surveys of youth violence are important	67
		Supplementing available information with research	67
		Compiling and disseminating data	67
	4.	Enhancing capacity to evaluate existing prevention programmes	67
		Monitoring of youth violence at the population level	67
		Outcome evaluation of specific youth violence prevention programmes	68
	5.	Developing a policy framework	69
		Development of a youth violence prevention plan of action for the health sector	69
		Multisectoral plans of action	69
		Legislative efforts	70
		Laws of particular relevance for youth violence prevention	70
	6.	Developing capacity for youth violence prevention	71
		Building human resource capacity	71
		Maintaining effective networks	71
Conclusion	1		72
References	;		73

Acknowledgements

This manual was written by Berit Kieselbach and Alexander Butchart of the World Health Organization (WHO) Violence Prevention Unit, Department for Management of Noncommunicable Diseases, Disability, Violence and Injury Prevention. Franziska Meinck helped with many of the reviews. Christopher Mikton, also of the WHO Department for Management of Noncommunicable Diseases, Disability, Violence and Injury Prevention, provided valuable inputs into conceptualizing and reviewing this document. Angela Burton was responsible for technical editing.

Deborah Fry, Gabrielle Inglis, Tali Kassidy and Richard Matzopoulos conducted reviews on several interventions. Noemi Pereda Beltrán and Judit Abad Gil contributed Spanish language reviews, and Lila Kazemian provided a French language review.

The document benefited greatly from the contributions of an external expert group that reviewed the scientific evidence for youth violence prevention. This group was chaired by Mark Bellis and Dinesh Sethi, and its members were Anna Alvazzi del Frate, Patrick Burton, Linda Dahlberg, Manuel Eisner, Deborah Fry, Johanne-Saskia Gay, Jan Ole Haagensen, Tulio Kahn, Anna Rau, Ekaterina Romanova, Margaret Shaw, Bettina Silbernagl, Gary Slutkin, Catherine Ward and Elizabeth Ward.

Valuable comments were received from the following peer reviewers: Margit Averdijk, Mark Bellis, Giovanna Campello, Linda Dahlberg, Johannes de Haan, Joseph Murray, Dinesh Sethi, Margaret Shaw and Catherine Ward.

The development and publication of this document has been made possible by the generous support of the Jacobs Foundation, the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit, and the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Preface

Each year an estimated 200 000 youth aged 10–29 years are murdered, making homicide the fourth leading cause of death in young people globally. In addition to these deaths, millions of young people sustain violence-related injuries that require emergency medical treatment, and countless others go on to develop mental health problems and adopt high-risk behaviours such as smoking, alcohol and drug abuse, and unsafe sex as a result of their exposure to youth violence. The emotional toll of youth violence on its victims, their loved ones and friends is high, and youth violence shatters lives. These consequences also have high economic costs, both for society and for the families of those affected.

Youth violence does not "just happen". On the contrary, whether in the shape of bullying at school, alcohol-related violence in bars, clubs and private spaces, gang violence, or violence associated with the illegal drug trade, youth violence is often predictable and therefore preventable. The last decade has witnessed steady growth in the number of scientifically published studies describing how programmes to reduce the factors that give rise to youth violence and strengthen those that protect against it have significantly lowered rates of victimization and perpetration. Much of this literature derives from high-income countries such as Australia, Canada, the United Kingdom and the United States, where, at a national level, homicide rates and other youth violence indicators have shown substantial declines over the past decade. However, there is also a growing number of success stories from low- and middle-income countries where the problem of youth violence is particularly severe, and several of these are described in this manual, along with pointers on how to establish policies supportive of youth violence prevention programming.

The aim of this manual is to help policy-makers and planners everywhere – particularly in settings with limited human and financial resources – to address youth violence using an evidence-informed approach. The manual provides a science-based framework for understanding why some individuals are more likely to become involved in youth violence than others and why youth violence is more concentrated in particular communities and sectors of the population than in others. This framework incorporates a life-course approach that recognizes how behaviour in the present is shaped by earlier developmental stages. It also takes into account how youth violence is influenced by characteristics of the individual; family and peer relationships; and features of the community and society, such as economic inequality and high levels of alcohol consumption.

WHO's involvement in youth violence prevention reflects the important stake the health sector has in the prevention of interpersonal violence more generally. For instance, the health sector treats the victims of violence, incurring major financial costs in doing so. Health services see a substantially larger proportion of all victims of violence than are reported to the police and other authorities, and are thus well placed to inform and evaluate prevention programmes. The health sector also plays a key role in designing and implementing youth violence prevention interventions such as programmes to reduce the harmful use of alcohol.

However, health is just one of several sectors whose contributions are essential if youth violence prevention success is to be achieved and sustained. This document is therefore an invitation to multisectoral action, first and foremost on the part of the criminal justice sector (which along with the health sector bears the brunt of youth violence) and the education, social development and social protection sectors, which play a critical role in regulating exposure to the risks for youth violence and strengthening factors that protect against it.

Adoption in May 2014 by the World Health Assembly of Resolution 67.15 on preventing interpersonal violence, in particular against women and girls, and against children, reaffirmed the importance of health sector participation in multisectoral efforts to prevent violence. It also highlighted the importance of addressing the links between different types of violence, such as child maltreatment, youth violence and intimate partner violence. *Preventing youth violence: an overview of the evidence* therefore provides another link in the chain of evidence-based prevention. I hope this manual will serve to strengthen this chain by expanding the quantity and quality of youth violence prevention programmes and studies that evaluate their effectiveness, in low-, middle- and high-income countries.

Etienne Krug

Director, Department for Management of Noncommunicable Diseases, Disability, Violence and Injury Prevention World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland

Executive summary

Violence is defined as "the intentional use of physical force or power, threatened or actual, against another person or against a group that results in or has a high likelihood of resulting in injury, death, psychological harm, maldevelopment, or deprivation"(1). Research and programmes addressing youth violence typically include people aged 10–29 years, although patterns of youth violence can begin in early childhood.

Worldwide, an estimated 200 000 homicides occur each year among youth and young adults aged 10–29 years, making homicide the fourth leading cause of death in this age group. Eighty three percent of homicide victims in this age group are male, and nearly all of these deaths occur in low-and middle-income countries (2). For each young person killed, many more sustain injuries requiring hospital treatment. Beyond deaths and injuries, youth violence can lead to mental health problems and increased health-risk behaviours, such as smoking, alcohol and drug use, and unsafe sex. Youth violence results in greatly increased health, welfare and criminal justice costs; reduces productivity; decreases the value of property in areas where it occurs; and generally undermines the fabric of society. Accordingly, effective youth violence prevention programmes can improve a broad range of health, education and social outcomes, leading to potentially substantial economic savings.

Youth violence is influenced by risk factors at different levels and at different life stages of an individual. At the individual level, risk factors can include a history of involvement in crime; delinquency and aggressive behaviour; psychological conditions such as hyperactivity and conduct disorder; and the harmful use of alcohol and illicit drugs. Close relationship level risk factors include growing up with poor parental supervision; having experienced harsh and inconsistent discipline by parents; parental involvement in crime; and associating with delinquent peers. Risk factors at community level include neighbourhood crime; gangs and a local supply of guns and illicit drugs; ease of access to alcohol; unemployment; high levels of income inequality, and concentrated poverty. Youth violence prevention programmes are designed to reduce the risk factors that give rise to youth violence or else mitigate the negative effects on individuals and communities where the risk factors remain prevalent.

Although the burden of youth violence is highest in low- and middle-income countries, almost all studies of prevention effectiveness come from high-income countries, in particular Australia, the United Kingdom and a few other western European countries, and the United States of America. The largest proportion of outcome evaluation studies concern strategies that address risk factors at the individual and close relationship levels, and there are fewer outcome evaluations for community- and society-level strategies. While it is important that prevention efforts target children at an early stage, few longitudinal studies measure the effects of interventions delivered in early childhood on subsequent youth violence outcomes. Bearing these limitations in mind, the table below provides an overview of youth violence prevention strategies reviewed in this document and what is known about their effectiveness. The strategies are grouped into four categories based on the context in which they are delivered.

The table shows that while for each of the implementation contexts there is at least one strategy that is promising for preventing youth violence, many strategies are of uncertain effectiveness because of insufficient evidence. In early childhood, teaching positive parenting skills and early childhood development programmes were both rated as promising, and home visiting as requiring more research to establish its effectiveness in preventing subsequent youth violence.

Among the school-based strategies, life and social skills development programmes, and bullying

Effectiveness of youth violence prevention strategies, by context

Parenting and early childhood development strategies	Home visiting programmes Parenting programmes Early childhood development programmes	? + +
School-based academic and social skills development strategies	Financial incentives for adolescents to attend school	+ + ? +/- ? +/- ?
Strategies for young people at higher risk of, or already involved in, violence	Therapeutic approaches Vocational training Mentoring Gang and street violence prevention programmes	+ ? ?
Community- and society-level strategies	Hotspots policing Community- and problem-orientated policing Reducing access to and the harmful use of alcohol Drug control programmes Reducing access to and misuse of firearms Spatial modification and urban upgrading Poverty de-concentration	+ + + + + + + + +

KEY

+ Promising (strategies that include one or more programmes supported by at least one well-designed study showing prevention of perpetration and/or experiencing of youth violence, or at least two studies showing positive changes in key risk or protective factors for youth violence).

? Unclear because of insufficient evidence (strategies that include one or more programmes of unclear effectiveness).

+/- Unclear because of mixed results (strategies for which the evidence is mixed – some programmes have a significant positive and others a significant negative effect on youth violence).

prevention programmes are both rated as promising, whereas academic enrichment programmes, financial incentives for adolescents to attend school, and structured leisure time activities were found to require more research as to their effectiveness. Dating-violence prevention and peer mediation programmes were found to have contradictory evidence on their effectiveness, with peer mediation programmes also being shown in some studies to have harmful effects in the form of increased youth violence.

Of the strategies for youth at higher risk of violence, only therapeutic approaches (such as cognitive behaviour therapy) for youth already showing aggressive behaviour emerged as promising in

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

preventing youth violence, with vocational training, mentoring, and gang and street violence prevention programmes having insufficient evidence to assess their effectiveness.

At community and societal level, hotspots policing; community- and problem-orientated policing; reducing access to and the harmful use of alcohol; drug control programmes; reducing access to and the misuse of firearms; spatial modification and urban upgrading, poverty de-concentration were all rated as promising in preventing youth violence.

When considering the applicability of a specific youth violence prevention strategy within a lowresource setting, it is important to recognize that many presuppose the existence of well-functioning institutions such as primary health care systems and schools, and the existence of legitimate and accountable policing and criminal justice systems. Where such conditions are not present, specific youth violence prevention programmes that depend upon these institutions are unlikely to be effective. Preventing youth violence thus requires a comprehensive approach that also addresses the social determinants of violence, such as income inequality and low levels of social protection, and which strengthens the institutional mechanisms, resources and human capacity needed to ensure the just, effective and accountable enforcement of laws.

The public health approach to violence prevention highlights the importance of collecting data on the magnitude and pattern of youth violence, and using such data to inform the design and implementation of interventions. It also requires that evidence on effects is fed back into the preventive system to enable continuous monitoring and ongoing improvements. The public health approach is explicitly multisectoral, involving input from sectors such as education, health, justice, social protection and trade and industry. It involves four steps.

- 1. Define the magnitude, scope, characteristics and consequences of such violence through the systematic collection of statistical information from routinely available sources and surveys.
- 2. Identify the risk and protective factors that increase or decrease the likelihood of youth violence, including those that can be modified through interventions.
- 3. Determine what works in preventing youth violence by developing and evaluating interventions tailored to the demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of the groups in which they are to be implemented.
- 4. Implement effective and promising interventions in a wide range of settings and, through ongoing monitoring of their effects on the risk factors and the target problem, evaluate their impact and cost-effectiveness.

While the public health approach provides an easily understood framework for organizing youth violence prevention efforts, the main challenge lies in getting governments and other violence prevention stakeholders to adopt such an approach in the first place. In many settings the idea that youth violence can be prevented is likely to be new, and it is therefore important to build the necessary human and institutional foundations before attempting to initiate a public health approach to the problem. This can be done by systematically:

- raising awareness about prevention;
- developing partnerships across sectors;
- strengthening knowledge about the importance of data collection on fatal and non-fatal youth violence, and on risk and protective factors;
- enhancing the capacity to evaluate existing prevention programmes;
- establishing a policy framework, and
- building capacity for youth violence prevention.

Youth violence is not a simple problem with easy solutions. However, significant improvements in prevention, especially in low-resource settings, are possible. There is enough knowledge and experience on the subject for any country to begin addressing the problem.

Introduction

This manual reviews what is known about the prevalence and consequences of youth violence, the underlying risk factors and scientific studies on the effectiveness of youth violence prevention programmes. It also provides brief notes on how to strengthen youth violence prevention efforts. The prevention programmes covered by these studies are grouped into 21 youth violence prevention strategies under which the evidence for the effectiveness of the specific interventions in each strategy is reviewed. Each strategy's relevance to low- and middle-income countries (where youth violence rates are highest) is explored, and the manual describes the human resources and institutional arrangements needed to support implementation of each strategy.

The goal of this manual is to help reduce the number of young people who are harmed by youth violence and who perpetrate it. Achieving this goal requires effective prevention policies and programmes. By taking action to prevent youth violence and simultaneously generating evidence for its effectiveness, progress to achieving this goal can be accelerated.

Who should read this manual?

The manual provides an overview of current evidence for what works to prevent youth violence, and its intended readership includes policy- and decision-makers in governments, civil society organizations and other institutions that implement or are interested in the implementation of youth violence prevention programmes.

The content of this manual is relevant for various sectors, including ministries responsible for providing health, legal and social services, the criminal justice and education sectors, ministries of the interior; and authorities that play a role in regulating youth violence risk and protective factors, such as alcohol and firearms, and access to social protection.

The manual is also relevant for technical staff in organizations such as international development agencies and foundations that provide financial and technical support for youth violence prevention programmes, and researchers interested in better understanding what works to prevent youth violence and collaborating with those who implement programmes to conduct outcome evaluation studies.

How was this manual developed?

Development of this manual started in 2012 with a consultation of around 50 youth violence prevention experts from all regions of the world on what its scope and content should be. Through this consultation, 21 strategies often implemented with the goal of preventing youth violence were identified. Published literature (in English, French and Spanish) from 1998 to 2013 on the effectiveness of interventions encompassed by the prevention strategies was then retrieved and reviewed. Initial reviews were conducted using the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) framework criteria that inform the development of WHO's evidence-based guidelines (*3*).

To avoid drawing possibly misleading conclusions from single studies of any particular intervention, GRADE is applied only to meta-analyses and systematic reviews that examine multiple independent studies of an intervention. Application of GRADE revealed that across almost all interventions making up the 21 youth violence prevention strategies, there were either too few meta-analyses and/or systematic reviews to rate the evidence, or that where multiple meta-analyses and systematic reviews and systematic reviews did exist, they had major information gaps and inconsistencies that made the pooling and comparison of findings

impossible. These included failure to specify the characteristics of the intervention and/or target groups; the use of divergent outcomes, and failure to provide dose-response information.

The results of these reviews were then discussed in a face-to-face meeting of 15 youth violence prevention experts from most geographical regions, with a focus on exploring the relevance of the findings for their countries and regions; potential pitfalls in implementing the strategies, and their applicability in low-resource settings. The group concluded that formal recommendations for or against any of the strategies could not be made. Instead, and in line with other areas in public health where the evidence base is similarly inconsistent, it was agreed to present narrative descriptions of the review findings in a catalogue format that applies a standard template to each strategy. Based on these discussions, a draft version of the manual was prepared, and then peer-reviewed and finalized.

Overview of the content

Chapter 1 provides data on the magnitude, distribution and consequences of youth violence.

Chapter 2 presents an overview of risk and protective factors associated with youth violence, and which should be the focus of interventions to prevent youth violence.

Chapter 3 reviews evidence for the effectiveness of the 21 youth violence prevention strategies and their applicability in low- and middle-income countries.

Chapter 4 outlines practical steps that can be taken to organize multisectoral youth violence prevention efforts, and describes the human resources and institutional arrangements needed to support such efforts.



Youth violence definition, prevalence and consequences

Definitions: youth violence in context

The World report on violence and health (1) defines violence as, "the intentional use of physical force or power, threatened or actual, against another person or against a group or community, that either results in or has a high likelihood of resulting in injury death, psychological harm, maldevelopment or deprivation", (p.5). The report further defines youth violence as violence that occurs among individuals aged 10–29 years who are unrelated and who may or may not know each other, and generally takes place outside of the home. Examples of youth violence include bullying, physical assault with or without a weapon, and gang violence. High rates of perpetration and victimization nevertheless often extend as far as the 30–35 years age band, and this group of older young adults should be taken into account when trying to understand and prevent youth violence (4).

Youth violence is closely linked to other forms of violence, including child maltreatment, intimate partner violence and self-directed violence: these types of violence have common risk factors and one can be a risk factor for the other (e.g. child maltreatment is a risk factor for later involvement in youth violence). It is therefore useful to view youth violence within a wider categorization of violence. Following the typology presented in the *World report on violence and health (1)*, violence can be divided into three broad categories, according to the context in which it is committed.

- Self-directed violence is subdivided into suicidal behaviour and self-abuse. The former includes suicidal thoughts, attempted suicides and completed suicides. Self-abuse, in contrast, includes acts such as self-mutilation.
- Interpersonal violence refers to violence between individuals. The category is subdivided into family and intimate partner violence, and community violence. The former includes child maltreatment, intimate partner violence and elder abuse. Community violence is broken down into violence by acquaintances and violence by strangers. It covers youth violence, assault by strangers, violence related to property crimes, and violence in workplaces and other institutions.
- Collective violence refers to violence committed by larger groups of people and can be subdivided into social, political and economic violence.

Crosscutting each of these categories is the nature of violent acts. The nature of acts can be physical, sexual, emotional or psychological, or one of neglect. The classification of violence according to both type and nature of the violent act, as shown in Figure 1, is useful for understanding the place of youth violence within patterns of violence more generally.



FIGURE 1 A typology of violence

Source: (1)

Youth violence often occurs alongside other types of violence. For instance, maltreated children are themselves at increased risk in later life of either perpetrating or becoming the victims of multiple types of violence – including suicide, sexual violence, youth violence and intimate partner violence. The same set of factors – such as harmful levels of alcohol use, family isolation and social exclusion, high unemployment and economic inequalities – have been shown to underlie different types of violence. Strategies that prevent one type of violence and that address shared underlying factors therefore have the potential to prevent a number of different types of violence (5).

Youth violence: magnitude, distribution and consequences

The availability of data on the magnitude of the youth violence problem is best represented by a pyramid. Violent deaths are the most visible outcome of violent behaviour recorded in official statistics, yet represent only the apex of the pyramid. Next are victims of youth violence that come to the attention of health authorities and receive some form of emergency medical, medico-legal or other care. The third, much broader layer at the base of the pyramid includes acts of youth violence (e.g. bullying) that may never be reported to health or other authorities. Population-based surveys are therefore critical to documenting the overall prevalence and consequences of youth violence. However, with the exception of school-based surveys of self-reported involvement in physical fighting and bullying, such surveys are lacking for most countries and regions. Of course, not all victims of violence are willing to disclose their experiences of violence even in a confidential interview, and the base of the pyramid also comprises the many victims of youth violence at school did not tell anybody about their

experience (6).

As evident from the information presented in this section on fatal and non-fatal youth violence, the patterns and consequences of violence are not evenly distributed among countries and regions, or by sex. Whereas males are disproportionately represented among victims of violent death and physical injuries treated in emergency departments, females are more likely to be victims of dating violence and sexual violence. Both male and female victims of youth violence suffer a host of negative health and social consequences from these acts of violence that often last a lifetime and that are not captured in official statistics.

Homicide

Each year an estimated 200 000 homicides occur in young people aged 10–29 years. Of these homicide victims, 83% are male and nearly all of these deaths occur in low- and middle-income countries. Homicide is the fourth leading cause of death in young people globally (see Table 1).

There are large national and regional variations in the rates of death resulting from youth violence. In some countries of Latin America, the Caribbean, and sub-Saharan Africa, estimated youth homicide rates are a hundred or more times higher than rates for countries in Western Europe and the Western Pacific, which have the lowest youth homicide rates.

Figure 2 shows estimated homicide rates by age and sex, worldwide, in 2012. In the age groups 0-4 and 5-9 years, homicide rates in males and females are roughly the same, although twice as high in the 0-4 year age group as in the 5-9 year age group.

TABLE 1

Top 10 causes of death in persons aged 10–29 years, 2012, world

	Road traffic injuries 361 515°
	HIV/AIDS 293 920ª
	Self-harm 256 180ª
	Homicide 205 303 ^b
	Maternal conditions 151 036ª
	Lower respiratory infections 138 151 ^b
	Diarrhoeal diseases 123 236ª
	Drowning 105 576ª
	Meningitis 82 032ª
	lschaemic heart disease 72 038ª
a b	ources: Global health estimates: deaths by cause, age, sex and country, 2000–2012. Geneva; World Health Organization Global health observatory data: violence prevention, homicide estimates 2012 (http://www.who.int/

gho/violence/en/)



FIGURE 2 Homicide rates by age and sex, 2012, world

Source: World Health Organization. Global health observatory data: violence prevention, homicide estimates 2012. (http://www.who.int/gho/violence/en/).

Among youth aged 10–29 years, homicide rates for males surge to over six times those in males aged 5–9 years, and for females the rates more than double. Homicide rates for males and females aged 30–49 years remain very similar to those in the 10–29 year age group, and for the age group 50 years and over, rates among males reduce substantially, while rates in females remain relatively unchanged.

Non-fatal youth violence

The prevalence of non-fatal youth violence is best measured by counting violence-related injuries among youth that receive emergency medical care, and through population-based surveys on self-reported involvement in violence. Police and criminal justice data are useful in identifying the number of cases reported to these authorities. However, studies show that for each case of youth violence reported to the police, there are several more that receive hospital emergency care but that are not reported to police (7, 8). Reliance on police data alone is therefore likely to severely underestimate the true magnitude the problem.

Youth receiving hospital emergency treatment for violence-related injuries

The treatment of non-fatal injuries resulting from youth violence constitutes a major burden on health systems. For example, in a nationally representative study of violence-related injury cases presenting at emergency departments during a 1-month period in Brazil, there were 4835 cases of violence-related injury, of which 91% were victims of interpersonal violence. More than half of the victims (55%) were aged 10–29 years (9). In the USA, 1 643 801 people were treated in emergency departments in 2013 for injuries sustained in an assault, of whom 50% were aged 10–29 (10). In Cape Town, South Africa, analysis of 9236 consecutive trauma centre admissions from October 2010 to September 2011 showed that assault with a sharp instrument (21%) or blunt object (17%) were the two most common mechanisms of injury, that over 70% of all cases were males, and 42% were aged 18–30 years (11).

Self-reported victimization and perpetration

The Global School-based Student Health Survey (GSHS) is one of the few cross-nationally comparable sources of information on self-reported involvement in youth violence. The GSHS uses nationally representative surveys of students aged 13–15 years and has been implemented in over 100 countries

(12). Table 2 shows the prevalence of self-reported physical fighting (as a victim and/or perpetrator) in the past 12 months, and bullying victimization in the past 30 days, for selected low- and middle-income countries during the period 2003 to 2013.

TABLE 2

Percentage of youth aged 13–15 years reporting being involved in a physical fight or bullied, by sex, selected countries (various years between 2003 and 2013)

	PHYSICAL FIGHTING (PAST 12 MONTHS)		BULLIED (PAST 30 DAYS)	
	MALE	FEMALE	MALE	FEMALE
African Region				
Benin	35%	27%	43%	41%
Botswana	54%	42%	53%	52%
Malawi	24%	21%	43%	47%
Swaziland	27%	14%	33%	31%
Region of the Am	ericas			
Bolivia	45%	21%	32%	28%
Dominica	48%	30%	29%	26%
Honduras	36%	21%	32%	32%
Jamaica	61%	39%	40%	39%
Eastern Mediterra	anean Region			
Egypt	62%	29%	70%	70%
Iraq	50%	22%	32%	22%
Morocco	57%	26%	17%	21%
Qatar	63%	38%	49%	35%
South-East Asian	Region			
Indonesia	48%	20%	55%	45%
Maldives	45%	17%	45%	39%
Myanmar	21%	8%	23%	16%
Thailand	47%	21%	32%	23%
Western Pacific Re	egion			
Malaysia	45%	17%	45%	39%
Mongolia	63%	19%	37%	20%
Philippines	44%	32%	47%	48%
Samoa	73%	62%	79%	69%
All regions (avera	ge)			
	47%	26%	42%	37%

Source: World Health Organization. Global school-based student health survey. (http://www.who.int/chp/gshs/en/) (12)

Table 2 shows the very high prevalence of both physical fighting and bullying. Across all countries, nearly one in two males reported involvement in physical fighting during the past 12 months compared to one in four females. By country, the prevalence of physical fighting ranged from a low of 21% in Myanmar to a high of 73% in Samoa, and for females from a low of 8% in Myanmar to a high of 62% in Samoa. Sex differences were less pronounced for bullying, with a cross-country average of 42% for boys and 37% for girls. The highest reported prevalence of bullying was in Egypt, where 70% of both boys and girls reported having been bullied in the past month, and lowest in Morocco (17% boys and 21% girls).

The second International Self-Report Delinquency Study collected data on perpetration of violence among 12–15-year-old students in 63 cities and 31 countries mainly in Europe and the Americas (13). Past-

year prevalence rates for serious violence varied between 1.5% and 8%, depending on the country and city. Unfortunately, comparable information for other WHO Regions is lacking.

Dating violence prevalence

Dating violence is an early form of intimate partner violence, occurring primarily in adolescence and early adulthood. A systematic review (14) of studies on the prevalence of dating violence in North America and Europe found that 4.2–46% of girls and 2.6–33% of boys experienced physical dating violence during adolescence. However, definitions of dating violence used in the various studies differed, as did the measuring instruments, making precise comparisons impossible. In Africa, a South African study (15) of 928 males and females aged 13–23 years found that 42% of females and 38% of males reported being a victim of physical dating violence during adolescence or early adulthood. In Ethiopia, nearly 16% of 1378 male college students reported physically abusing an intimate partner or non-partner, and 16.9% reported perpetrating acts of sexual violence (16).

Sexual violence prevalence

The reported prevalence of sexual violence among young people in dating relationships varies from 1.2%–32.9% for females, and from 1%–19% among boys in North America and Europe (14). According to demographic and health survey data for selected low- and middle-income countries (17), the percentage of girls aged 15–19 years who have ever experienced forced sexual intercourse ranges from zero among adolescent girls in Kyrgyzstan, to 22% among girls in the same age range in Cameroon. Among girls and women aged 15-49 years, the percentage reporting forced sexual initiation ranges from 1% in Timor-Leste to 29% in Nepal.

Consequences of non-fatal youth violence

Given the extremely high prevalence of self-reported involvement in non-fatal youth violence, it is unsurprising that the number of deaths resulting from youth violence is overshadowed by the very substantial burden of injuries, mental health problems and negative behavioural consequences caused by youth violence. For each young person murdered, it has been estimated that at least 20–40 young people are admitted to a hospital with serious violence-related injuries inflicted during assault and robbery (4). Other forms of youth violence – such as bullying, slapping, or hitting – can cause more emotional harm than physical harm, and, as noted above, are often documented through population based self-report surveys.

Unfortunately, in comparison to child maltreatment and intimate partner violence against women, fewer studies have addressed the non-injury health and social consequences of youth violence. This hampers the potential to advocate for prevention since it creates the misleading impression that the consequences of youth violence are short-term and mainly physical. A priority in the coming years must therefore be to better understand and quantify the immediate and long-term effects of involvement in youth violence on health risk behaviours, mental and physical health outcomes, and involvement in subsequent violence including self-directed, interpersonal and collective violence. Another important gap in youth violence research is around its direct and indirect economic costs – while these have started to be assessed in the Americas, they are poorly measured in other regions of the world.

Injuries. Injuries caused by youth violence include lesions to the head, neck and face, and extremities. Most common are open wounds, followed by fractures, concussions and scalds to the head and neck. Violence-related injuries also include frequent injuries to the thorax, the abdomen, and the upper and lower extremities. The most common injuries in a study in an emergency room in Jamaica were stabbings (52.1%), blunt injuries (37.9%) and gunshot wounds (7.3%) (18). According to data from the United States, gun violence tends to lead more often to injuries of the upper and lower trunk and extremities (10) while violence committed with knives and other sharp instruments is more often associated with injuries to the head, upper extremities and lower extremities. Injuries can have a range of long-term consequences

and can cause disability. Violence is, for example, among the three most common causes of spinal cord injury (19).

Health risk behaviours. A number of studies have shown that violent victimization in adolescence has adverse effects on physical and psychological health. For instance, experiencing youth violence has been associated with health risk behaviours such as smoking, harmful use of alcohol and illicit drugs, physical inactivity and higher stress levels. Several of these behaviours are in turn risk factors for noncommunicable conditions such as cardiovascular diseases. A study that compared data from the GSHS in eight African countries (20) found that bullying was closely related to increased cigarette, alcohol and drug use, and risky sexual behaviour, and that the health risk behaviours increased with the number of days during which the young person was a victim of bullying. Health risk behaviours often arise as a means of coping with depression as a direct consequence of youth violence (21). The association between youth violence and health risk behaviours may be two-way, since adolescents with health problems tend more often to be victims of violence, while violence in turn leads to more health problems.

Mental health consequences. Being a victim of violence influences psychological well-being over the life course. Experiencing youth violence as an adolescent is associated with mental health problems such as post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, anxiety disorders and a wide range of psychological dysfunction. These problems can persist throughout adolescence and adulthood. Many studies have explored the links between being exposed to bullying and the likelihood of suffering depression later in life, and one meta-analysis of their findings estimates that students exposed to bullying and violence in school are 30–50% more likely to suffer depression seven to 36 years later (22).

Increased risk of involvement in further violence. Exposure to violence in early childhood and adolescence can lead to engaging in other types of violence, including further youth violence, child maltreatment and intimate partner violence. Youths who have perpetrated or suffered violence during childhood are three times more likely to perpetrate violence later in their life (23), and children who witnessed parental violence are more likely to perpetrate youth violence (24). In one United Kingdom study, half of males currently engaged in serious violence were victims of violence in the past, compared with only 12% of non-violent youth (25). Being a bully increases the risk of perpetrating violence later in life by more than half, and being a victim of bullying increases the risk of later becoming a perpetrator of violence by 10%.

Impact on families and friends. Youth violence and its consequences not only change the life of the immediate victim, but also affect their family members and friends. Relatives and close friends of youth violence victims are significantly more likely to show symptoms of depression; negative behaviours directed towards the environment, such as disobeying rules, physical aggression, vandalism, or threatening others, and drug use and harmful use of alcohol (*26*).

Wider social and economic consequences

Educational under-achievement. Youth violence perpetration and victimization are related to low academic achievement. Those who are involved in youth violence show lower educational performance and are more at risk of school dropout or truancy. According to a survey conducted in the United States, about 6% of children reported not going to school on one or more days in the 30 days preceding the survey because they felt unsafe at school, or on their way to and from school (27). There is evidence that physical aggression in middle childhood predicts school dropout (28).

Economic costs. Youth violence is often accompanied by the destruction of goods and infrastructure, and can lead to decreased property values in areas that are considered hotspots for violence (4). Violence committed by juveniles is particularly costly to society. Costs for victims include direct medical costs, future earning losses, public programme costs, property damage and losses of quality of life. Costs for

CHAPTER 1. YOUTH VIOLENCE DEFINITION, PREVALENCE AND CONSEQUENCES

perpetrators include probation costs, detention costs, treatment programme costs, incarceration costs and earning losses. Youth violence may harm local businesses and the local economy in areas where prevalence is high, and leads to substantial healthcare and criminal justice costs. In addition, there are intangible costs for societies, including costs associated with increased insecurity, fear and suffering, and reduced social cohesion. In the United States, for example, direct medical costs and lost earnings associated with youth violence amount to US\$ 20 billion annually (10).



2 Risk factors for youth violence

hy do some young people engage in violence while others do not? Why do some children in schools get along well with others, while others frequently get into trouble? Why do youth violence rates in one community differ from those in a neighbouring community? Answering these questions entails identifying the causes of and risk factors for youth violence, and the factors that may protect against it. A better understanding of these causes, and risk and protective factors, is essential for the development of prevention programmes. Prevention efforts must eliminate or reduce the risk factors that young people are exposed to, and strengthen protective factors.

Risk and protective factors are aspects of a person, group or environment that make youth violence more or less likely to occur. A risk factor is a characteristic that increases the likelihood of a person becoming a victim or perpetrator of violence, or of a place having high rates of youth violence. The more risk factors that accumulate in an individual or in a particular setting, the higher the likelihood that the individual will become involved in youth violence or that violence occurs in a certain setting (29). Risk factors occur at the level of the individual, family and peer relationships, the community, and society. Importantly, factors occurring in infancy or early childhood can significantly increase the likelihood of involvement in violence later in adolescence and adulthood.

Protective factors

Youth violence researchers and planners increasingly focus on protective factors, which include direct protective factors and buffering factors. Direct protective factors predict a lower probability of violence, whereas buffering factors predict a low probability of violence in the presence of risk. It is important to consider protective factors, because even in high-risk groups of children, over half will not grow up to engage in serious youth violence. As with risk factors, protective factors can occur at the individual, family and close relationship, community, and society levels; and, the more protective factors that accumulate within an individual or a geographical setting, the lower the likelihood of youth violence (*30*).

Direct protective and buffering factors identified to date include above-average intelligence; low levels of impulsiveness; pro-social attitudes; close relationships to parents; intensive parental supervision; medium socioeconomic status; strong ties to school; having non-deviant peers; and living in a non-deprived and non-violent neighbourhood (30).

Table 3 provides an overview of the risk factors most consistently found to be related to youth violence by the developmental stage and ecological level at which they occur. Most risk factor studies are from North American and European countries (*31, 32*). While many of these risk factors may apply universally, there are also culture-specific risk and protective factors.

Of the risk factors identified in Table 3, some have stronger and more consistent associations with youth violence, while others appear to be less consistently predictive of youth violence but may still be important in some settings.

Risk factors most strongly associated with youth violence

Involvement in crime and delinguency

Being involved in crime or delinquent behaviour is one of the most powerful and most consistent risk factors for later youth violence. According to one meta-analysis of longitudinal studies (33), juvenile offences are the strongest predictor of subsequent violent or serious delinquency even if the offence did not involve violence.

Antisocial peers and lack of social ties

A lack of social ties and involvement with antisocial peers are both strongly associated with youth violence (33). Being involved with friends who engage in aggressive, violent or delinquent behaviour





increases the risk of a young person's involvement in violence. One study found that having antisocial peers was associated with violent crime, bullying, and aggressive behaviour (34). Gang membership is associated with a 10–21% higher likelihood of violent offending (35, 36). The direction of the association between antisocial peers and youth violence is not clear; some studies suggest that antisocial peers may reinforce antisocial behaviour (37), and others that young people who are already prone to violent behaviour selectively choose antisocial peers (38).

Alcohol and drugs

At the individual level, alcohol use directly affects cognitive and physical functioning and can reduce self-control and the ability to process information and assess risks. It can increase impulsiveness and make particular drinkers more likely to engage in violent behaviour. Young people who start drinking early and drink frequently are at increased risk of perpetrating – or being a victim of – youth violence. At community and society levels, crowded and poorly managed drinking venues contribute to increased aggression among drinkers (*39*). Several studies confirm that violent incidents often occur in situations of alcohol intoxication (*40, 41*).

One study has shown that involvement in drug selling between the ages of 14–16 years tripled the risk of involvement in violence (42). Having access to drugs might also reflect neighbourhood circumstances that provide opportunities for and reinforce deviant behaviour. A longitudinal study in the United States found that frequent use of alcohol, marijuana, and/or other illicit drugs was strongly associated with involvement in violence (43).

Sex

Young men are at far greater risk than females for becoming perpetrators and victims of youth violence. About 90% of fatal violence is perpetrated by males and 83% of all youth homicide victims are male. Female involvement in youth violence resulting in non-fatal physical injures remains inadequately studied in many countries. In the USA, females represent 20% of all arrests for violent crime among those aged 10–29 years (44). In addition, female youth are at greater risk of victimization in dating relationships, sexual violence and intimate partner violence.

Socioeconomic status

Being raised in poverty has been found to contribute to a greater likelihood of involvement in violence, and poverty both in the community and at the level of individual households has been shown to predict violence (45). Youth from families with lower socioeconomic status are at twice the risk of involvement in violent crime as youth from middle- and high-income families (46). Adolescents growing up in families where one or both parents are unemployed are at higher risk of youth violence (47). Socioeconomic status of parents is associated with a higher risk of bullying or being bullied (48). Some studies find that poverty and economic inequality are positively associated with national homicide rates, and that this relationship is particularly strong in males aged 20–24 years (49).

Parental involvement in antisocial behaviour and crime

Antisocial behaviour tends to be concentrated within families. Parents that demonstrate antisocial behaviour are more likely to have children who do the same. A population-based study in Sweden (50) examined the family relationships of persons who had been convicted for violent crime. The study found that the likelihood of having been convicted for a violent crime was four times higher in those with a sibling that had been convicted of a violent crime, and two times higher for those with a cousin that had been convicted of a violent crime. A number of studies from other geographical settings found similar outcomes, such as the study from Cambridge, United Kingdom (51), which found that 63% of boys with convicted fathers were themselves found guilty of crime (including violent crime), compared to 30% of those whose relatives had not been convicted.

Aggressive behaviour and history of involvement in violence

Aggression and violent behaviours tend to develop early in the life course, and many adolescents engaging in youth violence have histories of juvenile delinquency and patterns of disruptive behaviour in early childhood (*52*). Children who manifest disruptive behaviours or childhood aggression, and children diagnosed with conduct disorders, are also at increased risk of youth violence. The appearance of aggressive behaviour before the age of 13 years consistently predicts later violence among males. Many researchers have confirmed that there is continuity in antisocial behaviour from early aggression to violent crime (*53*). One study found that 20% of the most aggressive males at ages 8–10 years were convicted of a violent offence by the age of 32 years, compared with 10% of those who did not show aggressive behaviour in childhood (*54*). Another study found that students involved in school bullying were over twice as likely to be involved in violent offending 11 years later (*22*).

Child maltreatment

Child maltreatment includes physical abuse, sexual abuse, emotional abuse and neglect of children. Children who were victims of child maltreatment are more likely to show antisocial and violent behaviour in childhood and adolescence compared with non-maltreated youth (55, 56). Evidence also suggests that children who have been physically abused or neglected are more likely than others to commit violent crimes later in life (57). One study found that of 900 children, those who had been abused or neglected before the age of 11 years were more likely to be arrested as juveniles and as adults, and more likely to be arrested for juvenile violence (58).

Parenting skills and parent child relations: supervision, discipline, bonding

Several aspects of the parent-child relationship can predict a child's later involvement in delinquent and violent behaviour. These include supervision of the child; parental discipline and reinforcement; the quality of the emotional relationship; and parental involvement with children. Several studies have shown that parents who routinely do not know where their children are, and who often leave their offspring unsupervised, are more likely to have children that become involved in delinquent or violent behaviour (*30*). In the Cambridge-Somerville study in the United States, poor parental supervision could predict violent crimes up to age 45 years (*59*). Harsh or punitive discipline has also been shown to predict future violence (*60*).

School attitude/performance

Low academic achievement, poor bonding with school, frequent changes of school, truancy and dropping out are all risk factors for youth violence. Poor academic achievement consistently predicts later delinquency. Bonding to school is a protective factor against violence, although this relationship is weak. Youth with high truancy rates are more likely to engage in violence as adolescents and adults, and leaving school early also predicts later violence (42).

Psychological conditions

Several psychological variables associated with impulsiveness predict violence including hyperactivity, concentration problems, restlessness, risk taking, low self-control, and sensation seeking. Children and youth with attention deficit-hyperactivity disorders have a higher likelihood of manifesting aggressive behaviour and becoming involved in youth violence (61). Such personality and behavioural traits have been linked to certain nervous system conditions and genetic predispositions that, combined with adverse childhood environments, can increase the risk of violent behaviour (62).

Other risk factors for youth violence

Beyond the risk factors most strongly associated with youth violence are several others that should be considered. The weaker relationship between these risk factors and youth violence is partly the result of a lack of research into some of them, and in others, contradictory findings across different studies.

Individual level risk factors

Low intelligence. Several studies show that intelligence is moderately associated with delinquency and violence (63, 64). A longitudinal study in 120 men in Stockholm, Sweden found that low intelligence measured in children aged 3 years significantly predicted crime records up to the age of 30 years, regardless of social class (65). One study tested various explanations of the relationship between low intelligence and violence, and that which seems to hold most promise is the school performance model, which assumes that having low intelligence reduces the ability to compete and perform well in school, thereby increasing the likelihood of involvement in delinquent subcultures (66).

Family and close relationship risk factors

Adolescent parents. Children born to adolescent parents have a higher likelihood of developing antisocial behaviour and behavioural problems (*31*). Many young women who become pregnant as adolescents were sexually and/or physically abused at some point in their lives (*67*).

Parental mental health and alcohol abuse problems. There is increased risk of antisocial behaviour in children whose parents suffer depression. This relationship has been studied particularly among mothers, although a few studies of fathers with depression suggest similar findings (68). More research is needed to identify whether successful treatment for depression is associated with a decline in children's antisocial behaviour. Several longitudinal studies have found that children of parents who use alcohol in harmful ways are at elevated risk of antisocial behaviour (69, 70).

Community-level risk factors

Growing up in a neighbourhood with high levels of crime. Growing up in neighbourhoods with high levels of crime has been identified in many studies as a risk factor for youth violence (52). Being exposed to crime, drug selling, gangs and poor housing predicts the likelihood of youth violence (1). One study found that children who knew many adult criminals were more likely to engage in violent behaviour by the age of 18 years than those who did not (42).

Society-level risk factors

Access to firearms. International cross-sectional studies involving mainly high-income countries show that countries with higher levels of firearm availability have on average higher levels of firearm-related deaths (*71, 72*). Meta-analysis studies also suggest that at the level of individual households, firearm-related deaths occur more frequently in households with guns, compared to those without guns (*73*). None of these studies is specific to homicide in youth, although – because youth account for a high proportion of all homicides in most settings – they are likely to be highly relevant to youth violence.

Social protection. Social protection mechanisms have been shown to have a negative association with national homicide rates (49), (74), suggesting that economic policies which strengthen social protection can mitigate the social and economic consequences of those living in poverty, and are protective against violence.

Social determinants, including rule of law

Violence of all types is strongly associated with social determinants such as weak governance, poor rule of law, cultural, social and gender norms, unemployment, income and gender inequality, rapid social change and limited educational opportunities (2). Together these factors create a social climate that is conducive to violence, and in the absence of efforts to address them, sustained violence prevention gains are difficult to achieve. Any comprehensive youth violence prevention strategy must therefore identify ways to mitigate or provide a buffer against these risks, including through policy and other measures. As part of a multisectoral approach to violence prevention, additional efforts must be made to strengthen and support relevant institutions in the justice and security sectors, as well as health, education and social sectors, to ensure that prevention strategies are effective in addressing these social determinants (2).

In relation to poor rule of law (one of the most pertinent social determinants of youth violence), strategies to enable safe reporting of interpersonal violence and ensuring that legal protection and support are available to all citizens are of particular importance (75). In other circumstances, the threat of criminal sanctions can have a deterrent effect, for instance on people with strong social ties to the perpetrator or when the certainty – but not necessarily the severity – of sanctions is high. An important objective for youth violence prevention is therefore to strengthen collaboration between public health, the criminal justice sector and key security institutions such as the police in order to increase the chance that potential perpetrators of violence will be prevented from committing crime in the first place (and if not, at least held accountable for their actions). Where necessary, support such as strengthening financial and human resource capacity on the part of relevant institutions can help to improve enforcement levels.

Use of risk factors for developing and planning interventions

Resources to prevent youth violence are scarce. It is therefore important that interventions target individuals, families and communities most at risk of becoming involved in youth violence. From the risk factors described above, it is clear that some subgroups of the population and communities are at higher risk of youth violence than others, and so should therefore be prioritized by prevention efforts. It was also noted that because several risk factors are relevant at different periods of development, care must be taken to ensure that interventions are age appropriate.

When deciding about what risk factors to address, factors to consider are:

- how strongly is the risk factor associated with a particular youth violence outcome?
- how can data on the risk factor be collected?
- how frequent is the risk factor?
- how feasible it is to change exposure to the risk factor with an intervention?
- how much does it cost to address the risk factor?

Risk factors for youth violence are not the same in all regions of the world, and most of the risk factor studies cited above are from high-income countries. However, other studies have shown that a range of risk factors apply across settings (76, 77). Nevertheless, there will usually be risk factors that are specific to a particular setting which are important for programme designers to identify and address.

Information on risk factors in your country or setting can be retrieved from various sources such as:

- household surveys of child maltreatment and family violence;
- statistics about single-headed households;
- statistics on alcohol consumption and alcohol sales, or the use of self-brewed alcohol;
- · indicators of income or financial wealth of communities;
- unemployment statistics;
- statistics from schools (e.g. findings from the GSHS); and
- published literature about risk factors.



3 What is the evidence for youth violence prevention?

his chapter provides an overview of the current state of scientific knowledge on the effectiveness of 21 youth violence prevention strategies. It is important to note the following limitations of the evidence base for youth violence prevention.

- Although the burden of youth violence is higher in low- and middle-income countries, almost all studies of prevention effectiveness come from high-income countries, in particular Australia, Canada, the United Kingdom, the United States, and a few Western European countries (78).
- Within the pool of existing studies, the evidence is unevenly distributed over different ecological levels. The largest proportion of interventions and outcome evaluation studies concern strategies that address risk factors at the individual and close relationship levels, and far fewer community-and society-level interventions have been evaluated (78).
- In line with the fact that the largest proportion of interventions are at the individual and close relationship level, most outcome evaluations describe programme effects on risk factors for youth violence such as attitudes and behaviours. By contrast, community- and society-level strategies can be evaluated for their effects on direct measures of youth violence, including rates of homicide and non-fatal, assault-related injuries treated by emergency departments, and self-reported victimization and perpetration (79).
- Despite the importance of prevention efforts that target children at an early stage, few longitudinal studies measure the effects of interventions delivered in early childhood on subsequent youth violence outcomes.

In reviewing the literature on the effectiveness of interventions included in each strategy, the following hierarchy of evidence was considered: systematic reviews with a meta-analysis were regarded as the strongest form of evidence, closely followed by systematic reviews without a meta-analysis; where neither of these two types of study was available, findings from randomized controlled trials were reported, and, for interventions where randomized controls were lacking, findings from quasi-experimental studies and time-series analyses were reported. Concerning outcomes, studies that examined programme effects on risk factors for youth violence, and those that measured effectiveness using direct measures were included. Special efforts were made to identify studies from low- and middle-income countries, and those published in French and Spanish.

The 21 youth violence prevention strategies relate to four particular areas:

- Parenting and early childhood development;
- · School-based academic and social skills development;
- · Young people at higher risk of or already involved in violence, and
- Community and society level.

For each strategy we give a definition; a rationale for why it should prevent youth violence; findings on effectiveness (including where ineffective and/or harmful); comments on possible benefits, harms and acceptability; and suggestions about applicability in low- and middle-income countries. The reviews of each strategy commence with a box summarizing the main outcomes for which it has been evaluated; the effects it has had on those outcomes; and, where relevant, its probable effectiveness in preventing youth violence. This overview also indicates if the evidence is mainly from high- or middle- and low-income countries, and the strength of the underlying research designs. Strategies were classified as supported by strong research designs if these included at least two randomized controlled trials, or as being supported by weaker research designs if these included only non-randomized and pre-post-test designs.

Parenting and early childhood development approaches

Early childhood strategies address two interlinked sets of risk factors for youth violence that occur from birth until around 8 years of age. The first set includes risk factors in the individual child, including attention deficit, hyperactivity and conduct disorders, and other behavioural problems. The second set includes risk factors at the family level, such as poor parent-child relationships, child maltreatment, poor parental supervision, and harsh and inconsistent discipline by parents. Children with cognitive and behavioural problems can be more difficult to supervise, and where parents lack experience and have problems of their own, such disorders can exacerbate the risk of child maltreatment and the use of harsh or inconsistent discipline.

Home visiting programmes

Home visiting programmes involve trained nurses, health visitors and sometimes lay workers providing educational information and support to vulnerable and/or first-time parents in their homes, often before the birth of a child and during the first 2–4 years of the child's life. They aim to prevent child maltreatment and promote healthy development. Home visiting programmes address universal aspects of parenting (e.g. mother-child attachment) and are therefore likely to be of high relevance in all settings.

SUMMARY

- Only a few studies have evaluated long-term effects of home visiting programmes on youth delinquency
 Home visiting programmes clearly reduce child maltreatment (a risk factor for youth violence), and probably reduce adolescent delinquency and criminality
 There is insufficient evidence for home visiting programme prevention effects on violence in adolescence and adulthood
- There is high-income country evidence only
- Most reflect strong research designs

Relevance for youth violence prevention

The relationship between parents and their children can directly affect child development. Child maltreatment in infancy and early childhood is a risk factor for involvement in youth violence later in life, and for the development of behaviours (e.g. alcohol and drug abuse) that increase the likelihood of such violence (55, 56). Home visiting has been shown to prevent child maltreatment and other risk factors for youth violence (e.g. alcohol and drug abuse), and is therefore assumed to prevent youth violence.

The evidence

There is strong evidence from high-income countries for the effectiveness of home visiting programmes in preventing child maltreatment and other negative child outcomes (80, 81). Four studies that assessed long-term outcomes of home visiting programmes (82) found that children of single mothers in low-income settings who received home visiting programmes were significantly less likely as adolescents to report being involved in delinquency (including violence), and being arrested (-52.8%) or convicted (-63%) of a crime. Another study examined the long-term effects of a home visiting programme by nurses provided to young mothers, and assessed criminal involvement of the children of these mothers 19 years later (83); the findings showed less lifetime arrests for girls but no reduction of lifetime arrests among boys.

In addition to preventing child maltreatment, home visiting programmes have been shown to improve the health status of children and mothers, and children's emotional and intellectual development (84). For low- and middle-income countries, there is emerging evidence that home visiting programmes can
be implemented in resource-poor settings and can improve the quality of interaction between parents and children (85). However, there is wide variability across home visiting programmes, and not all home visiting programmes are effective in reducing child maltreatment.

Implementing home visiting programmes

Home visiting programmes often target families where there is a high risk of maltreatment (e.g. families with very young mothers, or families living in highly deprived settings), and are implemented by trained nurses, health visitors or trained lay personnel as a separate programme or as part of a routine health service. Nurse visits to the family may begin prior to birth, with the nurse providing help and advice on child development, child care and parenting skills. Family visits typically take place at least once a month, and in some programmes may occur up to twice a week. The duration of home visiting programmes can range between 6 months and 3 years.

Feasibility and acceptability

Home visiting programmes have a range of immediate benefits that include reduced child maltreatment, improved child and maternal health, and enhanced early childhood development. These are in addition to long-term benefits such as reductions in youth delinquency, crime and violence, which accrue 10–15 years later. It is therefore important when advocating for home visiting programmes as a means of preventing youth violence to highlight both their immediate benefits and their youth violence prevention potential.

Costs

.

Costs for a home visiting programme usually include salaries for nurses, nurse training, administration costs, supervision and local transport costs. These will vary according to the type and intensity of the programme. For example, studies from the United States show that the annual costs of home visiting programmes range from about US\$ 1000 to over US\$ 5000 per family. A 2005 study by the RAND Corporation evaluated the cost-effectiveness of two evidence-based home visiting programmes for which cost-benefit data were available and found savings ranging from US\$ 1.80 to US\$ 5.70 per dollar invested (*86*).

Nurse home visiting in the United States, the United Kingdom and the Netherlands

The Nurse-Family Partnership is a nurse home visiting programme for first-time mothers – mostly low-income and unmarried – during pregnancy and infancy. It was developed in the United States and is now implemented in several high-income countries including the Netherlands and the United Kingdom.

The programme provides nurse home visits to pregnant women with no previous live births, most of whom are low-income, unmarried and teenaged. The nurses visit the women approximately once a month during their pregnancy and the first 2 years of their children's lives. The nurses teach positive health-related behaviours, competent care of children, and maternal personal development (family planning, educational achievement, and participation in the workforce). For a programme beginning in the last trimester of pregnancy and ending 2 years after birth, the costs are approximately US\$ 12 500 per woman.

The Nurse-Family Partnership has been evaluated in three randomized controlled trials, each carried out in a different population and setting. Examples of effects include reductions of 20–50% in child maltreatment and injuries; reductions of 10–20% in mothers' subsequent births during their late teens and early twenties; and improvements in cognitive and educational outcomes for the children of mothers with low intelligence, and/or poor mental health (55).

Parenting programmes

Parenting programmes aim to increase parental skills and knowledge of child development, improve parent-child relationships and strengthen parents' ability to cope with children's behavioural demands in ways that are positive and socially beneficial. Their goals include reducing behavioural problems in children, such as aggression and oppositional behaviour (87), and addressing core aspects of parent-child relationships, making them likely to be highly relevant in all settings. While most parenting programmes target parents with infants and toddlers, several address school-age children and adolescents.

SUMMARY

Effects on child conduct problems and youth delinquency have been evaluated
Parenting programmes reduce delinquency, behaviour problems and other risk factors for youth violence
There is evidence from various settings including some low-resource settings
Most reflect strong research designs

Relevance for youth violence prevention

Parenting programmes can help reduce child maltreatment and children's behavioural problems. Child maltreatment is a risk factor for involvement in youth violence later in life, and for the development of risk behaviours (e.g. alcohol and drug abuse) that increase the likelihood of such violence (*55, 56*). Children who display behavioural problems and those with persisting aggressive and oppositional behaviours are at increased risk of becoming involved in youth violence during adolescence and early adulthood (*88*).

While programmes for parenting younger children focus on educating parents about child development and supporting their children in achieving developmental tasks, parenting programmes for older children and adolescents focus on strengthening parents' ability to assist children in regulating their own behaviour.

The evidence

Evidence from high-income countries suggests that programmes targeting parents of infants and toddlers are promising in preventing child maltreatment (55). Only a small number of parenting programmes have assessed the long-term effects of these programmes on adolescent delinquency, antisocial behaviours, and risk of arrest and imprisonment (89).

Parenting programmes have also been shown to significantly reduce child conduct problems in older children, whether assessed by parents or independently (90). One systematic review of 46 studies that examined the impact of parenting programmes on youth behaviour found that they reduced delinquency, conduct problems and other risk factors for youth violence such as substance abuse (91). Another systematic review (92) has shown that parenting programmes for older children aged 8–17 years led to reductions in youth delinquency, conduct problems, arrests and time spent in institutions.

Some reviews have aimed to identify the effective elements of parenting programmes, and have found these to include modelling positive parent-child interactions and emotional communication skills; teaching parents to use 'time out' and parenting consistency, and requiring parents to practice new skills with their children during the parent training session (93).

Emerging evidence suggests that parenting programmes can also be effective in developing countries. A review of 12 studies from nine such countries (85) reveals promising results for strategies involving a range of parenting measures. Findings from the two largest and highest quality trials included in this review suggest parenting interventions may be feasible and effective in improving parent-child interaction and parental knowledge in relation to child development in developing countries.

Implementing parenting programmes

Parenting programmes are usually delivered by social workers, mental health specialists or trained lay workers mostly as a group intervention, but sometimes also to individual families where more intensive support is required. Most parenting programmes are short-term interventions delivered once a week for up to 3 months. Many parenting programmes consist of different components, some of which are targeted at all parents and others that are focused on subgroups of parents with higher support needs.

Feasibility and acceptability

While there will be important direct outcomes on overall child development in the early stages of parenting programmes (such as better parent-child relationships and child development outcomes), there is a 5–10 year lag between when parenting programmes are delivered and when their benefits for youth violence prevention can be expected (in adolescence and young adulthood). It is therefore important to emphasize the short-term benefits of parenting programmes (e.g. on maternal health and children's emotional and intellectual development). Where existing parenting programmes are being implemented with aims other than youth violence prevention, youth violence prevention may be integrated as a longer-term objective.

Costs

Parenting programmes involve training costs, staff costs and managerial and administrative support costs. The largest costs are usually for training and supervision of staff. Recurring costs include training materials, information leaflets and additional items such as catering and child care during the parent-training interventions.

Annual costs vary by type of programme and delivery mechanism, and whether a programme targets high-risk parents only, or all parents in a community. Depending on the type of programme and on the intensity of its use, programme costs vary between US\$ 200 and US\$ 1200 per family per year in the United States (94).

Parenting programmes in Burundi and South Africa

A brief parenting intervention to improve the behaviour and mental health of children aged 12 years was carried out in Burundi (95). The intervention consisted of two psycho-education sessions of between 2.5–3 hours each for groups of 20 parents. The first session focused on raising awareness about child psychosocial and mental health problems, and the second on parental problem-management strategies – in particular how to avoid the use of harsh physical punishment. The groups were conducted by two lay community counsellors trained for a period of 3 months. Evaluation of the intervention showed it reduced behaviour problems, as measured by a self-rating scale, especially among boys. Parents evaluated the intervention positively.

In South Africa, the Parenting for Lifelong Health (PLH) programme is a project that aims to develop, test and widely disseminate a suite of parenting programmes for low-resource settings that is affordable, not-for-profit, and based on rigorous evidence. This suite of programmes aims to prevent child maltreatment and subsequent involvement in other forms of violence such as youth and intimate partner violence. PLH components include group-based problem solving exercises; coaching in non-violent discipline and the use of "time out" as a disciplinary measure, and the practicing of parenting skills. The programme's core aims for parents include increasing positive and reducing harsh parenting practices; improving parental supervision of children; increasing the use of effective, non-punitive discipline; and decreasing stress and improving mental health. For children, PLH aims to reduce child behaviour problems and reduce the risk of child maltreatment (96).

The effectiveness of PLH is currently being evaluated through randomized controlled trials in several severely impoverished South African communities characterized by high levels of family and youth violence, alcohol and substance abuse, and HIV/AIDS. Initial results from early pilot studies aimed at establishing the programme's acceptability found high levels of parental engagement and low dropout rates, and promising signs that it was leading to parents adopting positive, non-punitive disciplinary practices (96).

Early childhood development programmes

Multicomponent early childhood programmes target vulnerable families (e.g. those with teenage mothers or parents with low incomes), and are typically delivered in the community (e.g. at health centres, schools or neighbourhood centres). They usually include the provision of family support, pre-school education, child-care and health services, and target risk factors for youth violence in the early childhood period from birth until around 5 years of age. These risk factors include early disruptive and aggressive behaviour; impaired cognitive and social-emotional skills; lack of social support, and inadequate parenting (97, 98).

SUMMARY

- Effects on youth violence and arrests for violent crime have been evaluated
- Early childhood development programmes clearly prevent youth violence and arrests for violent crime
- There is evidence for high-income countries only
- Most reflect strong research designs

Relevance for youth violence prevention

Disruptive and antisocial behaviour often starts early and can predict serious delinquent and violent behaviour during childhood, adolescence and early adulthood. Early childhood development programmes aim to address behavioural problems and aggression early, enhancing positive parent-child relationships, and attempting to increase potential protective behaviours such as academic achievement and child development. They also aim to address risks for later social and emotional behaviour problems by offering support to parents and a stimulating environment. In addition, high-quality child care often has other positive outcomes on cognitive and language development and academic achievement, which are protective factors for youth violence (99).

The evidence

Evaluations of multicomponent early childhood interventions show reductions of 13% in subsequent youth violence and arrests for violent crimes (100). Most evidence comes from a few well-researched programmes in the United States, such as the High Scope/Perry Pre-School programme; the Chicago Child Parent Center Programme; Head Start and Early Head Start, and the Abecedarian programme. Such programmes have also proven effective in strengthening factors that protect against youth violence, such as cognitive skills and academic achievement, with low to moderate effect. The effect of centre-based interventions seems to be larger when parent interventions are an integral part of the programme and/or if the programme is administered to at-risk children and families. Research also shows that programmes which combine group and individual work are more effective than programmes with only one of these elements (82).

Multicomponent early childhood development programmes are implemented in several low- and middle-income countries, including Bangladesh, Brazil, Jamaica, Kenya and Mauritius, and several countries in central Asia. Outcome evaluations from low- and middle-income countries are, however, limited (85, 97, 101).

Feasibility and acceptability

The importance of early childhood development is widely acknowledged in development policies and programmes (105) which increasingly focus on early childhood development and provide useful entry points for the introduction of violence prevention components. There are also other positive outcomes such as academic attainment and involvement in productive activities associated with early childhood

Strengthening early childhood development in central Asia

Families and Schools Together (FAST) is an after-school, multi-family group programme offered for 8 weeks to all children within the same grade, and their families. The intervention brings together family, home, school and community to increase child well-being by strengthening relationships and factors that protect against stress. Under the programme, the whole family comes to the school building after school hours to take part in family activities and share a family meal. Up to 80 families are divided into 10-family groups; each group is then assigned a classroom. The groups are led by trained teams of local parents, older children at the school, school staff and professionals specializing in mental health or treatment for substance abuse. The head teacher and other teachers encourage all families to participate in at least one group session. The programme provides families whose children are new to the school with the opportunity to meet the families of their children's classmates and to provide extra support to their children. The programme goals are to:

- strengthen the family and the parent-child bond;
- increase the child's success at school;
- reduce drug and alcohol abuse in the family;
- reduce family stress and social isolation (102).

As part of its global initiative to enhance family skills as a means of reducing drug abuse among young people, the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime has implemented FAST at nine primary schools in Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan (103, 104). The effects of the programme in these schools were evaluated using pre- and post-programme data collected from parents and teachers on child mental health, family functioning and parental involvement in school. Parents reported a 21% increase in family cohesion; a 52% decrease in family conflict; a 27% increase in the strength and quality of the parent-child bond; a 44% increase in child pro-social behaviour; and 7% decreases in both child conduct problems and hyperactivity. The programme was also found to have increased parental involvement in school, as assessed by teachers (104).

development programmes. Multicomponent early childhood development programmes seem to be widely accepted by participants of such programmes. When applied to high-risk subgroups, care must be taken to avoid stigmatizing selected beneficiaries.

Implementing early childhood development programmes

Programmes often consist of stimulating centre-based child care activities and parent trainings. Typical components include activities to enrich learning; life, social and cognitive skills training; and health care interventions. In high-income countries, these programmes are often implemented through existing structures such as child care facilities or community centres. Programmes are mostly implemented by educators or teachers with a qualification in early childhood development. The ratio of staff to children is usually very low and programme length varies, though is usually 3 to 5 months. Some programmes, however, accompany children over several years.

Costs

Economic analyses of several multicomponent early childhood interventions show that effective programmes can produce substantial savings. Cost-benefit ratios do, however, depend on the length of follow-up, and range from 6:1 to 12:1 (98, 106, 107). However, these cost-benefit ratios occur in societies where considerable resources are invested in addressing the long-term consequences of suboptimal early child development (e.g. alcohol and substance abuse, violence, mental health problems). In societies where such services are lacking, the costs averted by such programmes will be lower, even where they help reduce such problems.

Pre-school intervention targeting teachers in Jamaica

Three quarters of all pre-school-age children in Jamaica attend community pre-schools that are mostly staffed by those without formal teacher training. The schools are often in poor physical condition, and teaching materials are supplied by parents. In an effort to prevent child mental health problems within this pre-school population, the Incredible Years Teacher Training Programme was adapted to the local context and focused on strengthening teachers' classroom management strategies, promoting children's pro-social behaviour, and reducing children's aggression in the classroom. Twenty-four community pre-schools in inner city areas of Kingston were randomly assigned to receive the Incredible Years Teacher Training intervention, or to be part of a control group. Three children from each class with the highest levels of teacher-reported conduct problems were selected for evaluation (225 children in total). Children in the intervention schools showed significantly fewer conduct problems, fewer teacher- and parent-reported behaviour difficulties, and increased school attendance (*108*).

School-based academic and social skills development strategies

Life and social skills development

Life and social skills are defined as "the abilities for adaptive and positive behaviour that enable individuals to deal effectively with the demands and challenges of everyday life" (109). WHO lists 10 core life skills. These are problem solving, critical thinking, effective communication, decision-making, creative thinking, interpersonal relationship skills, self-awareness building, empathy, and coping with stress and emotions. Life and social skills development programmes help young people increase their self-awareness and more accurately read and regulate their emotions. They also help young people establish and maintain positive relationships, and take the perspective of – and empathize with – others. Programmes to develop such skills aim to enable young people to deal constructively with daily life demands and with stressors and interpersonal conflicts.

SUMMARY

- Effects on aggressive and disruptive behaviour, violence and social skills have been evaluated
- Life and social skills development reduces aggressive behaviour and violence among primary and secondary school students
- There is some low- and middle-income country evidence
- Most reflect strong research designs

Relevance for youth violence prevention

Life and social skills are critical to success in school and work, which is protective against youth violence. Several risk factors for youth violence (e.g. alcohol and drug use, and dropping out of school) are related to a lack of social and emotional skills, and poor self-awareness. Life skills training programmes are designed to overcome such deficits and increase social and emotional competencies. Many life skills programmes are directly aimed at increasing the ability of children and youth to deal effectively and non-violently with interpersonal conflicts. Some life skills programmes target all children attending school, while others focus on children already showing aggressive behaviour.

The evidence

One meta-analysis of school-based programmes to reduce aggressive behaviour found sizeable effects on aggressive behaviour in programmes targeting all students, and in programmes that focused only on students at higher risk of violence (110). It concluded that all programmes, whether focused on cognitive

skills, social skills or behaviour change produced similar effects. A systematic review of universal schoolbased programmes found a 15% reduction in violent behaviour in students across all school years, and a 29% reduction in violence among students in secondary school (111). A narrative review (112) of 54 mainly Latin American studies published in Spanish reached similar conclusions. One systematic review to identify school-based secondary prevention programmes targeting young people who had previously shown aggression or were identified as being at risk of aggressive behaviour found that interventions addressing relationship and social skills reduced aggressive behaviour significantly (113).

Implementing school-based life and social skills development programmes

Successful implementation of life and social skills development requires school systems that are running well and have effective school oversight and management mechanisms in place. Life and social skills training programmes are usually delivered over several years, and can involve 20–150 classroom-based sessions. Many programmes include age-specific modules, ranging from those for pre-school and kindergarten age children, through primary school and up to secondary school age. Key components of life skills programmes include cognition and skills training that help young people understand and manage anger and other emotions, show empathy for others and establish relationships. Programmes are either integrated into the school curriculum and the training carried out by teachers, or are administered by external staff such as social workers.

Feasibility and acceptability

Life and social skills programmes seem to be widely accepted by children and youth. Raising awareness about the importance of these programmes and their immediate and long-term benefits can be helpful in garnering the support of decision-makers. The wide range of secondary positive outcomes of life skills training programmes – such as better school performance, job preparedness, and reductions in the use of illicit drugs, alcohol, and tobacco – should also be highlighted when advocating for such programmes.

Costs and cost-effectiveness

Costs mainly relate to implementation – conducting teacher training workshops; providing technical assistance to teachers and coordinators throughout the project; and developing training and curriculum materials. Implementation costs for the administration of universal life and social skills trainings administered in schools in the United States range from US\$ 35 per student per year for the Lifeskills Training programme, through to US\$ 350-600 per classroom for the Promoting Alternative Thinking Strategies programme; and US\$ 390-460 per classroom for the Positive Action programme. Cost-benefit analyses of these programmes suggest a cost-benefit ratio of 25:1, taking into account both violence prevention and other outcomes such as reduced drug use (*114*).

Life skills development in Colombia

The Aulas en Paz programme is a school-based life skills development programme implemented in 27 schools in Colombia. It consists of three main components. The first is a teaching component in which life skills, empathy, anger control and active listening skills are learned and practiced by children. The second addresses parents and caregivers, who are invited to participate in four workshops annually, focusing on youth development and conflict management. In addition, parents of children and youths who have previously been involved in aggressive behaviour receive four home visits per year and a weekly phone call. The third component involves bringing students with aggressive behaviour together with students showing pro-social behaviour, and encouraging them to observe and model the pro-social behaviour of their non-aggressive peers. The programme is delivered in 40 sessions of 45 minutes each over 1 year. A pre- and post-test evaluation of the programme suggested that it led to fewer aggressive interactions, and increased pro-social behaviour (*115*).

Bullying prevention

Bullying is any unwanted aggressive behaviour by another youth or group of youths who are not siblings or current dating partners, where there is an observed or perceived power imbalance, and where the behaviour is repeated or highly likely to be repeated multiple times. Bullying may inflict harm or distress on the targeted youth including physical, psychological, social, or educational harm (116).

SUMMARY

Effects on bullying perpetration and victimization have been evaluated
 Bullying prevention interventions reduce perpetration and victimization
There is evidence from various high-income countries
Most reflect strong research designs

Relevance for youth violence prevention

Bullying is a form of youth violence, and a risk factor for other forms of youth violence, including severe assault (22). Bullying can involve physical violence, emotional violence, and damage to property (117).

The evidence

A recent systematic review (117) concluded that half of the 22 programmes it covered led to significant reductions in bullying perpetration, and 67% to significantly reduced victimization. A further study found that on average, bullying prevention programmes prevented perpetration by 20–23% and victimization by 17–20% (118). This study also attempted to identify the ingredients of successful antibullying programmes, which they listed as parent and teacher training, strict, school-wide rules against bullying, and the use of instructional videos.

Implementing bullying prevention programmes

Most bullying prevention programmes begin with a baseline assessment of levels and patterns of bullying to inform programme design and against which to monitor effects. Many programmes include training for all school staff and parents on how to deal effectively with bullying, and training for teachers on how to deliver the programme and on how to manage relationships and behaviours in the classroom. Teachers learn to instruct students about what bullying is; how to recognize it; what to do in cases of bullying; effective relationship skills, and skills for bystanders. Bullying prevention messages are often integrated into normal classroom lessons on standard subjects, although many programmes also engage more specialized staff (e.g. school social workers) to deal directly with students involved in bullying as victims and/or perpetrators. Most programmes also include the establishment of school policies and procedures around bullying (118-120).

Feasibility and acceptability

Bullying prevention programmes seem to be widely accepted by children and youth. While involving the parents of both victims and perpetrators appears to be an important factor in programme success, it carries with it the risks that victims might feel ashamed and stigmatized, and perpetrators may be subject to harsh punishment by their parents. Parental involvement, however, has been shown to be one of the key success factors for bullying prevention programmes. Bullying prevention programmes require strong commitment on the part of school administrators and teachers responsible for supervising students and implementing rules against bullying.

Costs

Implementation costs for anti-bullying programmes include the costs of training school administrators and teachers, and their work time, which accumulates to roughly 20–40 minutes per week. For example,

the Olweus Bullying Prevention Programme costs approximately US\$ 25 per student per year, in a middle-sized school (94).

Bullying prevention in Spain

The Proyecto Sevilla Antiviolencia Escolar is a bullying prevention programme implemented in 29 different locations in Spain. The programme involves designating a staff focal point for violence prevention, the revision of curriculum content, sessions to train all students in social and relationship skills and to develop empathy, and intensive interventions for students directly involved in bullying. Evaluation of the programme in a randomized controlled trial with over 4900 students found that it reduced the prevalence of bullying victimization from 25% to 15% (121).

Academic enrichment programmes

Academic enrichment programmes are directed at children with low academic performance, and aim to improve their academic achievement and school motivation by supporting their studies and providing structured activities outside normal school hours, or target young people at risk of dropping out of school or who have already dropped out, and help them complete their secondary education.

SUMMARY

.

Effects on school achievement and academic impact have been evaluated
Academic enrichment programmes increase literacy, numeracy and educational achievement, and improve social adjustment
There is some low- and middle income country evidence
Most reflect strong research designs

Relevance for youth violence prevention

Low academic achievement and truancy are risk factors for violence. The number of years that somebody attended school is an important predictor of the likelihood that they will find employment, and both factors are protective against youth violence. Programmes that improve children's academic performance and school attendance may, therefore, have the potential to reduce involvement in violence (88). Studies in Brazil, Chile, Honduras, Mexico and the United States have found that increasing students' sense of connection to school decreases absenteeism, fighting, bullying and vandalism (122). However, while academic enrichment programmes may help to reduce some of the risk factors for youth violence, they are of limited value in contexts where overall levels of access to and quality of education are low, and where there are marked educational inequalities between groups (e.g. between boys and girls).

The evidence

While a number of studies have shown that academic enrichment can increase academic achievement and school attendance, few studies have examined the effect of academic enrichment on direct violence-related outcomes such as violent victimization, violent perpetration, bullying or injuries. Most studies have instead measured the impact on risk factors such as academic achievement and educational attainment. For example, there is some evidence that such programmes lead to literacy and numeracy gains and improved social adjustment, which in turn can protect against youth violence (123). There appear to be no harms associated with academic enrichment programmes, and positive side-effects beyond potential reductions in violence include increased self-esteem, improved bonding to school, positive social behaviours, and academic achievement.

Implementation of academic enrichment programmes

Academic enrichment programmes implemented at pre-school age aim to address and reduce preexisting inequalities in education between children. When targeted at older children and youth, such programmes are delivered as after-school lessons or private tutoring sessions to help young people keep up with school requirements and prevent them dropping out of school. Some programmes, such as Telesecundaria in Mexico, are delivered via television.

Feasibility and acceptability

Increasing academic skills is a strategy highly accepted by policy-makers. Relatively small percentages of dropouts, for example, 25% of children from Mexico's Telesecundaria programme and 7% of children from Indonesia's Open Junior Secondary Schools Programme, suggest they are also acceptable to children (*124, 125*).

Costs

There are very limited data on the costs of academic enrichment programmes. A cost-benefit analysis of the LA's Better Educated Students for Tomorrow (LA's BEST) programme in the United States found in a cost-benefit analysis that for each US dollar invested in the programme the average saving was US\$ 2.50 (126).

Radio-based academic enrichment in Zanzibar

Zanzibar's Radio Instruction to Strengthen Education is an example of a successful academic enrichment project targeting underserved populations. The project is a partnership between Zanzibar's Ministry of Education and the Vocational Training and Education Development Centre to develop and pilot several models of early childhood education service delivery for children in the most underserved areas. It is administered via public radio and aims to teach language, mathematics and life skills. It has currently only been evaluated for its education gains, so it is important to raise awareness that such programmes could have preventive effects on youth violence and to evaluate whether this is in fact the case (*127*).

Dating violence prevention programmes

Dating violence is physical, sexual and psychological/emotional violence within a dating relationship. Dating violence prevention programmes help youth to develop understanding and skills to maintain healthy, non-violent relationships, positive strategies for dealing with pressures, and the resolution of conflict without violence. Interventions are typically implemented in schools for those aged 12–16 years.

SUMMARY

Effects on self-reported physical, sexual and emotional dating violence perpetration and victimization have been evaluated
Effectiveness of dating violence prevention programmes is uncertain – multiple systematic reviews reach conflicting conclusions
There is evidence from very few high-income countries only
 Mostly strong research designs

Relevance for youth violence prevention

Dating violence is an early form of intimate partner violence that occurs among teenagers and young adults. There is strong evidence that young people exposed to violence in early relationships are at higher risk of becoming victims and perpetrators of intimate partner violence later in life. As there are cultural differences in dating practices, programmes to prevent dating violence may be of high cultural specificity and relevant only to settings where adolescent and young adult dating is widely practiced.

The evidence

A meta-analysis of programmes to prevent dating violence (128) found mixed effects of dating violence prevention programmes on self-reported dating violence when results were pooled across studies. Another systematic review (129) found that half of the programmes it covered were effective in reducing self-reported perpetration of dating violence, while the other half showed no effect in reducing physical, sexual or emotional dating violence. In addition, many evaluations have examined programme effects on knowledge and attitudes only. Most evidence comes from high-income countries, in particular Canada and the United States, with one study from the Republic of Korea. Some outcome evaluations in low- and middle-income countries have been conducted or are underway (e.g., (130).

Implementing dating violence prevention programmes

Most dating violence prevention programmes are implemented in a classroom setting with boys and girls, although sometimes boys and girls are taught separately. The programmes are often integrated into the standard teaching curriculum, and usually consist of 30–40 hours of training spread over the course of 1 school year. However, they can also be delivered as part of supervised after-school activities, such as sports and hobbies. There is usually a component to inform and involve the parents of adolescents participating in the programme, for example through leaflets or an information evening. Dating violence prevention programmes involve role play, hand-outs, games, discussions, posters and theatre productions; content areas include defining the characteristics of caring and abusive relationships; how to develop a support structure of friends who can help eachother; communication skills; and where and how to seek help in case of sexual assault.

Feasibility and acceptability

Although dating is a widespread practice in most cultures, it is not socially accepted everywhere and is particularly taboo in societies where young people marry early and extra-marital relationships are considered unacceptable. Parents of prospective programme participants might object to a programme addressing dating violence if they perceive it as encouraging youth to engage in early sexual relationships.

Dating violence prevention programmes are readily integrated into existing educational programmes such as school-based life skills programmes or sexual and reproductive health education, and are delivered in schools or health care settings or during leisure time activities for young people.

Costs

Resources are required for the adaptation and translation of programme curricula, for information brochures or sessions to inform and obtain consent from parents, and for the training of teachers or other staff to conduct the programme. In Canada, the cost of delivering the Fourth R programme was estimated at approximately US\$ 16 per student (131).

Dating violence prevention in South Africa and the Republic of Tanzania

The main purpose of the Promoting Sexual and Reproductive Health among Adolescents in Southern and Eastern Africa programme is to develop new and innovative school-based programmes for the promotion of healthy sexual practices among adolescents aged 12–14 years. Key goals of the project are the prevention of sexually transmitted infections and adolescent intimate partner violence. Based on a formative study among adolescents and on current research evidence, the project designed, adapted and implemented programmes for the promotion of healthy sexual behaviour among adolescents to be tested at schools in Cape Town and Dar es Salaam. The intervention programme was set up to allow evaluation of the intervention through a combination of quantitative and qualitative approaches. Further information is available at http://prepare.b.uib.no/ (130).

Financial incentives for adolescents to attend school

This strategy comprises interventions including offering financial incentives to encourage increased school attendance through mechanisms such as conditional cash transfers, school vouchers, grants, school supplies and free public transport to school.

SUMMARY

Effects on school attendance have been evaluated
Financial incentives for adolescents to attend school possibly increase school attendance
There is some evidence from low-resource settings
Some reflect strong research designs

Relevance

School dropout, low levels of education and later unemployment are risk factors for youth violence, while school attendance and higher levels of education are protective factors. School connectedness and bonding to school is often negatively linked to violence (132). It is assumed that providing incentives to remain in school can help to convince young people to do so.

The evidence

There appear to be no studies that evaluate whether conditional cash transfers or other incentive programmes to ensure young people remain in school have an impact on levels of youth violence (133, 134). However, the effects of financial incentives and education grants on school enrolment (a protective factor for youth violence) (135, 136), have been evaluated. The Mexican programme Oportunidades provides grants to families on condition that adolescents attend school, and led to an 8% increase in enrolment rates in secondary school (137). Results from the Brazilian programme Bolsa Escola have shown a reduction in school dropout rates (138).

Implementing cash transfer programmes and financial incentives for adolescents to attend school

Large-scale cash transfer programmes with a primary or secondary aim to encourage young people to remain in secondary schools are implemented in several Latin American countries, as well as in Turkey and in the United States, among other countries. In these programmes, cash is usually granted on a per-student or per-family basis and is tied to school attendance for at least 80% of the school day. The cash grants generally cover direct costs such as school fees and supplies, and the opportunity costs for families when they lose income as a result of sending their children to school. For example, the Bolsa Escola programme was established in Brazil with the goal of keeping children in school and preventing them from working. Families were paid R\$15 for every 2 months that they ensured their child was in school (*139*).

Feasibility and acceptability

Acceptance of conditional cash transfers and financial incentives appears to be high in many settings. Conditional cash transfer programmes often enable poorer populations to engage in healthier behaviour or access to essential social services. Some conditional cash transfer programmes and financial incentives may encourage high-risk behaviour to increase eligibility for the conditional cash transfer. It has also been argued that conditional cash transfers can create a dependency culture, that private income might be shifted to less healthy options, and that they may open opportunities for corruption (140).

Costs

Costs are variable, depending on the context. In general, the incentive value of the conditional cash transfer should be less than a young person's potential earnings, but should increase with age to take into account the increased opportunity costs to families of sending older children to school, and the greater availability of lucrative but risky alternatives to attending school, such as involvement in drug trading. The Bolsa Familia programme in Brazil, which includes a range of measures in addition to financial incentives to education, cost about 0.5 % of GDP (*141*).

•••••••

Incentives for youth to complete schooling in Mexico

Oportunidades is Mexico's principal poverty alleviation programme. The programme provides financial grants to families to improve their situation in terms of health, nutrition and education, including educational grants for children under the age of 22 years to complete school. Evaluations of the programme have shown that it has had a positive impact on school enrolment of youths, total years of schooling, dropout rates and the probability of finding employment. It was also found to reduce alcohol consumption, smoking and high-risk sexual behaviour, and had mixed results in respect of intimate partner violence. The evaluation did not include any outcome measures of youth violence. The programme, which began in 1997 in poor rural areas, has subsequently been scaled-up to cover urban areas, and now reaches an estimated four million families (137).

Peer mediation

Peer mediation refers to the formal engagement of peers in tackling conflicts and violence among young people. Trained students help their peers to cooperate in resolving everyday disputes. Participation in peer mediation is usually voluntary. The peer mediation process is confidential, and adults and teachers are usually not involved, with the exception of the exchange of information concerning issues that might be life-threatening or illegal (142).

SUMMARY

- Effects of peer mediation on conflict mediation and negotiation skills, and on bullying and fighting have been evaluated
- The effectiveness of peer mediation is uncertain multiple systematic reviews reach conflicting conclusions, and some suggest harmful effects
- There is high-income country evidence only
- Most reflect weak research designs

Relevance

Conflicts among students occur frequently in school settings, although most of them do not lead to serious injuries. Peer mediation approaches try to teach students constructive, pro-social ways of resolving interpersonal conflicts, and assume that during childhood and adolescence attitudes and

behaviour are strongly shaped by the peer group. Peer mediation approaches are a widely implemented strategy for youth violence prevention.

The evidence

Peer mediation programmes may be effective in teaching selected students mediation and negotiation strategies, and one systematic review found that peer mediation programmes reduced school disciplinary actions related to violence (143). However, other systematic reviews of school-based programmes to reduce bullying and victimization concluded that peer mediation components are not effective and may even be associated with increased victimization (142, 144). While some programmes reported positive effects for peer mediators, others noted that the programmes can put mediators at increased risk for retaliatory violence. Overall, the findings are inconclusive. Peer mediation approaches are mostly applied and evaluated in settings with moderate incidents of aggression and violence, and conclusions cannot be drawn as to their value in settings with more severe violence or in settings where additional risk factors such as drugs and alcohol are involved.

Implementation of peer mediation programmes

Peer mediation programmes are typically implemented in schools. Peer mediators are usually nominated by the class and often a gender-balanced mediation team is chosen. The selected peer mediators receive 20–25 hours of training on how to recognize and mitigate conflicts, their roles and responsibilities, and how to seek help if they are unable to deal with a conflict on their own. In many programmes, training in conflict resolution skills for all students is integrated into the general school curriculum. Peer mediation programmes are implemented in various low- and middle-income countries.

Feasibility and acceptability

Peer mediation approaches are primarily suitable for day-to-day conflicts, and cannot replace more intensive interventions in instances of serious problem behaviours. In settings characterized by high levels of violence, peer mediation approaches may even put mediators at risk. Due to the low cost of implementation and modest staffing requirements, these programmes are appealing to policy-makers from the educational sector and school officials. Implementation of a peer mediation programme requires acceptance by teachers implementing the programme, school administrators, parents of participating students, and the students themselves. However, parents, teachers and students might question whether the responsibility to maintain a functioning and peaceful school setting should be delegated to the students themselves.

Costs

Initial and ongoing costs of peer mediation programmes include a coordinator and/or trainer to train peer mediators, training, substitutes for teachers participating in training, and other expenses such as training materials. Funding is often obtained from school system budgets (e.g. funds for teacher development). Costs of the Peers Making Peace programme in the United States ranged from US\$ 2575 to US\$ 4075 per school in the first year. Ongoing booster training sessions cost on average US\$ 1500 per school for each additional year (145).

Peer mediation in the United States

Peers Making Peace is a school-based peer mediation programme for students from elementary through secondary school. Adult programme facilitators such as teachers, counsellors or school nurses attend a 3-day training course where they learn to train a student mediation team of 15–24 students who have been selected as peer mediators. Student mediators then receive training from the facilitator three times during the school year, and each training session lasts 3–5 hours. During the training, students learn how to serve as role models, and provide mediation for peers who may lack the skills to successfully resolve their own conflicts without the use of violence. Two randomized controlled trials of the programme found that the number of discipline referrals, the number of physical fights, and the number of absences decreased in school districts where the programme was applied. Perceptions of safety, self-efficacy and self-esteem increased in the intervention groups (*145*).

After-school and other structured leisure time activities

After-school and other structured, extracurricular leisure time activities provide opportunities for youths to interact with their peers and learn skills. Participation in these activities – which usually take place in the afternoon following school, or at summer camps during school vacation – are voluntary. There are big variations between these programmes in the type of activities promoted, the duration, the target groups, and the qualification of supervisors.

SUMMARY

- Effects on school dropout rates, adolescent delinquency, and juvenile crime have been evaluated
- Some strategies that included social skills training have reduced delinquency and risk factors such as alcohol and drug consumption and school dropout
- There is some low- and middle-income country evidence
- Most reflect weak research designs

Relevance

Structured leisure time and after-school activities are assumed to reduce risk factors for youth violence in three ways. First, they provide children with supervision during critical times of the day. Research has shown that some forms of youth violence peak in the afternoon, when young people are often not supervised. Second, school-based activities in particular are assumed to increase attachment to school. Bonding and attachment to school is another protective factor for youth violence. Third, these programmes can provide young people with skills needed to avoid violent behaviours. Often, structured leisure time activities include training components on life and social skills.

The evidence

A meta-analysis of after-school programmes in the United States found that participants demonstrated significant increases in protective factors such as bonding to school, positive social behaviours and levels of academic achievement, and significant reductions in problem behaviours. Programmes that included components of academic and social skill development demonstrated greater preventive effects than those without these components (146).

Some studies not included in the meta-analysis cited above specifically measured levels of violence as an outcome of structured leisure time activities. One longitudinal study found a reduction in adolescent delinquency and violent behaviour in a 4-year follow-up (147), and several evaluations of the LA's BEST programme show that students who participated in the programme are 30% less likely to commit juvenile crime (126). However, some evaluations found structured leisure time and after-school

activities had negative effects. After-school programmes are frequently targeted at youths from poor socio-economic backgrounds or youths with behavioural problems, and several studies have noted that bringing together high-risk youths may have adverse effects (144).

Implementing after-school and structured leisure time activities

Structured leisure time activities are implemented in a group setting or as one-to-one tutoring – the latter with a focus on academic skills development. Activities include cognitive and academic skills development, such as homework time, tutoring and computer activities; recreational activities such as arts and crafts, cooking, and sports; performing and visual arts, such as music, dance and theatre; health and nutrition; and community and parental involvement activities. These programmes are typically delivered in schools, community centres or sports facilities. Supervision is provided by teachers, parents, volunteers or social workers at schools.

Feasibility and acceptability

After-school and structured leisure-time activities tend to be widely accepted among policy-makers and participants alike, as they are easy to organize and usually associated with positive experiences. Barriers to participation include programme costs, specifically fees and transportation costs or costs for equipment. Some programmes fail to reach out to communities at particular risk of violence, and a lack of awareness of these programmes may reduce levels of participation on the part of youths at high risk of violence. A study on lessons learnt when implementing after-school activities and structured leisure time activities found that it is important that youths participating in such programmes are not labelled "at risk" and thereby stigmatized (148).

Efforts should be made to remove barriers to participation in structured leisure time and after-school activities, especially for youths from poorer socio-economic backgrounds and at risk of violence. These include free transport to the venue, participation in the activity at no cost, and possibly the provision of a snack or meal.

Costs and cost-effectiveness

Costs depend on the type of activity, the duration of the programme and the type and qualification of the staff administering the programme, but expenses usually involve materials for the activity, curriculum development, training of supervisors and supervisor time. There are few cost-effectiveness studies. Analysis of the LA's BEST programme estimated returns of US\$ 2.50 for each dollar spent on the programme. The average monthly student cost of UNESCO's Abrindo Espaços (Open Schools) Programme in Brazil was US\$ 12 to US\$ 24 per student per year (149).

After-school activities for youth in Brazil

The Abrindo Espaços (Open Schools) Programme was launched by UNESCO and the Brazilian Ministry of Education in 2004 as a public policy entitled Open School: Education, Culture, Sport, and Work for Youth Programme. The programme offers sports, cultural, arts and leisure activities, and initial vocational training for youth on weekends. The average monthly cost of the programme is US\$ 1 to US\$ 2 per student. Evaluations have shown that levels of violence registered in schools and their surroundings were lower for schools taking part in the programme. In São Paulo, the Open Schools Programme was implemented in 5306 schools between 2003 and 2006, and criminal acts were reduced by 46%. Research on the Open Schools Programme in Rio de Janeiro found that after 12 months, schools participating in the programme had levels of violence 31% lower than schools that had yet to join the programme, although it is unclear whether levels of violence in the two sets of schools were comparable prior to the intervention (*150*).

Strategies for young people at higher risk of, or already involved in, violence

Therapeutic approaches

Therapeutic approaches covered in this review include cognitive, behavioural, psychosocial or social interventions delivered to individuals who have been involved in aggressive or violent behaviour, or who are at risk of committing such behaviours. Such approaches are delivered on an individual or group basis and may involve the social environment of the young person, including their family. They are delivered by trained therapists or social workers, and sometimes by trained lay workers.

.....

SUMMARY

Effects on antisocial behaviour, violence,	and criminal re-offending have been evaluated
--	---

- Some therapeutic approaches (e.g. cognitive behavioural therapy) clearly reduce antisocial behaviour, violence, and criminal re-offending
- There is high-income country evidence only
- Most reflect strong research designs

Relevance for youth violence prevention

Some therapeutic approaches address multiple causes of violent behaviour across various systems in which a young person is embedded (e.g. family and peer relations, the school situation, and the community), and aim to address risk factors for the perpetration of violent or aggressive behaviour in these settings. Other therapeutic approaches focus on helping individuals deal with problems in a more constructive manner by better recognizing and modifying thinking patterns that led to negative actions in the past.

The evidence

One systematic review (151) focused on how therapeutic approaches – including psychological approaches and social and educational methods aimed at supporting pro-social behaviours – can reduce recidivism among young people who have been incarcerated for serious crime, including violent crime. The review included 30 studies with over 6600 arrested juvenile offenders in Canada, the United Kingdom and the United States. In this review, overall treatment reduced relapse into juvenile crime from 60% of those who had been arrested to 56%. Programmes that included cognitive therapy worked best. Programmes that focused only on education, academic skills or at behaviour change through positive role models were not as successful. A systematic review that focused only on cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) (152) found that this intervention reduced reoffending by 25% one year after the intervention.

A meta-analysis of CBT for children showing aggressive behaviour suggests that children who complete CBT show clinically significant reductions in aggressive and antisocial behaviours and conduct disorders (*153*). Other therapeutic approaches use cognitive behavioural methods and include the social environment of the young person with behavioural problems. Examples include Functional Family Therapy (FFT) and Multi-Systemic-Therapy (MST). A meta-analysis of FFT found small to medium effects on the recidivism among juvenile offenders of crime (*154*). A narrative review of MST (*94*) found that it reduced arrests and convictions, including for violent crime, by half. Several longitudinal studies have shown that positive effects were observed up to 21 years after the intervention.

Implementing therapeutic approaches for high-risk youths

Therapeutic programmes last on average 10–20 weeks. They can be delivered on their own or as a component of larger programmes, and most use standardized materials and therapeutic manuals. They

are usually delivered by mental health specialists or social workers with a therapeutic qualification. Most programmes also involve supervisors with further extensive training, who support the programme delivery staff.

The content of therapeutic approaches is usually adapted to the specific needs of the young person, although they generally combine social skills and behavioural training, anger- and self-control techniques, and cognitive elements such as moral reasoning and perspective-taking to better appreciate the negative impacts of violence on victims. Other interventions focus more strongly on targeting the entire family and social network of the young person at risk of violence.

Feasibility and acceptability

Policy-makers are often requested to respond to the needs of youth at high risk of violence and assist them in moving toward a more positive developmental path. Low dropout rates of therapeutic approaches in various national settings suggest that their acceptance is high (155). However, in countries with few mental health services and mental health professionals, such interventions are probably not feasible.

Costs

The lack of availability of low-cost therapeutic interventions is a major barrier to their uptake. Therapeutic approaches require highly trained and dedicated staff able to counsel youths and families on a regular basis. For instance, the costs of providing the Reasoning and Rehabilitation programme in the United Kingdom was estimated at £ 121 per adolescent with offending behaviour and £ 637 per adult offender (154).

An international reasoning and rehabilitation programme

The multicomponent, 20-country Reasoning and Rehabilitation programme targets youths at risk of violence and offenders with the aim of developing cognitive skills that will help them to make better behavioural choices. It consists of 36 2-hour sessions delivered twice to four times a week over the full course of the programme to groups of six to 12 participants. Activities include role-playing, thinking games, and learning exercises designed to enhance social skills, negotiation skills, management of emotions, creative thinking, values and critical reasoning (*156*). The programme was developed in Canada and has been replicated in about 20 countries, and evaluated in Finland, Germany, Iceland, Iran, Spain and the United Kingdom. A meta-analysis found that there was a 14% decrease in recidivism for programme participants. Not all studies included violence as an outcome, although a Canadian study which did include violence found that programme participants were 49% less likely to be readmitted following a new, violent offence (*157*).

Vocational training

Vocational training is frequently offered to disadvantaged youths to help them acquire technical, trade or supervisory knowledge and skills, and some programmes include advice on self-employment and micro-enterprise development.

SUMMARY

_						• •			
	Httorts on y	IOUITH UNDER	nlovmont	and violent	r and addr	acciva ha	havinire	havehe	en evaluated
	LIICCUS	youuruncin			L and aggr		naviouis		.cn cvaluateu

- Vocational training can increase youth employment a protective factor if training is well matched to current employment opportunities, but has not been clearly shown to reduce violent behaviour
- There is some low- and middle-income country evidence
- Most reflect strong research designs

Relevance for youth violence prevention

Young people who have difficulties in finding and keeping jobs are more prone to crime, violence and substance abuse. Youth employment is considered protective against youth violence. Vocational training programmes are implemented in many countries, mostly with the primary objective of reducing youth unemployment and poverty.

The evidence

Few studies have measured the impact of vocational training programmes on youth violence outcomes, and of the few programmes that have been evaluated, most have focused on youths at high risk of violence or already in contact with the criminal justice system. Higher-quality randomized studies found that vocational training does not reduce violent behaviour (158, 159), while lower-quality observational studies found small to medium effects (160). One systematic review found that targeted support services, including employment and job skills advice for young people in custodial care owing to their risk of violence, found mixed results on criminal arrests (161). More research is therefore needed to establish whether vocational training programmes can reduce youth violence.

Implementing vocational training programmes

Vocational training must be demand driven and there must be a match between vocational skills and market requirements. Vocational training will only have a meaningful impact on youth employment and violence prevention if delivered in the context of an integrated strategy for economic development and job creation. Accordingly, it is important to assess the capacity of training institutions, available technical equipment, existing cooperation with businesses and the existence of sustainable financing models when considering whether to implement vocational training programmes for youths at risk of violence.

Vocational training programmes are implemented in many countries, and examples from low- and middle-income countries include Samoa's Opportunity for Vulnerable Poor Youths programme, and the Philippines' Working Youth Center (*162*).

Feasibility and acceptability

Vocational training programmes enjoy high levels of acceptance, although dropout rates are often high, in particular among youth at higher risk of violence. If vocational training does not match the demand of the labour market, and is implemented without real opportunities for subsequent employment, it may lead to disillusionment and distrust of authority.

Costs

Costs of vocational training programmes are variable. During training, trainees must accept lower wages and bear opportunity costs such as foregone earnings as unskilled workers, and employers must pay wages and labour costs, and allocate experienced supervisors' time to the programme. In-house training courses require materials, special clothing, teacher salaries and administration costs. On the part of government, subsidies to training firms may need to be paid, or financial concessions to employers may be made to finance vocational training programmes. Chile has implemented various programmes to strengthen the vocational capacities of young people, and Chile Joven, a vocational training programme implemented over 11 years, has reached 165 000 participants at a cost of US\$ 107 million (US\$ 648 per person reached) (*163*).

Youth vocational training in Argentina, Chile and the Dominican Republic

Jóvenes is a programme that offers disadvantaged young people an opportunity to gain work experience, help in searching for jobs, counselling and life skills training. It was first implemented in Chile, and later expanded to Argentina and the Dominican Republic. Evaluations of these programmes have shown that participants had a greater chance of finding jobs and subsequently earned more compared to control groups. The employment rate increased from 10% to 26%, depending on the country and the age and gender of participants. In general, younger participants and females had higher chances of finding employment (*162*). The effects of these programmes on youth violence were not evaluated.

Mentoring

Mentoring refers to a partnership through which a more experienced person shares knowledge, skills, information and perspective to help a young person's positive development (164). While some mentoring programmes focus on a specific outcome, such as academic achievement or violence prevention, others aim at strengthening protective factors and reducing risk factors more broadly to facilitate overall healthy youth development.

SUMMARY

Effects on aggressive behaviour and delinquency have been evaluated	
The effectiveness of mentoring is uncertain – multiple systematic reviews reach conflicting conclusions, and some suggest harmful effects	••••
The evidence is from very few high-income countries only	
There are few strong research designs	

Relevance for youth violence prevention

Mentoring programmes target children and youth at risk of violence, dropping out of school, or developing other behavioural problems, and who lack guidance and support from positive role models in their surroundings. They assume that social learning processes occur in the relationship between a mentor and mentee, and that the mentor can provide support in handling day-to-day problems, and guidance on alternative ways of dealing with conflicts.

Effectiveness

No studies have assessed the effectiveness of mentoring programmes on severe youth violence. Metaanalytic and systematic reviews from the United States report modest positive effects on aggression and delinquency. There is however much variability across programmes, with some studies showing negative effects. Mentoring programmes depend largely on the mentor-mentee relationship, are not standardized, and interventions are often poorly described. Caution is therefore necessary when interpreting the results of the reviews (164). Some mentoring programmes have been shown to have effects on secondary risk factors for youth violence. For example, an evaluation of the Big Brothers, Big Sisters programme in the United States found that it reduced illicit drug initiation by 46% and alcohol initiation by 27%, and increased protective factors such as school attendance, improved relationships with parents, and commitment to engage in school tasks (165).

Implementing mentoring programmes

Implementation of mentoring programmes starts by identifying the target group. Mentoring programmes are usually targeted at youth engaged in, or thought to be at risk of, delinquent behaviour, school failure, violence or other antisocial behaviour. Once the participants have been identified, volunteer mentors are recruited. Success or failure of a mentoring programme strongly depends on the recruitment process and the quality of mentors. For the Big Brothers, Big Sisters programme, prospective mentors must submit references and undergo a background check and a recruitment interview (166). Mentors and mentees are usually of the same sex. In most programmes, mentors receive training, which typically includes information on the child and youth development, relationship building, problem solving and how to communicate with young people, but may also cover more specific topics such as how to manage alcohol and drug abuse.

Feasibility and acceptability

Mentoring programmes are usually voluntary and well accepted. However, programmes often rely on volunteer mentors, and therefore may be difficult to implement in low- and middle-income countries where paid employment is preferred. Programme acceptance on the part of policy-makers depends on the costs of the programme.

Costs

As the interventions included in specific programmes differ widely, generic costs for mentoring programmes are difficult to calculate. Some programmes work with volunteers and have administrative and communication costs only, while others employ agencies that are in charge of the entire programme administration. The Big Brothers Big Sisters programme in the United States costs on average US\$ 1312 per person mentored (*167*). The main costs arise during the recruitment and training of mentors, and in the process of matching mentors and mentees.

Big Brothers, Big Sisters mentoring programme

The Big Brothers, Big Sisters mentoring programme is currently implemented in 12 countries, among them Bermuda, Bulgaria, Israel and the Russian Federation, and several countries in western Europe and North America. The programme matches a volunteer adult mentor to a child, with the expectation that a caring and supportive relationship will develop. Once matches are made, they are monitored and supervised by a professional. Relationships between mentor and child are one-to-one, and involve meeting for 3 to 5 hours per week, over the course of a year or longer. Goals are set jointly with the child and parents at the beginning of the mentoring relationship and may relate to problem behaviours, school attendance, academic performance, relationships with other children or learning new skills. The case manager maintains regular contact with the mentor and the mentee to determine how the relationship is developing. The programme has been shown to reduce alcohol and drug use, physical violence, and absenteeism from school, and to improve the quality of relationships between children and their parents (*94*).

Gang and street violence prevention programmes

Gang violence is the intentional use of violence by a person or group of persons who are members of, or identify with, any long-lasting, street-orientated youth/armed group whose identity includes involvement in illegal activity. Gang violence prevention programmes try to prevent young people joining gangs in the first place, assist young people who are already in gangs to disengage, and/or suppress gang activities (*168–170*). Street violence prevention programmes focus on reducing street violence (shootings and killings), while not specifically attempting to address gang membership or suppress gang activity.

SUMMARY

- Effects have been evaluated in relation to youth crime by gang members; stopping youth from joining gangs; helping youth disengage from gangs; and on suppressing gang activity
- Insufficient evidence for effectiveness in stopping youth from joining gangs, on helping youth disengage from gangs and on suppressing gang activity
- Some evidence for gang enrolment prevention
- There is high-income country evidence only
- Most reflect weak research designs

Relevance for youth violence prevention

Risk factor research indicates that youth who join gangs are more likely to be involved in delinquency and serious violent offences than non-gang youth and non-gang delinquent youth (168). Gang violence has high political salience and occurs in all parts of the world to varying degrees.

Effectiveness

The content of gang and street violence prevention programmes varies widely, making evaluation difficult. While a few individual studies show positive outcomes for gang violence prevention, the evidence is far weaker when results are pooled across studies. A systematic review and meta-analysis of gang violence prevention efforts covering nine studies found that comprehensive interventions had a positive, but statistically insignificant effect in reducing crime outcomes (*170*). This review also suggested that comprehensive interventions, including personalized case management, community involvement in the planning and delivery of interventions, and the provision of incentives to gang members to change offending behaviour, may be more effective than programmes which do not combine these elements.

A second review (171) focused on strategies to prevent young people from entering gangs, help them leave gangs, and suppress violent gang activity. It concluded that programmes that applied comprehensive strategies and targeted children at an earlier age were more promising than those that consisted of a single prevention strategy, or which addressed just one risk factor.

A third systematic review (172) focused on cognitive-behavioural interventions for preventing youth gang involvement in children and young people aged 7–16 years and found no research matching the inclusion criteria. This review therefore recommended that evaluations of cognitive behavioural interventions for gang prevention be undertaken to fill this evidence gap.

Implementing gang and street violence prevention programmes

The implementation of gang and street violence prevention programmes largely depends on the nature of the gang activities and to what extent gang structures have been established. According to the context, a decision has to be made whether to focus on primary prevention of gang enrolment, on helping members to leave gangs, on suppressing gang activities, or a combination of all three. Most gang violence prevention programmes include mechanisms to ensure strong community engagement, in particular of community leaders, in order to convey a clear and consistent message that gang violence is unacceptable. Implementation may or may not involve collaboration with the police. Often gang violence prevention programmes add components of vocational training or personal development that help gang members find alternatives to violent offending.

Feasibility and acceptability

Measures addressing gang violence appear to be widely accepted by policy-makers and the public. There is however very little information available on whether such programmes are acceptable to gang members themselves, or to young people at risk of joining a gang. One study (173) surveyed 3348

youth in alternative schools and juvenile correctional facilities and boot camps, of whom 1994 admitted belonging to a gang, while another (*174*) sampled over 1000 at-risk gang youth. Both surveys were carried out in the United States, and 50% of participants said that job training and employment were the answer to the gang problem. In another study of some 200 gang-involved youth in Colorado, Florida and Ohio in the United States, many gang members said they would not give up selling drugs for a job that brought them less than US\$ 15 an hour, while 25% said they would do so for US\$ 6–7 an hour provided they were contracted to work for regular hours on an ongoing basis (*175*).

A prominent approach to tackling gang-related violence in Central America is known as "mano dura" ("firm hand"). This approach has led to a substantial increase in arrests, to which gangs have responded with increased cohesion to unite against repressive government actions, often leading to more violence (176).

Costs

There is little information on the costs of gang violence prevention programmes. No studies included in the reviews described above considered the cost-benefit ratio of any interventions.

Helping youth disengage from gangs in Nicaragua

The HABITAT project in Managua, Nicaragua, aimed to provide positive development opportunities for gang members, including educational opportunities and resources and training for skilled employment. Gang members were recruited through local leaders of gang-affected communities and given training, predominantly as carpenters and masons, in exchange for formally and publicly renouncing their gang lifestyle. At the end of the training they were given a small loan to facilitate the setting up of a minor business. If an individual returned to the gang, the loan was cancelled and the person was forced to repay the money. There was substantial dropout during the training and education phase, and most recruits were unable to establish a stable business after training.

An evaluation of the project identified two reasons for its failure. The power of the "collective" element of gangs and the communities they exist within was overlooked by the project – many former gang members felt they were selfishly betraying their gangs and communities by building up their own businesses. In Nicaragua, it may therefore have been more beneficial for the project to benefit the community as a whole, or to create a collective occupation through which the gang may "mature out" together. Also, in the context of a country with an unemployment rate of 60% in the mid-1990s, it was very difficult for a one-time small loan to stimulate and sustain a small business (*177*).

Community- and society-level programmes and policies

Hotspots policing

Hotspots policing is a law enforcement strategy focusing on deploying police resources in geographical areas where crime has been shown to be particularly prevalent. It is often combined with communityand problem-orientated policing strategies. However, hotspots policing strategies, as opposed to community-based policing strategies, tend to use more traditional tactics, such as increased patrols in hot spots, while community policing (see next section) tries to engage more pro-actively with the people of a community.

SUMMARY

- Hotspots policing is often implemented and evaluated jointly with community- and problemorientated policing strategies
- Systematic reviews of hotspots policing show small positive effects on reducing violent crime; one study of the Cardiff model showed substantial reductions in violence-related injuries
- There is high-income country evidence only

.....

There are some strong research designs

Relevance

Studies suggest that a majority of criminal activities and many instances of youth violence occur in specific places (e.g. in particular streets, clubs and bars). Crime and violence can therefore be reduced if prevention efforts are systematically focused on these places – the so-called "hot spots". The concentration of crime in a few hotspots seems to be more relevant than the concentration in individuals (178). Place-based policing interventions aim to reduce crime and disorder efficiently by focusing on areas that experience most violence.

The evidence

One systematic review based on 10 randomized controlled trials (179) of the effects of hotspots policing on property crime, violent crime and disorder found significant but small crime reduction effects (180). The review controlled for the possible effects of displacement of crime to other nearby places. The review also evaluated hotspots policing strategies in combination with problem-oriented policing strategies and concluded that combining both approaches yields the largest reductions in overall crime. Caution needs to be applied when interpreting these findings, as a very small number of eligible studies looked at a broad and diverse group of problems and possible interventions.

Subsequent to this review, an outcome evaluation of the "Cardiff model", whereby data from hospital emergency departments and the police is combined to better identify hot spots for violence, showed it to have substantially reduced rates of violence-related injury treated in hospitals, and violence-related woundings reported to the police (8).

Implementing hotspots policing programmes

Implementing hotspots policing requires additional data on the "who, what, when, where and how" of crime and violence. Such data might include information from hospital emergency rooms on violence-related injuries, or on vandalism and shoplifting, in order to complement police crime statistics that severely under-report instances of violence. Using such information, the identification of hot spots requires staff trained in mapping technology and the analysis of geographic databases.

Feasibility and acceptability

Hotspots policing may not be appropriate in all settings. Essential preconditions for hotspots policing strategies include the existence of a legitimate, accountable, non-repressive and non-corrupt policing system, and accurate, timely statistics on the time, place and nature of events. Policy-makers may be attracted to law and order approaches to address crime and violence in response to citizen calls for hard measures and deterrents. Policing interventions carried out in a context of repression, lack of accountability and corruption can increase social tensions and youth violence. Hotspots policing applied in isolation from community-centred approaches may increase community tensions.

Police forces might be reluctant to implement new policing approaches. There may also be resistance on the part of residents in low-crime areas over concerns that policing may be diverted from these areas.

Costs

Hotspots policing requires software to geocode and plot data on violent incidents. It requires human and management resources to analyse data, decide, plan and implement intervention strategies, and to evaluate the interventions.

The Cardiff model

The Cardiff model for the prevention of violence (8, 181) involves collecting anonymized data on the "who, what, when, where and how" of violence-related injuries treated in hospital emergency departments, and combining these with data on violence-related incidents recorded by police. The combination of health and police data allows for the more accurate prediction of future patterns of violence and the identification of violence hot spots, and is used to design and direct policing and other interventions, which so far have included:

- targeted policing, whereby the deployment of police units is aligned with the time and location of violence in certain hot spots;
- targeting premises that are licensed to sell alcohol and are associated with increased incidents of violence;
- informing alcohol licensing applications and appeals;
- developing strategies aimed at reducing the risks associated with specific weapon types (e.g. enforced use of plastic glasses, reductions in bottle availability, knife amnesties);
- informing other public health and social strategies such as drug and alcohol services.

An outcome evaluation of the Cardiff model assessed its impact on emergency department presentations for violence-related injuries and police-reported incidents of violence over time, and compared rates for these in Cardiff to rates in similar cities in the United Kingdom where such a data-sharing approach was not being implemented. The evaluation found the strategy led to a 42% reduction in hospital admissions relative to comparison cities, and a 32% comparative reduction in woundings recorded by police. The evaluation also found a 38% comparative increase in violence not causing injury ("common assaults") reported to the police (8), which the authors suggest may have been due to faster and more frequent police intervention in assaults and their precursors (such as arguments), and increased reporting of common assaults by witnesses and victims and subsequent recording by police (8). Furthermore, cost-effectiveness analysis of the Cardiff model estimates that it reduced the economic and social costs of violence by £ 6.9 million in 2007 compared with the costs Cardiff would have experienced without the programme (182). This includes a cost reduction of £ 1.25 million to the health services, and £ 1.62 million to the criminal justice system in 2007. By contrast, the costs associated with the programme were modest: set-up costs of software modifications and prevention strategies were £ 107 769, while the annual operating costs of the system were estimated at £ 210 433 (2003 rates). The cumulative social benefit-cost ratio of the programme from 2003 to 2007 was £ 82 in benefits for each pound spent on the programme, including a benefit-cost ratio of £ 14.80 for the health service and £ 19.1 for the criminal justice system (182).

The data-sharing component of the Cardiff approach has been officially adopted through a United Kingdom government Information Standard for Tackling Violence (183), which will make the collection and sharing of emergency department and police data on violence mandatory across England from July 2015. Internationally, the Cardiff model has attracted attention from cities in Brazil, the Netherlands, South Africa and the United States, in several of which there are now efforts underway to evaluate it.

Community- and problem-orientated policing

The terms community-orientated and problem-orientated policing are often used interchangeably, and refer to the systematic use of police-community partnerships and problem-solving techniques to identify underlying problems that could be targeted to alleviate violence. Police agencies explore the problems of a community, search for effective solutions to address these, and evaluate the impact of their efforts. Community- and problem-orientated policing approaches are distinguished from conventional policing strategies through their strong community engagement.

SUMMARY

	Communit	v-and	problem	-orientated	policing	have beer	n evaluated	for effects	on crime a	and disorder
_		,	p	0	p =					

- Community and problem-orientated policing show small reductions in crime and disorder
- There is high-income country evidence only
- Most reflect weak research designs

Relevance

Problem-orientated policing aims to address risk factors that cause crime and violence in a particular place. Problem-orientated policing involves the collection and analysis of data and other information on violence in a particular setting; engaging with the community to learn more about underlying risk factors; developing interventions to address the risk factors; and evaluating the response.

The evidence

No systematic reviews of the impact of community- and problem-orientated policing focusing specifically on youth violence or violent crime in young people were found. One systematic review (184) concluded that problem-orientated policing is associated with modestly increased reductions in overall crime and disorder compared to conventional policing strategies. Several studies focus on specific community policing strategies, such as foot patrols (185); door-to-door visits; youth outreach (186) and targeted control of drinking environments.

Implementing community and problem-orientated policing programmes

A precondition for implementing community-based and problem-orientated policing strategies is the existence of a legitimate, accountable, non-repressive and non-corrupt policing system. Implementation of community-based policing further requires police professionalism, good relations between police and the public, and close collaboration between local government authorities and the community police force. While it might be desirable on one hand to keep key police officers for a longer period in the same area so that positive relationships between the police and the community can be developed, regular rotation of police is one of the main strategies to prevent corruption and might undermine the former strategy.

Feasibility and acceptability

The acceptability of community-based policing is likely to depend on the role that police have historically played in a particular community or country. In countries with very high levels of violence, policy-makers may be attracted to "hard" or "law and order" approaches to address crime and violence, and it may be difficult to generate public and police acceptance for strategies that are seen as going "soft" on criminals. Community policing might also create risks for abuses of authority, though there is little evidence for this.

Resource use

Implementation of problem-orientated policing strategies usually requires the establishment or strengthening of a unit that collects and analyses relevant data. Special funds might be needed to administer surveys or to analyse data. It further requires substantial and sustained training of police officers and data analysts, and additional travel costs. While conventional policing approaches are relatively easy to budget for, the costs of community-based approaches can vary, as unexpected financial needs may arise as the project develops.

Community-orientated policing to reduce youth homicide in Brazil

The Fica Vivo programme is a community-orientated policing programme implemented in the state of Minas, Brazil, with the aim of reducing high youth homicide rates (187). Based on the example of Operation Ceasefire in Boston, United States, the Fica Vivo programme provided financial and social assistance to reduce the dependence of young people on criminal groups, and stationed specially trained police officers in the target community for 8 hours a day, with the aim of establishing ties within the community and developing in-depth knowledge of the area.

The programme was evaluated using time-series analyses of homicide incidence data for the Morro das Pedras area of the city of Belo Horizonte from 2002 to 2006. The homicide incidence for this location was compared to other violent and non-violent neighbourhoods of the city during each of the programme phases. In the first 6 months, a 69% reduction in the incidence of homicide was observed, and while the homicide rate remained at the new, lower level, in subsequent months there were similar homicide rate declines in comparison areas (*187*).

Reducing access to and the harmful use of alcohol

Strategies to reduce access to – and the harmful use of – alcohol include regulating the marketing of alcoholic beverages; reducing the consumption of illicit or home-brewed liquor; restricting the availability of alcohol; reducing demand through taxation and pricing; and providing accessible and affordable treatment for people with alcohol-use disorders.

SUMMARY

- Effects of homicide rates and non-fatal assaultive violence have been evaluated
- Reducing access to and the harmful use of alcohol reduces homicide rates and non-fatal physical violence in some settings
- There is evidence from high- and middle-income countries
- There are some strong research designs

Relevance

Alcohol is an important risk factor for youth violence and a situational determinant that can precipitate such violence. Individuals who start drinking at an early age tend to drink more frequently, in greater quantities and to intoxication, and have higher risks of violence (188). Alcohol has physiological effects that lead to the inhibition of social control and increased violence. In many countries, alcohol use among adolescents is high. Alcohol sales in low- and middle-income countries show fast-growing consumption, whereas in high-income countries sales remain at a stable level. Alcohol interventions will eventually be relevant to countries that currently have very low levels of alcohol consumption (189).

The evidence

The frequency and volume of alcohol consumption (in particular binge or episodic heavy drinking) is strongly associated with alcohol-related youth violence, and strategies that reduce the amount of alcohol consumed have been shown to reduce alcohol-related violence. One study found that a reduction in consumption of 1 litre of pure alcohol per capita per year resulted in a 7% reduction in homicides in Europe (190).

A systematic review of the effects of alcohol taxation on alcohol-related consumption patterns and harm across 10 studies from low- and middle-income countries found that price increases of alcohol reduced consumption and deaths from violence (191, 192). It also found that increasing alcohol taxation decreased the amount of alcohol consumed, reduced demand for alcohol in in young people, and increased the age at which people started drinking.

A review of the effects of alcohol pricing and promotion (193) found that setting a minimum unit price for alcohol and increasing the price of alcohol sold at very low or heavily discounted prices can reduce alcohol consumption and alcohol-related harms. A study conducted in a Canadian province found that a 10% increase in the minimum price of any given alcoholic product reduced its consumption by between 14.6% and 16.1% (194).

Several individual studies reviewed whether a reduction in sales times for alcohol reduced violence. One review found that the restriction of pub closing times in one region in Australia led to 37% fewer assaults (195). It has also been shown that reductions in the density of alcohol sales outlets lead to reduced consumption and alcohol-related harm (196).

While many studies have shown that alcohol advertising has been shown to increase the risk of harmful alcohol use (197), no studies were identified that measure the effects of bans on alcohol advertising on youth violence. A systematic review of school-based education programmes on responsible alcohol use found them to have no effects in reducing alcohol-related harm (198).

One study evaluated a brief intervention for young people presenting intoxicated and with violencerelated injuries in emergency departments (199). The intervention consisted of motivational interviewing, skills training, role plays and referrals, and led to significantly lower levels of aggression and reduced violence in the medium term.

Feasibility and acceptability

In many populations, the restriction of general access to alcohol is unlikely to be a popular intervention. There may also be strong resistance from those who are involved in the production and trade of alcoholic beverages. For policy-makers and planners from the health sector, the reduction of alcohol consumption is an attractive intervention that brings a range of positive health benefits, as alcohol is a major risk factor for noncommunicable diseases and unintentional injuries (e.g. road traffic crashes). Very restrictive alcohol policies might however lead to an increase in the production of illicit alcohol.

Implementing programmes to reduce the harmful use of alcohol

The WHO global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol (200) recommends that governments formulate, implement, monitor and evaluate public policies to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. These include regulating the marketing of alcoholic beverages in particular to young people; regulating and restricting the availability of alcohol; reducing demand through taxation and pricing mechanisms; raising awareness and support for policies; providing accessible and affordable treatment for people with alcohol-use disorders; and implementing screening programmes and brief interventions for hazardous and harmful use of alcohol (200).

Costs and cost-effectiveness

A review of the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of policies and programmes to reduce the harmful use of alcohol (201) concludes that strategies aimed at making alcohol more expensive and less available, and banning alcohol advertising, are cost-effective.

Preventing violence through a comprehensive programme including reducing access to alcohol in Brazil

A community-wide strategy to reduce alcohol-related violence was implemented in Diadema, Brazil (202). The city introduced a new law requiring bars to close by 23:00, and started the Integrated Operation Project, which made the Diadema municipal guard and state police force responsible for the surveillance of vehicles, bars, deserted areas and other 'at-risk' spaces. Security cameras were installed to monitor specific areas with high crime rates (203). In addition, vocational training and work placements for high-risk youths were provided, alongside a vacation club that organized activities during school holidays (a peak period for youth crime), and a life skills training programme aimed at reducing illicit drug use. The combination of these initiatives was found to decrease homicides from 389 cases in 1999 to 167 in 2003, and robberies from 5192 cases in 1999 to 4368 in 2003 (203).

Drug control programmes

Drug control programmes are defined as strategies to reduce youth violence associated with the demand, supply and use of illicit drugs. They include measures addressing drug dependence and use; measures reducing violent crime committed to fund drug use; and measures to prevent violence associated with illicit drug market activity.

SUMMARY

Effects on drug use, drug offences and drug-related violence have been evaluated
Drug control programmes clearly reduce drug use and drug offences
Some studies have shown community violence reductions
There is high-income country evidence only
Most reflect weak research designs

Relevance

Drugs and violence are linked in various ways. First, risk factors that contribute to drug use and to violent behaviour are partially overlapping. Risk factors common to drug use and violence include low academic achievement and low attachment to school; early antisocial behaviours and attitudes; deviant peers; poor parental supervision; availability of alcohol and drugs; economic deprivation; and community disorganization (204). Many violence prevention strategies included in this manual are therefore also implemented to prevent drug use and dependence (205). Second, drug use may be linked to violence as many drugs influence the behaviour and physiological functioning of individuals. Third, drug-related violence can be "economically compulsive", in that individuals addicted to or dependent on illicit substances will commit crime, including violent crime, to fund their drug use. Fourth, drug-related violence can be systemic, with the use of violence to enforce the payment of debts, resolve competition between dealers, and punish informants an inherent part of illicit drug markets (206).

Different drugs have differing effects on the risk for violence (207). Cocaine and amphetamines in particular are associated with increased aggressive and violent behaviour, and users of cocaine and/ or heroin appear to be at greater risk of observing, perpetrating and being a victim of violence than cannabis users. People under the influence of benzodiazepines have been found to be more likely to act aggressively than non-intoxicated individuals.

The evidence

Most programmes that aim to prevent young people from using drugs in the first place are not evaluated for their outcomes on violence but for their outcomes on drug use. Some studies, such as the school-

based programme targeting illicit drug use Towards no Drug Abuse (208), did however also find reductions in violence and weapon-carrying. The programme found 21% less weapon carrying and 23% less violent victimization in young males who participated in the programme.

There is increasing evidence that a health-orientated approach to individuals who use drugs such as drug dependence treatment, rehabilitation and care is more effective in reducing illicit drug use and in reducing negative social consequences associated with it than criminal justice sanctions (209, 210). Several studies evaluating the health and social consequences of drug treatment interventions (e.g. replacement therapies with methadone or buprenorphine) have found that they lead to small reductions in violence in the short term (211).

There are several types of intervention aimed at eliminating illegal drug markets and criminal and violence activities around these. These often seek to work together with communities, service providers and families of those involved in drug dealing. While often the most dangerous drug dealers are prosecuted, those who have committed only minor offences will be warned in a community consultation. If drug selling does not stop, law enforcement strategies will be strictly applied. An evaluation of one such intervention found that it reduced drug offences by 44–56% and led to a significant reduction of violence (*212*).

Implementing drug control interventions

Depending on the pattern and forms of youth violence associated with drug activity, policy-makers and planners must decide whether to focus on reducing demand for drugs, the supply of drugs, or a combined strategy. Most drug-related interventions require substantial technical capacity within health services and the police force.

Feasibility and acceptability

Policy-makers and the public view interventions to address illicit drug use as important. Some strategies, for example, drug replacement programmes, are often not accepted by policy-makers and the public, as they are seen as condoning drug addiction.

Costs

Comparable data on costs of drug control interventions are difficult to obtain, as contexts in which drug control measures are implemented vary widely. The few studies that exist suggest that law-enforcement interventions are more expensive than drug dependence treatment, rehabilitation and care programmes. According to one study, the cost-benefit ratio of drug-treatment to criminal justice costs is 1 to 4, and when savings related to health care are included, total savings can exceed costs by a ratio of 1:12 *(213)*.

Reducing drug-related violence in Nicaragua

The Direction of Juvenile Affairs (Dirección de Asuntos Juveniles) of the Nicaraguan police department has applied a three-stage programme to address drug-related violence. The programme includes cooperation with a health education programme to deliver education sessions on drugs, alcohol and violence for children and youth in schools; psychosocial interventions with children and adolescents at high risk of drug dependence or violence, and their families; and interventions with children and youth from gangs (e.g. helping gang members find formal employment). A qualitative study of the programme found that it lacked trained staff for the delivery of the educational and psychosocial interventions, and that there were few sustainable employment opportunities for gang members (214).

Reducing access to and misuse of firearms

Measures to prevent firearms-related injuries include those addressing access, supply and use of firearms, and restrictions on the secondary trading of firearms. They include bans on specified firearms or ammunition, background checks, waiting periods and other licencing requirements, laws to prevent child access and restrictions for certain settings (for example, school premises, carrying guns in public places, etc.) (2). Internationally, the Firearms Protocol of the UN Convention on Organized Crime (215) provides a framework for states to control and regulate licit arms and arms flows, prevent their diversion into the illegal circuit and facilitate the investigation and prosecution of related offences (215). Few such measures are specific to youth or any other age group. However the high proportion of firearm-related youth homicides and non-fatal injuries mean that all such measures are particularly pertinent to youth violence.

SUMMARY

- Effects on homicide rates, shootings, gun robberies, gun assaults and weapon carrying have been evaluated
- There is some evidence that legislation can contribute to reduced arms availability and firearmrelated homicide rates, shootings, gun robberies, gun assaults and weapon carrying
- There are some low- and middle-income country studies
 Most reflect weak research designs

Relevance

Globally, firearms accounted for an estimated 48% of all homicides in the year 2012 (2). Firearms increase the likelihood of death and serious injury when used in acts of violence, and are frequently used to threaten individuals in violent encounters. Several case-control studies, ecological time-series and cross-sectional studies across countries indicate that gun availability is a risk factor for homicide, particularly firearm homicide (216, 217).

The evidence

Two systematic reviews and one meta-analysis summarize the effects of various strategies to prevent firearm-related violence. One systematic review (218) concluded that there is insufficient evidence to determine whether firearm laws have any effect on violence. A recent meta-analysis (219) suggests that bans on the sale of firearms had small effects and law enforcement strategies had moderate effects in reducing gun violence. Another systematic review (220) finds that directed police patrols focusing on illegal gun carrying can prevent gun crimes (including murders, shootings, gun robberies and gun assaults). These studies conclude that more research is needed to determine the effectiveness of waiting periods, background checks, zero-tolerance policies in schools and other measures to limit firearms use in settings where they are already widely available. With one exception (218), these reviews also conclude that strategies addressing access to firearms, such as bans on firearms, and the enactment and enforcement of laws against the illegal possession and carrying of firearms, show promise. Subsequent to these reviews, a study from South Africa found that stricter licensing and reduced circulation of firearms accounted for an estimated 4585 lives saved across five major cities between 2001–2005 (221).

Implementing programmes to reduce access to and misuse of firearms

Implementing strategies to reduce access to and misuse of firearms requires a detailed picture of the context in which such measures are to be introduced. This includes data on homicides and firearm-related homicides, data on existing legal and illegal firearms and the types of firearms in circulation, and information on existing gun legislation.

Depending on the setting, programmes to reduce access to and the misuse of firearms may require

additional police to supervise the implementation of new legislation, public-relations programmes to inform the public, and the development of more elaborate monitoring systems. Where legislation is concerned, laws in neighbouring countries should also be considered. Countries that ban certain weapons or limit civilian possession to guns of certain types and calibres only may face the problem of illicit trafficking of these types of arms from neighbouring countries with more relaxed legislation.

Feasibility and acceptability

Restricting access to and the use of firearms demands strong commitment on the part of policy-makers and firm backing on the part of relevant ministries (e.g. interior, justice, defence). Such measures may not receive public support in all countries. Citizens in societies with high-levels of gun violence may resist efforts to reduce access to firearms because they believe that such measures will make it more difficult to obtain and keep a firearm for personal protection, and will unfairly prejudice law-abiding legal gun owners while having little effect on the use of illegally obtained firearms by criminals. Policy-makers can highlight additional benefits of firearm legislation. In the United States, for example, it has been shown that firearm legislation decreased deaths due to unintentional firearm-related injuries (222), and suicides among young people (223).

Costs

.

Firearm-related injuries are considerably more expensive to treat than most other forms of trauma, and their direct medical costs are very high (224, 225). Preventing firearm-related injuries therefore has the potential to be cost-effective.

The Firearm Control Act in South Africa

In the year 2000, South Africa implemented a Firearm Control Act aimed at reducing the number of firearms in the country (particularly those in civilian hands), prohibiting the ownership of particular types of firearms, and putting in place pre-licencing background checks to establish an individual's physical and mental capacity to use a firearm responsively. To evaluate the effects of the act on homicide, Matzopoulos and others (221) conducted a retrospective population-based study of homicides across five South African cities from 2001–2005 and found a decrease of homicides overall and of firearm homicides in particular. They concluded that the Firearm Control Act and its enforcement led to the saving of 4585 lives across the five cities (221).

Spatial modifications and urban upgrading

Interventions encompassed by such strategies include improving urban spaces, situational crime and violence prevention measures, and crime prevention through environmental design measures. Urban upgrading measures are typically targeted at slums and low-income urban communities, and include the provision of basic services such as clean piped water, electricity, basic health care and school facilities, or measures to improve the quality of life in a certain setting, for instance by providing parks and other public places for leisure activities.

Situational violence prevention and crime prevention through environmental design aims to change the physical and environmental conditions associated with violence through improved planning, design and infrastructure. Such strategies include improved surveillance (e.g. through better street lighting); property maintenance and activities that increase public presence on the street, for example, scheduling activities in public areas. Closed circuit television (CCTV) surveillance is also included in this strategy since it is the responsibility of local authorities and is frequently a "built in" part of new developments.

SUMMARY

Effects on violent crime and violence, including homicide rates, have been evaluated
There is evidence that spatial modifications and urban upgrading reduce violent crime
There are some low- and middle-income country studies
Most reflect weak research designs

Relevance for youth violence prevention

Youth violence tends to occur in certain places more than in others. Increased levels of youth violence are often observed in places where large populations live in settings characterized by poverty, social exclusion, discrimination, ill health and poor housing conditions, and where the likelihood of being seen or caught perpetrating violence are low. Ameliorating such conditions should therefore help reduce violence. Defensible space theory (226) assumes that if public spaces are owned, cared for and watched by a community, violence in those spaces will be less likely to occur.

The evidence

A systematic review of a broad range of physical environment interventions (227) found that improved transport, lighting, buildings, police accessibility, higher vegetation levels, business improvement districts and neighbourhood initiatives to decrease physical disorder all showed promise in preventing youth violence.

Several other systematic reviews focus on specific aspects of urban upgrading and situational crime prevention measures. One review measured the effects of improved street lighting on violence and found that it reduced violent crime by 29% in the United Kingdom (228). Another systematic review found CCTV surveillance to be effective in reducing violent crime only when implemented with high coverage in small, clearly laid out areas, and jointly with other interventions (228, 229).

The wide variety of urban improvement initiatives and limited number of outcome evaluations makes it hard to draw firm conclusions about the effectiveness of particular interventions in preventing youth violence. Overall, programmes that make improvements to the physical environment appear to hold promise as youth violence prevention measures.

There are also additional secondary benefits associated with urban improvement interventions, such as increased opportunities for social and economic development and a healthier environment.

Implementing spatial modifications and urban upgrading

Situational crime prevention is typically considered for areas with high levels of violence and crime. These interventions usually start with a security assessment and stakeholder analysis, followed by a planning process with strong involvement of the communities concerned. Impacts on the areas surrounding the target community should be considered. Urban development interventions require close collaboration with local government structures and the involvement of sectors that typically are not considered important to youth violence prevention, such as housing and transport.

Feasibility and acceptability

Urban upgrading interventions usually have other positive effects for residents by making their surroundings healthier and more attractive to live in, and there is generally public support for these measures. Community involvement in programme design and delivery is important to develop a sense of ownership and increase the chances of success and sustainability.

Costs

The cost of urban upgrading interventions varies due to the wide range of potential interventions. While some interventions require substantial investments in infrastructure, specialized staff and regular

maintenance, other interventions that are targeted at improving living conditions in small residential areas (e.g. street lighting, sidewalks, safe houses, community centres, and the improvement of public spaces) can be implemented at somewhat lower cost.

Urban upgrading in Medellín, Colombia

In 2004, municipal authorities in Medellín, Colombia, built a public transport system to connect isolated low-income neighbourhoods to the city's urban centre. Transit-orientated development was accompanied by municipal investment in the improvement of neighbourhood infrastructure. Rates of violence were assessed in intervention neighbourhoods and comparable control neighbourhoods before (in 2003) and after (in 2008) completion of the project, using a longitudinal sample of 466 residents and homicide records from the Office of the Public Prosecutor. Intervention neighbourhoods showed a 66% greater decline in homicide rates than control neighbourhoods, and resident reports of violence decreased 75% more in intervention neighbourhoods than in control neighbourhoods (230).

Poverty de-concentration

Poverty de-concentration strategies aim to reduce poverty by offering vouchers or other incentives for residents of economically impoverished public housing complexes to move to better neighbourhoods. This change is presumed to offer new social opportunities and better public facilities that can help to improve socio-economic status. Typical approaches include housing and social mobility programmes.

SUMMARY

Effects on life-time arrests for violent crime have been evaluated in few settings
Poverty de-concentration probably reduces arrests for violent crime in the short term
There is evidence from few high-income countries only
Most reflect strong research designs

Relevance for youth violence prevention

Youth violence is in part related to the spatial concentration of low-income households in high-poverty, high-crime urban neighbourhoods. It is assumed that providing the opportunity for families with a high risk of violence to move to more affluent areas, and improving living conditions in these neighbourhoods, can reduce violence.

The evidence

Two housing and social mobility experiments in the United States (known as the Moving to Opportunities programme) tested the impact of moving families living in public housing projects in severely disadvantaged neighbourhoods into neighbourhoods with much lower poverty rates, using private housing vouchers. These experiments found a significant reduction of lifetime violent-crime arrests of 33% for females (231) 4–7 years after the intervention, but not for males. However, subsequent long-term analysis of the data (232) found that in the first 4 years after the intervention, violent-crime arrests among experimental group males were almost a third lower than among control group males, but that these effects became weaker over time.

Resettling populations from one neighbourhood to another might lead to cultural isolation, discrimination and negative mental health consequences for the individuals relocated. Positive side effects can include increased access to better education and services (232).

Implementing poverty de-concentration programmes

The relocation schemes described here were implemented through the provision of vouchers to allow low-income families to rent apartments or houses in more affluent areas. In other settings, relocation schemes are implemented either voluntarily, whereby affected persons choose their own destination, are usually compensated for construction costs in the new site, and receive an inconvenience allowance; or through forced relocation to new residential areas as determined by local authorities.

Feasibility and acceptability

Resettlement schemes face political and logistical challenges. There is often little interaction with new neighbours in relocation sites, and considerable resistance by existing homeowners. In the Moving to Opportunity experiment, resistance was encountered from residents who feared neighbourhood decline when voucher recipients moved into their areas. Many relocation schemes in low- and middle-income countries appear to have failed because appropriate open land at prices affordable to the public sector could not be found; the locations identified were too far from places of employment; or the programmes disrupted social support networks that help people cope with difficult situations and offer a sense of identity and belonging.

Costs

In the Moving to Opportunity scheme, costs included the provision of housing vouchers that cover rent and additional costs; counselling for participating families; assistance to families to find appropriate housing; and working with landlords to encourage their participation. Costs amounted to US\$ 7000 per recipient case per year, of which US\$ 650–2800 were direct contributions to beneficiaries. The annual benefits were estimated to range from about US\$ 7700 to US\$ 9600 (232). Due to their high costs, schemes involving poverty de-concentration might not be feasible in low- and middle-income countries, and the upgrading of existing structures might be a more cost-effective option.

Moving to Opportunity

Moving to Opportunity is a residential mobility experiment implemented by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development. A randomized lottery provided families living in high-poverty public housing at five sites (Baltimore, Boston, Chicago, Los Angeles, and New York) with the opportunity to move to lower-poverty neighbourhoods with a housing voucher. The experimental group was offered a housing voucher that could only be used in neighbourhoods where the poverty rate was 10% or less. This group was also provided with counselling to help locate an appropriate housing unit and neighbourhood. The second intervention group received a standard housing voucher that could be used for any apartment that met basic standards, but was not restricted geographically. The control group did not receive any voucher, but could use the regularly available social services. Evaluations found significant reductions of arrests for violence and violent crime in the first 4 years after the intervention in the experimental group (232), but these effects were not sustained in the long-term.

Overview of evidence

Table 4 provides an overview of the youth violence prevention strategies reviewed in this chapter, and what is known about their effectiveness. The strategies are grouped into four categories based on the context in which they are delivered.

The table shows that while for each of the implementation contexts there is at least one strategy that is promising for preventing youth violence, many strategies are of uncertain effectiveness because of insufficient evidence. In early childhood, teaching positive parenting skills and early childhood development programmes were both rated as promising, and home visiting as requiring more research to establish its effectiveness in preventing subsequent youth violence.

Among the school-based strategies, life and social skills development programmes, and bullying prevention programmes are both rated as promising, whereas academic enrichment programmes, financial incentives for adolescents to attend school, and structured leisure time activities were found to require more research as to their effectiveness. Dating-violence prevention and peer mediation programmes were found to have contradictory evidence on their effectiveness, with peer mediation programmes also being shown in some studies to have harmful effects in the form of increased youth violence.

Of the strategies for youth at higher risk of violence, only therapeutic approaches (such as cognitive behaviour therapy) for youth already showing aggressive behaviour emerged as promising in preventing youth violence, with vocational training, mentoring, and gang and street violence prevention programmes having insufficient evidence to assess their effectiveness.

At community and societal level, hotspots policing; community- and problem-orientated policing; reducing access to and the harmful use of alcohol; drug control programmes; reducing access to and the misuse of firearms; spatial modification and urban upgrading, poverty de-concentration were all rated as promising in preventing youth violence.
Effectiveness of youth violence prevention strategies, by context

Parenting and early childhood development strategies	Home visiting programmes Parenting programmes Early childhood development programmes	? + +
School-based academic and social skills development strategies	Life and social skills development Bullying prevention Academic enrichment programmes Dating violence prevention programmes Financial incentives for adolescents to attend school Peer mediation After-school and other structured leisure time activities	+ + ? +/- ? +/- ?
Strategies for young people at higher risk of, or already involved in, violence	Therapeutic approaches Vocational training Mentoring Gang and street violence prevention programmes	+ ? ? ?
Community- and society-level strategies	Hotspots policing Community- and problem-orientated policing Reducing access to and the harmful use of alcohol Drug control programmes Reducing access to and misuse of firearms Spatial modification and urban upgrading Poverty de-concentration	+ + + + + + + + +

KEY

+ Promising (strategies that include one or more programmes supported by at least one well-designed study showing prevention of perpetration and/or experiencing of youth violence, or at least two studies showing positive changes in key risk or protective factors for youth violence).

? Unclear because of insufficient evidence (strategies that include one or more programmes of unclear effectiveness).

+/- Unclear because of mixed results (strategies for which the evidence is mixed – some programmes have a significant positive and others a significant negative effect on youth violence).



4 What governments and civil society can do to implement youth violence prevention programmes

Supports the development, implementation, maintenance and monitoring of interventions, programmes and policies. Such a foundation should therefore draw upon many of the same capacities that are needed – and which in many cases will have already been developed – for other public health problems. Efforts should thus be made wherever possible to address youth violence prevention by building upon the infrastructure developed to address other public health problems.

Accordingly, the public health approach to violence prevention shown in Figure 3 is a useful framework for organizing youth violence prevention efforts in a way which helps to link them to other ongoing public health activities. This approach also highlights the importance of ensuring that as preventive actions are being taken, evidence on their effects is generated and fed back into the process.

FIGURE 3

Public health approach to violence prevention



Source: Based on Krug et al (1).

By definition, public health aims to provide the maximum benefit for the largest number of people. In practice, a public health approach to preventing youth violence involves the four steps shown in Figure 3. Step one is to define the magnitude, scope, characteristics and consequences of such violence through the systematic collection of information. Step two is to identify and research the risk and protective factors that increase or decrease the likelihood of youth violence, including those that can be modified through interventions. Step three is to determine what works in preventing youth violence by developing and evaluating interventions tailored to the demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of the groups in which they are to be implemented. Step four is to implement effective and promising interventions in a wide range of settings and, through ongoing monitoring of their effects on the risk factors and the target problem, to evaluate their impact and cost-effectiveness (1).

While the public health approach provides an easily understood framework for organizing youth violence prevention efforts, the main challenge lies in getting governments and other violence prevention stakeholders to adopt such an approach in the first place. In many settings, the idea that youth violence can be prevented is likely to be new, and it is therefore important to build the necessary human and institutional foundations before attempting to initiate a public health approach to the problem. Accordingly, this chapter reviews six activity areas by which the readiness to implement a public health approach to youth violence prevention can be increased.¹ The six areas are:

- 1. raising awareness about prevention;
- 2. developing partnerships across sectors;
- 3. strengthening knowledge about the importance of data collection on fatal and non-fatal youth violence, and on risk and protective factors;
- 4. enhancing the capacity to evaluate existing prevention programmes;
- 5. establishing a policy framework, and
- 6. building capacity for youth violence prevention.

Because this manual aims to enhance youth violence prevention efforts in settings with limited resources, the options for action under each area include core responses that can be undertaken without additional resources; expanded responses that require extra resources; and desirable responses for which considerable additional resources may be required.

1. Raising awareness about prevention

A fundamental component of youth violence prevention efforts is to raise awareness of the problem among programme- and policy-makers. Because ministries of health generate much of the available data on youth violence and oversee the treatment of a substantial proportion of its victims, they are well positioned to campaign for more attention to these issues. Three types of awareness are relevant here: awareness within the ministry of health, awareness among other sectors, and public awareness.

Awareness within the health sector

For some health ministries, the idea that they can have a major role to play in an intersectoral, public health approach to preventing youth violence may be new. In these instances, it is important to raise awareness about why they should take a leading role in youth violence prevention by emphasizing the following four points.

First, health ministries have a duty to prevent and respond to all major causes of deaths and morbidity, and, as outlined in Chapter 2, violence is a leading cause of death, non-fatal injury and disability in youth. Furthermore, WHO Member States have committed themselves through several World Health Assembly resolutions to implementing a public health approach to violence prevention *(234, 235)*. Third, health ministries have a powerful economic interest in preventing youth violence, since it absorbs a substantial proportion of the direct costs arising from treating violence-related injuries and other mental health and behavioural consequences of violence. Fourth, ministries of health are uniquely positioned to collect data, analyse risk factors, provide emergency and long-term care, coordinate multisectoral prevention efforts across a range of sectors, and campaign for political and legislative change. In many countries, if the ministry of health does not conduct these activities in the field of youth violence prevention, no other body will *(233)*.

Awareness among other sectors

Applying the principles of prevention in the field of youth violence is an unfamiliar approach in many countries. Health ministries can therefore help to raise awareness among other sectors about the social and economic value of adopting an evidence-informed approach that harnesses the input of

¹ Much of this chapter is adapted from Preventing injuries and violence: a guide for ministries of health (233).

multiple sectors to address underlying causes and risk factors. Among other ways, this can be done through seminars, workshops and newsletters, and by inviting relevant groups to discuss their roles and responsibilities in youth violence prevention. Health ministries should use the data they collect to inform decision-makers about the nature and scale of youth violence in their countries – including epidemiological data on the issue, the direct and indirect economic costs, and proven and promising prevention measures (such as those reviewed in Chapter 3 of this manual).

Ministries of health also sometimes need to call for government ministries, United Nations agencies and nongovernmental organizations to collaborate on a particular health topic. In raising awareness about the government's prevention responsibilities, ministries of health should also draw on global and regional resolutions adopted by United Nations organizations, such as the World Health Assembly resolutions on violence prevention (23, 235), and the United Nations Economic and Social Council's resolution on strengthening social policies as a tool for crime prevention (236).

Nongovernmental organizations are another powerful source for health ministries to draw on in raising awareness. Indeed, in many countries, groups of victims of violence and their families are among the most vigorous in campaigning for prevention. For instance, such groups have been active in arguing for increased investment in the prevention of child maltreatment. Tragic incidents – such as shootings in schools or the violent death of a well-known person – often trigger huge public concern. If this concern is effectively channelled, it can produce a rapid and sustained increase in political commitment to youth violence prevention. Wherever appropriate, health ministries should support such nongovernmental efforts so as to strengthen support for youth violence prevention.

Public awareness

Government-sponsored awareness campaigns should inform people about the nature, magnitude and consequences of youth violence, and how it can be prevented. They should also correct public misconceptions surrounding the causes and preventability of youth violence. Such campaigns should be coordinated with the introduction of new laws and policies, so as to increase public awareness of them. Information campaigns can accompany prevention efforts, highlighting, for instance, the unacceptability of bullying in schools or the importance of better regulating access to alcohol and its misuse as a means of preventing youth violence. Launches of new policies, programmes or publications on violence often provide good opportunities for ministries of health to raise public awareness.

Campaigns can also be built around high-profile events on the global calendar, such as International Youth Day (12 August). Involving prominent public figures and the local and national media in campaigns

The Jamaican chapter of the Violence Prevention Alliance

In 2004, Jamaica's Minister of Health set up the national chapter of the global Violence Prevention Alliance. Launching it, the minister reiterated the importance of the public health approach, and the involvement of a range of diverse sectors in preventing violence in general and youth violence in particular. Globally, the Violence Prevention Alliance has six objectives guiding its work, which are to:

- · increase collaboration and the exchange of information on violence prevention;
- support the implementation and monitoring of national plans of action to prevent violence;
- enhance the capacity for data collection on violence;
- promote the primary prevention of violence;
- strengthen support services for victims of violence;
- support the integration of violence prevention into social and educational policies.

To carry out these objectives, the Jamaican chapter has created a steering committee and a working group composed of representatives from a broad range of stakeholders (233).

built around these events can boost their impact. If well planned and executed, these campaigns can help to build broad coalitions for action.

It is important, though, to note that information or publicity campaigns on their own are ineffective in preventing youth violence, and that they should only be undertaken when linked to longer-term youth violence prevention strategies that address underlying causes and risk factors.

CORE	EXPANDED	DESIRABLE
Introduction to and consultations with key persons from government including ministries of justice, education, and social services. Develop/adapt and disseminate a policy brief describing the scale of victimization and consequences of youth violence, and effective interventions to prevent it.	Organize a national policy discussion around youth violence prevention with representatives from various sectors. Develop an awareness-raising campaign and distribute printed and electronic documents. Organize a study tour for policy- makers and planners to visit emergency wards, police, and youth violence prevention programmes.	Produce educational materials, brochures, pamphlets, posters, videos, slides, multimedia, web sites, and electronic bulletins. Organize conferences, workshops, and group discussions on youth violence. Work with the media to organize news conferences, television and radio shows and training for journalists on how to report on youth violence in newspapers and the media. Document adverse long-term consequences of youth violence.

Options for action to raise awareness

2. Developing partnerships across sectors

Effective youth violence prevention programmes are likely to involve several different sectors and organizations, and the health sector is well placed to play an important role in the coordination and facilitation of such multisectoral interventions. Establishing joint working arrangements between these partners from the beginning is one of the key factors for successful and effective prevention programmes. Core sectoral partners are likely to include police and criminal justice; education; social services and child protection; authorities responsible for regulating access to alcohol; local government; and nongovernmental organizations working with young people.

Consulting with different sectors

Consulting with governmental and nongovernmental groups from different sectors is essential for the development of strong partnerships, and for ensuring that they invest in a common youth violence prevention effort or policy. While attempting to involve every agency that appears relevant will not be easy, failing to consult a key group could harm the effort and result in that group rejecting the proposed programme.

At the start of a prevention programme, individuals from different sectors may tend to restrict themselves to the areas of their expertise. Psychologists, for instance, may see their role as counselling victims of violence; the police may press for more resources to catch and punish perpetrators; and medical professionals may be focused on issues of trauma care. For success in youth violence prevention, it is necessary to use these particular competence-based perspectives and skills, and to embed them in a broader strategic framework where there are shared priorities and goals.

Options	for partnersl	hip action
---------	---------------	------------

CORE	EXPANDED	DESIRABLE
Identify focal points for youth violence prevention from other sectors and organize an informal meeting with at least two other sectors. Share information about your current work and goals, identify common interests, and establish a mechanism to regularly exchange information. Develop a stakeholder map for youth violence prevention.	Establish a formal partnership with key sectors. Establish a coordination platform and terms of reference. Explore joint initiatives and projects that do not require substantial additional resources (e.g. joint mechanisms for data exchange).	Develop a partnership workplan, which is reflected in the annual workplans and budgets of the individual organizations that are members of the partnership.

3. Strengthening knowledge about the importance of data collection on fatal and non-fatal youth violence, and on risk and protective factors

Understanding the extent of youth violence in a country is essential for developing effective policies and strategies to address the problem. Once an understanding is achieved, policy-makers are in a position to make informed decisions about priorities in the face of competing demands on resources. For many countries, assessing the scale of youth violence is critical for harnessing the political will, public support and funding needed to launch programmes. Accurate data are also required to evaluate the evolving success and cost-effectiveness of strategies for youth violence prevention.

Since collecting data can be costly, it is important that what is gathered should be actively shared and used to advance prevention efforts, rather than kept confidential or collected simply for the sake of amassing statistics.

Sources of youth violence data

Data on the magnitude and consequences of youth violence, and risk factors for it, can be obtained from a wide range of governmental and nongovernmental sources. Potential sources of data on youth violence are listed in Table 5.

Government departments, including those of education, welfare, labour, justice and the police – as well as national statistics bodies – all represent potential sources of data. As every data system has its weaknesses, it is best to compile and coordinate data from a number of such systems.

Role of the ministry of health in data collection

Because of its unique access to victims of interpersonal violence, the ministry of health plays a pivotal role in data collection. Without ministry of health data, national statistics on violence are likely to be severely underestimated (1). The health ministry and its partner agencies should ideally collect the following information, preferably in a way that allows for disaggregation of the data by victim age and sex, and mechanism (e.g. firearm) of the violence-related injury:

- deaths due to violence;
- non-fatal violence-related injuries;
- disability resulting from youth violence;
- adverse health consequences other than injuries that result from violence;
- the geographical distribution, settings and circumstances of incidents, and
- the economic impact of violence, including costs to the health-care system.

Vital registration systems recording all deaths can be an excellent starting point. The health ministry and partner agencies should promote data sharing between sectors, and make public the results of their findings to help advance prevention efforts.

TABLE 5

Potential sources of data on youth violence

TYPES OF DATA AND POTENTIAL SOURCES FOR COLLECTING INFORMATION			
TYPE OF DATA	DATA SOURCES	EXAMPLES OF INFORMATION COLLECTED	
Mortality	Death certificates, vital statistics registries, medical examiners', coroners' or mortuary reports	Characteristics of the decedent, cause of death, location, time, manner of death	
Morbidity and other health data	Hospital, clinic or other medical records	Diseases, injuries, information on physical, mental or reproductive health	
Self-reported	Surveys, special studies, focus groups, media	Attitudes, beliefs, behaviours, cultural practices, victimization and perpetration, exposure to violence in the home or community	
Community	Population records, local government records, other institutional records	Population counts and density, levels of income and education, unemployment rates, divorce rates	
Crime	Police records, judiciary records, crime laboratories	Type of offence, characteristics of offender, relationship between victim and offender, circumstances of event	
Economic	Programme, institutional or agency records, special studies	Expenditures on health, housing or social services, costs of treating violence-related injuries, use of services	
Policy or legislative	Government or legislative records	Laws, institutional policies and practices	

Source: (1), (233)

In addition to data on violence, the ministry of health should collect information on the types and distribution of available services, and the numbers of patients with violence-related conditions dealt with by these services. Ministries can then use this data to identify service gaps and make the case for more resources to fill them.

Putting violence and injury information systems in place

Countries without specific violence and injury surveillance systems can still make use of the data sources listed in Table 5 to investigate the extent and nature of youth violence, and to monitor trends over time. Moreover, with a small amount of effort and modest additional cost, some of these data sources can serve as the basis for an ongoing violence and injury surveillance system. Given that emergency medical services for severely injured victims of youth violence are the same as those provided for persons injured as a result of other causes (e.g. road traffic crashes), violence and injury information systems should always be designed to capture information on injuries from all causes.

The main sources for this purpose are death certificate data, hospital inpatient records and emergency department records. WHO, with support from the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, has developed the *Injury surveillance guidelines*, available online, offering step-bystep assistance on how to develop such surveillance systems (237). When using hospital-based data, experience from many countries has shown that the best way to proceed is to pilot the system in a major hospital first, and then make changes to the data collection form and expand the system to other hospitals. Many health ministries around the world have used these guidelines to set up injury information systems.

Existing sources of data often underestimate the extent of injuries related to youth violence, for a variety of reasons. These include the fact that many instances of youth violence are not reported to police. In some countries, only 10–20% of deaths of any type are officially registered with the government, and many injuries – even serious ones – do not receive formal medical care. Hospital data, whether inpatient or emergency department, cannot include those who do not seek care, and this is likely to be the case for

many victims of youth violence. Conducting periodic household and school-based surveys is therefore important.

Why surveys of youth violence are important

Specialized household and school-based surveys may be appropriate for gaining a deeper understanding of youth violence and related behaviours that are known to be poorly represented in routinely collected statistics – including bullying, weapon-carrying, involvement in physical fights, involvement with gangs, alcohol and drug use. To conduct household surveys, health ministries can use the WHO *Guidelines for conducting community surveys on injuries and violence (238)*, and for school-based surveys the GSHS methodology *(12)*. Alternatively, they can insert questions on injury in a national demographic health survey to complement hospital and other existing data.

Data from surveys should always be reported by age and sex to provide the fullest understanding of the problem. Data may also be recorded by subgroups known to be at increased risk – for example, those of low socioeconomic status (the list of susceptible groups varies from country to country).

Supplementing available information with research

Information is lacking in most countries on risk factors, behavioural determinants, levels of awareness and risk perception, and readiness to change behaviour. Surveillance and surveys also cannot provide all the required information about risk factors, nor can they test good practices or youth violence prevention programmes. These systems therefore need to be supplemented with rigorous research. Although the ministry of health does not usually conduct such studies itself, it should support research by collaborating with respected research institutions, such as schools of public health or universities that can do the work.

Compiling and disseminating data

In some ministries the ability to conduct data collection is severely limited by a lack of resources. Nevertheless, it should at least be possible to collect and compile existing data from other ministries and other sources. Data very often exist but lie unanalysed or unused. Such data – especially on leading causes of death and emergency department visits – can be compiled at low cost and transformed into powerful material that demonstrates the need for prevention efforts.

CORE	EXPANDED	DESIRABLE
Identify existing data sources that contain information on the prevalence, consequences and risk factors for youth violence.	Compile existing data on youth violence. Draft a policy brief informed by existing data.	Conduct and regularly repeat a nationwide population-based survey on prevalence and risk factors for youth violence. Ensure that existing health information systems, emergency department trauma registries and vital registration systems for causes of death capture age-and sex-disaggregated data on violence using International Classification of Disease codes.

Options for action in improving data collection and dissemination

4. Enhancing capacity to evaluate existing prevention programmes

From the outset, national youth violence prevention policies and plans must include efforts to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of prevention policies and programmes. Measures of effectiveness should cover the short, middle and long term. It is particularly important to establish baseline measurements before an intervention is implemented.

Monitoring of youth violence at the population level

As with other public health problems – such as HIV/AIDS, malaria and smoking-related diseases – the monitoring of youth violence at the population level is typically achieved by setting up indicators to

track changes in the nature and extent of both the problem being addressed and of the risk factors. With HIV, for instance, incidence rates of infection and rates of condom use might be measured. Depending on the vital statistics and health information systems available, it may be possible in some places to monitor indicators using routinely collected information. Elsewhere, where information systems are less developed, and for behavioural indicators that cannot be measured through such systems, monitoring is done through periodic population-based surveys. These include such methods as surveys of crime victimization or youth risk behaviour. By developing and monitoring indicators at the population level, ongoing feedback is provided on trends in the target problems and in the risk and protective factors. This feedback makes it possible to measure the impact on youth violence of specific prevention programmes, and to track how the problem is responding to other policies and programmes that – while not intended to prevent youth violence – nonetheless influence risk factors and social determinants, such as economic inequality and employment.

Whereas monitoring involves tracking a few youth violence indicators over time, the evaluation of specific youth violence prevention programmes involves a far more in-depth research process aimed at finding out if a particular programme is having its intended effects. This is known as outcome evaluation.

Outcome evaluation of specific youth violence prevention programmes

Outcome evaluation specifically seeks to determine if an intervention was successful in bringing about the intended changes (for example, in risk factors, behaviours, or in levels of violence-related injuries and deaths). The main concern when designing an outcome evaluation is to ensure that any alternative explanations for the changes observed can be ruled out in order to have confidence that these changes were due to the intervention and no other factors. This will ensure resources are not wasted on ineffective or less-effective interventions. Accordingly, any outcome evaluation must compare how levels of youth violence in groups exposed to an intervention change over time and in comparison to very similar groups of people living in the same kind of environment and who were not exposed to the intervention.

Because of the geographically limited evidence base for youth violence prevention programmes, it is vital to ensure that those in low- and middle-income countries incorporate evaluation plans. Rigorous outcome evaluation requires scientific expertise from the start of the planning phase to ensure the appropriate selection of prevention objectives; the development of a logic model; and the correct choice of research design, study populations, outcomes, data sources and methods of analysis. As a result, partnership with an academic or research institution that has a strong record in conducting outcome evaluation studies is often essential.

Ultimately, the selection of the outcome-evaluation approach to be taken will be guided by the questions to be answered and the degree of certainty required in attributing observed effects to the intervention. The benefits of each approach will need to be weighed against the practical and financial constraints of the intervention programme. Different types of outcome evaluation may also be helpful at different programme stages. For example, at the beginning of a new prevention strategy, collecting pre- and post-programme implementation data from participants can help to determine if the approach looks promising. Positive indications would include that changes appeared to be in the right direction, of sufficient magnitude, or similar to (or better than) other programmes targeting similar outcomes. Later, a controlled-trial or randomized control trial design can be used to provide more evidence that the intervention was indeed contributing to the desired changes. Once it is determined that the strategy works, the routine incorporation of outcome data collection can be used to monitor the continued effectiveness of the intervention.

Options for action on monitoring and evaluation

CORE	EXPANDED	DESIRABLE
Conduct developmental and process evaluations of your violence prevention programmes. Identify data sources that can provide information about the effectiveness of your programme, project or policy from existing data sources, e.g. emergency department records. Collect at least implementation data (e.g. information on dropouts); conduct focus groups and in-depth interviews with various stakeholders to identify potential strengths and weaknesses of the programme.	Conduct a simple outcome evaluation by collecting data before and after the intervention, ideally comparing findings for the group that received the intervention with a comparison group that have the same characteristics but did not receive the intervention.	Conduct quasi-experimental outcome evaluations or randomized-controlled trials with an experimental and a control group, which is similar to the group that receives the intervention but is not exposed to the programme. Publish your evaluation results in scientific journals.

5. Establishing a policy framework

Policy documents, such as national strategies and plans of action, are important for ensuring the good planning, coordination and implementation of youth violence prevention activities. There are several issues to consider with regard to such policies and plans.

- A section on youth violence prevention should be included in every national plan for public health.
- Each ministry of health should develop a national plan of action on violence prevention. This document should clearly define the ministry's planned activities and output, and provide more detail than can be included in the overall national plan for public health.
- Where possible, an additional plan of action guiding collaboration between sectors is desirable.
 Such a plan should be developed by representatives from the sectors concerned such as those of health, justice, and education setting out the activities and outcomes to be achieved by each, and in this way facilitating collaboration between various ministries.

Development of a youth violence prevention plan of action for the health sector

The ministry of health should take the lead in the development of an action plan for the health sector. Experience has shown that the process of developing a national or local policy document is as important as the document itself. The process should involve representatives from the government, nongovernmental organizations and academia, and include all relevant sectors. A good starting point is to assess current prevention activities in order to identify gaps, determine which data are available, and map out the main individuals and groups involved in prevention.

Formulating a national plan of action requires discussions about definitions, objectives and indicators. It should cover all relevant topics – data collection, prevention policies, laws and programmes, capacity building and awareness-raising. Particular attention needs to be given to ensuring that standalone prevention efforts – such as those on child maltreatment, bullying prevention and the prevention of alcohol-related violence – are adequately incorporated into the broader agenda of youth violence prevention. All plans of action should take into account the differing needs of children, adolescents and young adults as victims of youth violence and actual or potential perpetrators.

Multisectoral plans of action

Ideally, countries should also develop a plan of action to guide collaborative youth violence prevention work between the health sector and other sectors including justice, education, labour, finance, law enforcement and social welfare – all of whom have important roles to play in preventing youth violence. Coordinating efforts between these different sectors is not a straightforward task, particularly in

countries where multisectoral projects are uncommon. However, it is something the ministry of health can facilitate by supporting the joint development of a plan of action that formalizes the roles of the various agencies in youth violence prevention work.

The need for such multisectoral work has long been recognized in other areas of public health. In malaria prevention, for example, the ministry of health has to work alongside the ministry of public works to drain swamps. There is no single way of approaching this task and the questions of whom to collaborate with and how to do so will depend on the particular project at hand. Collaborative efforts might, for instance, be strengthened by first disseminating reports from the health ministry's violence prevention unit to other appropriate ministries; and by conducting in-house training within other ministries to raise knowledge and awareness on areas on which collaboration is to take place. Focal points and violence prevention units should make a list of those policy issues that could most usefully benefit from wider support, and systematically pursue collaboration on those issues with other sectors.

Legislative efforts

The enactment and enforcement of legislation on crime and violence are critical for establishing norms of acceptable and unacceptable behaviour, and creating safe and peaceful societies. Of particular importance are strategies to enable safe reporting of interpersonal violence and ensuring that legal protection and support are available to all citizens. In certain circumstances the threat of criminal sanctions can have a deterrent effect, for instance on people with strong social ties to perpetrators or when the certainty – but not necessarily the severity – of sanctions is high. An important objective for youth violence prevention is therefore to strengthen collaboration between public health, the criminal justice sector, and key security institutions such as the police in order to increase the chance that potential perpetrators of youth violence will be deterred from committing crime in the first place (and if not, at least held accountable for their actions). Where necessary, support to strengthen the relevant institutions in these sectors can help to improve enforcement levels.

Laws of particular relevance for youth violence prevention

In developing youth violence prevention policies and programmes it is critical to review existing legislation with a view to identifying legislative gaps that may need to be filled through the enactment of new laws, and existing laws that may be inadequately enforced. It can also be helpful to review existing legislation on youth violence prevention in other countries, especially those with similar social and cultural settings.

Examples of laws that may be used to modify risk factors for youth violence include laws on: alcohol pricing, taxation and access; prohibiting the corporal punishment of children and child maltreatment; the detection and reporting of child abuse; firearm ownership, access and carriage; and laws against gang membership. Laws that can help to strengthen protective factors for youth violence include those relevant to housing, social security, education and employment.

CORE	EXPANDED	DESIRABLE		
All steps of the policy development process are key to youth violence prevention efforts and can be pursued with almost no or very few additional resources.				
Review existing laws on youth violence prevention.				

Options for developing a policy framework

6. Building capacity for youth violence prevention

The prevention of youth violence requires knowledgeable and skilled staff, supportive structures and good networks. All of these areas may need strengthening, and ministries of health have a vital role to play in achieving this.

Building human resource capacity

Proper training is essential to help build human resource capacity. This applies to all individuals, from staff members, including focal points, to senior policy-makers. The goal is to have professionals from a wide range of backgrounds operating in the field of youth violence prevention with a common base of knowledge and skills. Training in violence prevention has up to now not been routinely addressed. Health ministries can address this shortcoming by focusing on:

- training for youth violence prevention. Such training should routinely take place, both in academic institutions within schools of public health, nursing and medicine and as in-service training for medical personnel, data collectors and relevant staff in other government departments. A useful tool for this purpose is TEACH–VIP, a modular training curriculum on injury and violence prevention. TEACH–VIP was developed by WHO with the support of a network of experts around the world, and has been successfully used by government agencies, injury centres, nongovernmental organizations and academic departments (239).
- technical and professional skill development. Relevant technical skills include carrying out research and setting up surveillance systems. Professional skills include project management, fund-raising, communications, and leadership. The ministry of health should identify key individuals and support their training including through exchange visits, collaboration with other institutions and mentoring.

Maintaining effective networks

Collaborative networks – both within countries and between countries – are an important element of youth violence prevention. Within countries, prevention efforts are likely to be distributed across a range of public and private sectors and for this reason require good coordination. Ministries of health can help by setting up national networks linking sectors for more efficient exchange of information, planning and action. Between countries, technical exchanges can speed the uptake of best practices in the field and help formulate policy agendas.

CORE	EXPANDED	DESIRABLE
Integrate youth violence prevention into existing curricula and trainings for health and social workers. Establish a focal point or unit in charge of youth violence prevention.	Develop jointly with other sectors and NGOs a strategy on how to increase human capacity for youth violence prevention.	Establish a career path for violence prevention professionals. Establish university courses or studies in the area of violence prevention.

Options for developing capacity

Conclusion

Youth violence is not a simple problem with easy solutions. However, improvements in prevention, especially in low- and middle-income countries, are possible. There is enough knowledge and experience on the subject for any country to begin addressing the problem. One of the greatest obstacles to effectively preventing youth violence has been the lack of information on what works, and on the feasibility of implementing such strategies in low- and middle-income countries. This manual has therefore discussed how strategies and programmes can be built on evidence, and how they can also generate evidence, so that in the future it becomes easier to design evidence-informed youth violence prevention policies and programmes.

A comprehensive approach for preventing youth violence includes interventions at all levels of the ecological model. These should address an array of risk factors – ranging from economic inequality to maltreatment as a child, to hyperactivity and other child mental health problems. Programmes on parenting; early childhood development; school-based life and social skills training; therapeutic approaches; and policies to reduce access to and the harmful use of alcohol have all shown promise in preventing youth violence in high-income countries, and in some low- and middle-income countries. Such programmes therefore provide a good starting point for new efforts to prevent youth violence, and for informing the possible modification of existing youth violence prevention efforts when these are being reviewed.

Several principles for strengthening the implementation of youth violence prevention programmes run throughout this manual, and include the following.

- Policies, plans and programmes should be based on scientific evidence from local and global studies about the magnitude, consequences, causes and preventability of youth violence, and the effectiveness of various strategies.
- Wherever possible, the planning, implementation and monitoring of youth violence prevention programmes should build upon existing public health expertise and infrastructure.
- While an evidence-based approach is necessary for a successful response to youth violence, it is not by itself sufficient. To build a systematic response that will be sustainable and far-reaching, the work of the different sectors, groups and individuals involved must be coordinated.

Significant gains will be made by adopting these principles for a coordinated, systematic approach to youth violence prevention. Rates of youth violence will fall and positive aspects of youth health and social development will be enhanced. As an increasing number of agencies respond to youth violence by adopting the principles outlined in this manual, the evidence base will expand. Scientifically sound information will be at hand to develop policies and programmes and to help resource allocation. An evidence-based approach to youth violence is essential for long-term success in preventing it. Currently, the evidence base is too geographically restricted to high-income countries for decision-makers in low-and middle-income countries to have full confidence in their judgements. Increasing the number of youth violence prevention programmes conducted in an evidence-generating way is therefore vital to ensure that an evidence-based approach will be used in the future.

References

- 1. Krug E, Dahlberg L, Mercy J, Zwi A, Lozano R. World report on violence and health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002.
- 2. Global status report on violence prevention 2014. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- 3. Handbook for Guideline Development. 2 ed. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- 4. Mercy JA, Butchart A, Farrington D, Cerdá M. In: World report on violence and health 2002. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002:23–56.
- Mercy JA, Butchart A, Rosenberg ML, Dahlberg L, Harvey A. Preventing violence in developing countries: a framework for action. International Journal of Injury Control and Safety Promotion. 2008;15(4):197–208.
- 6. Smith PK, Shu S. What good schools can do about bullying: findings from a survey in English schools after a decade of research and action. Childhood. 2000;7(2):193–212.
- Sivarajasingam V, Page N, Morgan P, Matthews K, Moore S, Shepherd J. Trends in community violence in England and Wales 2005–2009. Injury-International Journal of the Care of the Injured. 2014;45(3):592–8.
- 8. Florence C, Shepherd J, Brennan I, Simon T. Effectiveness of anonymised information sharing and use in health service, police, and local government partnership for preventing violence related injury: experimental study and time series analysis. British Medical Journal. 2011;342:d3313.
- 9. Gawryszewski VP, Silva MMA, Malta DC, Kegler SR, Mercy JA, Mascarenhas MDM, et al. Violencerelated injury in emergency departments in Brazil. Revista Panamericana De Salud Publica-Pan American Journal of Public Health. 2008;24(6):400–8.
- 10. Injury Prevention & Control: Data & Statistics (WISQARSTM) [Internet]. United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2014 (http://www.cdc.gov/injury/WISQARS/, accessed 20 August 2014).
- 11. Nicol A, Knowlton LM, Schuurman N, Matzopoulos R, Zargaran E, Cinnamon J, et al. Trauma Surveillance in Cape Town, South Africa: An Analysis of 9236 Consecutive Trauma Center Admissions. Jama Surgery. 2014;149(6):549–56.
- 12. Global School-based Student Health Survey (GSHS) [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (http://www.who.int/chp/gshs/en/ accessed 20 August 2014).
- 13. Enzmann D, Marshall IH, Killias M, Junger-Tas J, Steketee M, Gruszczynska B. Self-reported youth delinquency in Europe and beyond: First results of the second international self-report delinquency study in the context of police and victimization data. European Journal of Criminology. 2010;7(2):159–83.
- 14. Leen E, Sorbring E, Mawer M, Holdsworth E, Helsing B, Bowen E. Prevalence, dynamic risk factors and the efficacy of primary interventions for adolescent dating violence: An international review. Aggression and Violent Behavior. 2013;18(1):159–74.
- 15. Swart L-A, Seedat M, Stevens G, Ricardo I. Violence in adolescents' romantic relationships: findings from a survey amongst school-going youth in a South African community. Journal of Adolescence. 2002;25(4):385–95.
- 16. Philpart M, Goshu M, Gelaye B, Williams MA, Berhane Y. Prevalence and risk factors of genderbased violence committed by male college students in Awassa, Ethiopia. Violence and Victims. 2009;24(1):122–36.

- 17. Hidden in plain sight: A statistical analysis of violence against children. UNICEF: New York; 2014.
- Zohoori N, Ward E, Gordon G, Wilks R, Ashley D, Forrester T. Non-fatal violence-related injuries in Kingston, Jamaica: a preventable drain on resources. Injury Control and Safety Promotion. 2002;9(4):255–62.
- 19. WHO and the International Spinal Cord Society. International perspectives on spinal cord injury. World Health Organization: Geneva; 2013.
- 20. Brown DW, Riley L, Butchart A, Kann L. Bullying among youth from eight African countries and associations with adverse health behaviors. Pediatric Health. 2008;2(3):289–299.
- 21. Fekkes M, Pijpers FI, Fredriks AM, Vogels T, Verloove-Vanhorick SP. Do bullied children get ill, or do ill children get bullied? A prospective cohort study on the relationship between bullying and health-related symptoms. Pediatrics. 2006;117(5):1568–74.
- 22. Ttofi MM, Farrington DP, Lösel F, Loeber R. Do the victims of school bullies tend to become depressed later in life? A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. Journal of Aggression, Conflict and Peace Research. 2011;3(2):63–73.
- 23. Herrenkohl TI, Herrenkohl RC. Examining the overlap and prediction of multiple forms of child maltreatment, stressors, and socioeconomic status: A longitudinal analysis of youth outcomes. Journal of Family Violence. 2007;22(7):553–62.
- 24. Sousa C, Herrenkohl TI, Moylan CA, Tajima EA, Klika JB, Herrenkohl RC, et al. Longitudinal study on the effects of child abuse and children's exposure to domestic violence, parent-child attachments, and antisocial behavior in adolescence. Journal of Interpersonal Violence. 2011;26(1):111–36.
- 25. Loeber R, Burke JD. Developmental pathways in juvenile externalizing and internalizing problems. Journal of Research on Adolescence. 2011;21(1):34–46.
- 26. Mrug S, Windle M. Prospective effects of violence exposure across multiple contexts on early adolescents' internalizing and externalizing problems. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry. 2010;51(8):953–61.
- Eaton DK, Kann L, Kinchen S, Shanklin S, Flint KH, Hawkins J, et al. Youth risk behavior surveillance
 – United States, 2011. Morbidity and mortality weekly report surveillance summaries (Washington,
 DC: 2002). 2012;61(4):1–162.
- 28. Kokko K, Tremblay RE, Lacourse E, Nagin DS, Vitaro F. Trajectories of prosocial behavior and physical aggression in middle childhood: Links to adolescent school dropout and physical violence. Journal of Research on Adolescence. 2006;16(3):403–28.
- 29. Loeber R, Farrington DP, Stouthamer-Loeber M, White HR. Violence and serious theft: Development and prediction from childhood to adulthood. London: Taylor & Francis; 2008.
- 30. Lösel F, Farrington DP. Direct protective and buffering protective factors in the development of youth violence. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2012;43(2):S8–S23.
- 31. Jaffee SR, Strait LB, Odgers CL. From correlates to causes: can quasi-experimental studies and statistical innovations bring us closer to identifying the causes of antisocial behavior? Psychological bulletin. 2012;138(2):272.
- 32. Tanner-Smith EE, Wilson SJ, Lipsey MW. Risk factors and crime. The Oxford handbook of criminological theory. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2013:89–111.
- 33. Lipsey MW, Derzon JH. Predictors of violent or serious delinquency in adolescence and early adulthood: a synthesis of longitudinal research. In: Loeber R, Farrington DP, editors. Serious and violent juvenile offenders: risk factors and successful interventions. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 1998:86–105.
- 34. Ferguson CJ, San Miguel C, Hartley RD. A multivariate analysis of youth violence and aggression: the influence of family, peers, depression, and media violence. The Journal of Pediatrics. 2009;155(6):904–8. e3.
- 35. Thornberry TP. Membership in youth gangs and involvement in serious and violent offending. In: Loeber R. Farrington DP, editors. Serious and violent juvenile offenders: risk factors and successful interventions. London: Sage Publications; 1998:147–66.

- 36. Melde C, Esbensen F-A. Gangs and violence: Disentangling the impact of gang membership on the level and nature of offending. Journal of Quantitative Criminology. 2013;29(2):143–66.
- 37. Deater-Deckard K. Annotation: Recent research examining the role of peer relationships in the development of psychopathology. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry. 2001;42(05):565–79.
- 38. Kendler K, Jacobson K, Myers J, Eaves L. A genetically informative developmental study of the relationship between conduct disorder and peer deviance in males. Psychological Medicine. 2008;38(07):1001–11.
- 39. Homel R, Clark J. The prediction and prevention of violence in pubs and clubs. Crime Prevention Studies. 1994;3:1–46.
- 40. Mattila VM, Parkkari J, Lintonen T, Kannus P, Rimpelä A. Occurrence of violence and violencerelated injuries among 12–18-year-old Finns. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health. 2005;33(4):307–13.
- 41. Chikritzhs T, Catalano P, Stockwell T, Donath S, Ngo H, Young D, et al. Australian alcohol indicators, 1990–2001. Patterns of alcohol use and related harms for Australian states and territories. Perth: National Drug Research Institute, Turning Point 2003;200.
- 42. Maguin E, Hawkins JD, Catalano RF, Hill K, Abbott R, Herrenkohl T. Risk factors measured at three ages for violence at age 17–18. Paper presented at the American Society of Criminology, November 1995, Boston, MA.
- 43. Resnick MD, Ireland M, Borowsky I. Youth violence perpetration: what protects? What predicts? Findings from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. Journal of Adolescent health. 2004;35(5):424. e1–. e10.
- 44 Federal Bureau of Investigation. Uniform crime reports: Crime in the United Stated, 2013, Arrest Tables 39-42 [Internet]. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigation [cited 2015 Jun 08]. Available from: http://www.fbi.gov/about-us/cjis/ucr/crime-in-the-u.s/2013/ crime-in-the-u.s.-2013/persons-arrested/persons-arrested
- 45. Lynch JP, Pridemore WA. Crime in international perspective. Crime and public policy. 2011:5–52.
- 46. Elliott DS, Huizinga D, Menard S. Multiple problem youth: delinquency, drugs and mental health problems. New York, NY: Springer Science & Business Media; 1989.
- 47. Farrington DP. Childhood, adolescent and adult features of violent males. Aggressive Behavior: Springer; 1994:215–40.
- 48. Jansen PW, Verlinden M, Dommisse-van Berkel A, Mieloo C, van der Ende J, Veenstra R et al. Prevalence of bullying and victimization among children in early elementary school: Do family and school neighbourhood socioeconomic status matter? BMC Public Health. 2012;12(1):494.
- 49. Butchart A, Engström K. Sex-and age-specific relations between economic development, economic inequality and homicide rates in people aged 0–24 years: a cross-sectional analysis. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2002;80(10):797–805.
- 50. Frisell T, Lichtenstein P, Långström N. Violent crime runs in families: a total population study of 12.5 million individuals. Psychological Medicine. 2011;41(01):97–105.
- 51. Farrington DP. Understanding and preventing youth crime. York, UK: York Publishing Services Limited; 1996.
- 52. Sampson R, Laub J. Crime in the making: Pathways and turning points through life. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press; 1993.
- 53. Loeber R, Hay D. Key issues in the development of aggression and violence from childhood to early adulthood. Annual Review of Psychology. 1997;48(1):371–410.
- 54. Farrington DP. Childhood aggression and adult violence: Early precursors and later life outcomes. The development and treatment of childhood aggression. 1991:5–29.
- 55. Olds DL. Preventing child maltreatment and crime with prenatal and infancy support of parents: the nurse-family partnership. J Scand Stud Criminol Crime Prev. 2008;9(S1):2–24.

- 56. Fang X, Corso PS. Child maltreatment, youth violence, and intimate partner violence: developmental relationships. Am J Prev Med. 2007;33(4):281–90.
- 57. Smith C, Thornberry TP. The relationship between childhood maltreatment and adolescent involvement in delinquency. Criminology. 1995;33(4):451–81.
- 58. Maxfield MG, Widom CS. The cycle of violence: Revisited 6 years later. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine. 1996;150(4):390–5.
- 59. McCord, J. A thirty-year follow-up of treatment effects. American Psychologist. 1978;33(3):284.
- 60. Haapasalo J, Pokela E. Child-rearing and child abuse antecedents of criminality. Aggression and Violent Behavior. 1999;4(1):107–27.
- 61. Bernat DH, Oakes JM, Pettingell SL, Resnick M. Risk and direct protective factors for youth violence: results from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2012;43(2):S57–S66.
- 62. Sethi D. European report on preventing violence and knife crime among young people. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.
- 63. Moffitt TE. The neuropsychology of conduct disorder. Development and Psychopathology. 1993;5(1–2):135–51.
- 64. Lynam D, Moffitt T, Stouthamer-Loeber M. Explaining the relation between IQ and delinquency: Class, race, test motivation, school failure, or self-control? Journal of Abnormal psychology. 1993;102(2):187.
- 65. Stattin H, Klackenberg-Larsson I. Early language and intelligence development and their relationship to future criminal behavior. Journal of Abnormal Psychology. 1993;102(3):369.
- 66. Ward DA, Tittle CR. IQ and delinquency: A test of two competing explanations. Journal of Quantitative Criminology. 1994;10(3):189–212.
- 67. Boyer D, Fine D. Sexual abuse as a factor in adolescent pregnancy and child maltreatment. Family Planning Perspectives. 1992:4–19.
- 68. Pemberton CK, Neiderhiser JM, Leve LD, Natsuaki MN, Shaw DS, Reiss D et al. Influence of parental depressive symptoms on adopted toddler behaviors: An emerging developmental cascade of genetic and environmental effects. Development and Psychopathology. 2010;22(04):803–18.
- 69. Chassin L, Rogosch F, Barrera M. Substance use and symptomatology among adolescent children of alcoholics. Journal of Abnormal Psychology. 1991;100(4):449.
- 70. Hill SY, Muka D. Childhood psychopathology in children from families of alcoholic female probands. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry. 1996;35(6):725–33.
- 71. Bangalore S, Messerli FH. Gun ownership and firearm-related deaths. The American Journal of Medicine. 2013;126(10):873–6.
- 72. Siegel M, Ross CS, King III C. The relationship between gun ownership and firearm homicide rates in the United States, 1981–2010. American Journal of Public Health. 2013;103(11):2098–105.
- 73. Anglemyer A, Horvath T, Rutherford G. The accessibility of firearms and risk for suicide and homicide victimization among household members: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2014;160(2):101–10.
- 74. Rogers ML, Pridemore WA. The effect of poverty and social protection on national homicide rates: Direct and moderating effects. Social Science Research. 2013;42(3):584–95.
- Keane J, Bell P. Confidence in the police: Balancing public image with community safety

 a comparative review of the literature. International Journal of Law Crime and Justice.
 2013;41(3):233–46.
- 76. Brook DW, Brook JS, Rosen Z, De la Rosa M, Montoya ID, Whiteman M. Early risk factors for violence in Colombian adolescents. The American Journal of Psychology. 2003;160(8):1470-1478.
- 77. Souverein FA, Ward CL, Visser I, Burton P. Serious, violent young offenders in South Africa -are they life-course persistent offenders? Journal of Interpersonal Violence. 23 February 2015:0886260515570748.

- 78. Hughes K, Bellis MA, Hardcastle KA, Butchart A, Dahlberg LL, Mercy JA et al. Global development and diffusion of outcome evaluation research for interpersonal and self-directed violence prevention from 2007 to 2013: A systematic review. Aggression and Violent Behavior. 2014;19(6):655–62.
- Dahlberg LL, Butchart A. State of the science: violence prevention efforts in developing and developed countries. International Journal of Injury Control and Safety Promotion. 2005;12(2):93– 104.
- 80. Peacock S, Konrad S, Watson E, Nickel D, Muhajarine N. Effectiveness of home visiting programs on child outcomes: a systematic review. BMC public health. 2013;13(1):17.
- 81. Kitzman HJ, Olds DL, Cole RE, Hanks CA, Anson EA, Arcoleo KJ et al. Enduring effects of prenatal and infancy home visiting by nurses on children: follow-up of a randomized trial among children at age 12 years. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine. 2010;164(5):412–8.
- 82. Bilukha O, Hahn RA, Crosby A, Fullilove MT, Liberman A, Moscicki E et al. The effectiveness of early childhood home visitation in preventing violence a systematic review. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2005;28(2):11–39.
- 83. Olds D, Henderson CR, Robert Cole Jr JE, Kitzman H, Luckey D, Pettitt L et al. Long-term effects of nurse home visitation on children's criminal and antisocial behavior: Fifteen-year follow-up of a randomized controlled trial. In: Feldman MA, editor. Early intervention: The essential readings. Oxford, UK: Blackwell; 2004:238–55.
- 84. Olds DL, Kitzman HJ, Cole RE, Hanks CA, Arcoleo KJ, Anson EA, et al. Enduring effects of prenatal and infancy home visiting by nurses on maternal life course and government spending: follow-up of a randomized trial among children at age 12 years. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2010;164(5):419– 24.
- 85. Knerr W, Gardner F, Cluver L. Improving positive parenting skills and reducing harsh and abusive parenting in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic review. Prev Sci. 2013; DOI 10.1007/ s11121-012-0314-1.
- 86. Karoly LA, Kilburn MR, Cannon JS. Early childhood interventions: Proven results, future promise. Rand Corporation; 2006.
- 87. Barlow J, Jonston I, Kendrick D, Polnay L, Stewart-Brown S. Individual and group-based parenting programmes for the treatment of physical child abuse and neglect. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2006(3).
- 88. Herrenkohl TI, Maguin E, Hill KG, Hawkins JD, Abbott RD, Catalano RF. Developmental risk factors for youth violence. Journal of Adolescent Health. 2000;26(3):176–86.
- 89. Piquero AR, Farrington DP, Welsh BC, Tremblay R, Jennings WG. Effects of early family/parent training programs on antisocial behavior and delinquency. Journal of Experimental Criminology. 2009;5(2):83–120.
- 90. Furlong M, McGilloway S, Bywater T, Hutchings J, Smith SM, Donnelly M. Behavioural and cognitive-behavioural group-based parenting programmes for early-onset conduct problems in children aged 3 to 12 years. The Cochrane Library. 2012.
- 91. Sandler I, Schoenfelder E, Wolchik S, MacKinnon D. Long-term impact of prevention programs to promote effective parenting: Lasting effects but uncertain processes. Annual review of Psychology. 2011;62:299.
- 92. Law J, Plunkett C, Taylor J, Gunning M. Developing policy in the provision of parenting programmes: Integrating a review of reviews with the perspectives of both parents and professionals. Child: care, health and development. 2009;35(3):302–12.
- 93. Wyatt Kaminski J, Valle L, Filene J, Boyle C. A Meta-analytic review of components associated with parent training program effectiveness. Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology. 2008;36(4):567–89.
- 94. University of Colorado, Boulder?Institute of Behavioral Science,?Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence. Blueprints for healthy youth development 2014 [cited 2014 15.12.2014] (http://www.blueprintsprograms.com, accessed 3 June 2015).

- 95. Jordans MJ, Tol W, Ndayisaba A, Komproe I. A controlled evaluation of a brief parenting psychoeducation intervention in Burundi. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology. 2013;48(11):1851–9.
- 96. Parenting for Lifelong Health 2015. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/child/plh/en/, accessed 3 June 2015).
- 97. Coren E, Barlow J, Stewart-Brown S. The effectiveness of individual and group-based parenting programmes in improving outcomes for teenage mothers and their children: a systematic review. Journal of Adolescence. 2003;26(1):79–103.
- 98. Barnett S. Lives in the balance: Age-27 benefit-cost analysis of the High/Scope Perry Preschool Program. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Foundation; 1996.
- 99. Belsky J. Effects of child care on child development: give parents real choice. London: Institute for the Study of Children, Families and Social Issues, Birkbeck University of London; 2009.
- 100. Farrington DP, Welsh BC. Family-based prevention of offending: A meta-analysis. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Criminology. 2003;36(2):127–51.
- 101. Mikton C, Butchart A. Child maltreatment prevention: a systematic review of reviews. Bull World Health Organ. 2009;87(5):353–61.
- 102. Compilation of evidence-based family skills training programmes. Vienna: UN Office on Drugs and Crime; 2010.
- 103. McDonald L, Doostgharin T. UNODC Global Family Skills Initiative. Social Work and Social Sciences Review. 2013;16(2):51–75.
- 104. Maalouf W, Campello G. The influence of family skills programmes on violence indicators: Experience from a multi-site project of the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime in low- and middle-income countries. Aggression and Violent Behavior. 2014;19(6):616–24.
- 105. Lake A, Chan M. Putting science into practice for early child development. The Lancet. 2014;385:1816–1817.
- 106. Barnett WS, Masse LN. Comparative benefit–cost analysis of the Abecedarian program and its policy implications. Economics of Education Review. 2007;26(1):113–25.
- 107. Nores M, Belfield C, Barnett W, Scheinhart L. Updating the economic impacts of the High/Scope Perry Preschool Program. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis. 2005;27(3):245–61.
- 108. Baker-Henningham H, Walker S, Powell C, Gardner JM. A pilot study of the Incredible Years Teacher Training programme and a curriculum unit on social and emotional skills in community preschools in Jamaica. Child: care, Health and Development. 2009;35(5):624–31.
- 109. Della Sanità OM. Life skills education in Schools. Ginevra: OMS. 1993.
- 110. Wilson SJ, Lipsey MW. School-based interventions for aggressive and disruptive behavior: Update of a meta-analysis. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2007;33(2):S130–S43.
- 111. Hahn R, Fuqua-Whitley D, Wethington H, Lowy J, Crosby A, Fullilove M et al. Effectiveness of universal school-based programs to prevent violent and aggressive behavior: A systematic review. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2007;33(2):S114–S29.
- 112. Krauskopf D, Maddaleno M. Estado del arte de los programas de prevención de la violencia en ámbitos escolares. Pan American Health Organization / Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit, 2006 (http://iris.paho.org/xmlui/handle/123456789/2732, accessed 11 June 2015).
- 113. Mytton J, DiGuiseppi C, Gough D, Taylor R, Logan S. School-based secondary prevention programmes for preventing violence. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2006;3(2).
- 114. The Effectiveness of universal school-based programs for the prevention of violent and aggressive behavior. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2007.
- 115. Chaux E. Aulas en Paz: A multicomponent program for the promotion of peaceful relationships and citizenship competencies. Conflict Resolution Quarterly. 2007;25(1):79–86.

- 116. Gladden RM, Vivolo-Kantor AM, Hamburger ME, Lumpkin CD. Bullying surveillance among youths: Uniform definitions for public health and recommended data elements, Version 1.0. Atlanta, GA: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and US Department of Education; 2014.
- 117. Evans CB, Fraser MW, Cotter KL. The effectiveness of school-based bullying prevention programs: A systematic review. Aggression and Violent Behavior. 2014;19(5):532–44.
- 118. Farrington D, Ttofi M. School-based programs to reduce bullying and victimization: a systematic review. Campbell Systematic Reviews. 2009 (http://campbellcollaboration.org/lib/project/77/, accessed 11 June 2015).
- 119. Olweus D. Annotation: Bullying at school: Basic facts and effects of a school-based intervention program. Child Psychology & Psychiatry & Allied Disciplines. 1994.
- 120. Salmivalli C, Kärnä A, Poskiparta E. Counteracting bullying in Finland: The KiVa program and its effects on different forms of being bullied. International Journal of Behavioral Development. 2011;35(5):405–11.
- 121. Ortega R, Del Rey R. Aciertos y desaciertos del proyecto Sevilla Anti-violencia Escolar (SAVE). Revista de educación. 2001;324:253–70.
- 122. Cunningham W, Cohan LM, Naudeau S, McGinnis L. Supporting youth at risk. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2008.
- 123. Posner JK, Vandell DL. Low-income children's after-school care: Are there beneficial effects of after-school programs? Child development. 1994;65(2):440–56.
- 124. Shapiro J, Trevino JM. Compensatory education for disadvantaged Mexican students: An impact evaluation using propensity score matching: World Bank Publications; 2004.
- 125. Cameron L. Can a public scholarship program successfully reduce school drop-outs in a time of economic crisis? Evidence from Indonesia. Economics of Education Review. 2009;28(3):308–17.
- 126. Goldschmidt P, Huang D, Chinen M. The long-term effects of after-school programming on educational adjustment and juvenile crime: A study of the LA's BEST after-school program. Los Angeles: UCLA/CRESST 2007;8:2008.
- 127. Education Development Center. Radio Instruction to Strengthen Education (RISE). Report. Dar es Salam:2010.
- 128. Fellmeth GL, Heffernan C, Nurse J, Habibula S, Sethi D. Educational and skills-based interventions for preventing relationship and dating violence in adolescents and young adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;6:CD004534.
- 129. Whitaker D, Morrison S, Lindquist C, Hawkins S, O'Neil J, Nesius A et al. A critical review of interventions for the primary prevention of perpetration of partner violence. Aggression and Violent Behavior. 2006;11(2):151–66.
- 130. PREPARE. Promoting Sexual and Reproductive Health among adolescents in southern and eastern Africa 2014 [website] (http://prepare.b.uib.no/, accessed 3 June 2015).
- 131. Wolfe DA, Crooks C, Jaffe P, Chiodo D, Hughes R, Ellis W et al. A school-based program to prevent adolescent dating violence: a cluster randomized trial. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine. 2009;163(8):692.
- 132. Catalano RF, Oesterle S, Fleming CB, Hawkins JD. The importance of bonding to school for healthy development: Findings from the Social Development Research Group. Journal of School Health. 2004;74(7):252–61.
- 133. Hahn A, Leavitt T, Aaron P. Evaluation of the Quantum Opportunities Program: Did the program work? Waltham, MA: Brandeis University; 1994.
- 134. Slavin R. Can financial incentives enhance educational outcomes? Evidence from international experiments. Best Evidence Encyclopeida (BEE). 2009.
- 135. Behrman JR, Parker SW, Todd PE. Do conditional cash transfers for schooling generate lasting benefits? A five-year followup of PROGRESA/Oportunidades. Journal of Human Resources. 2011;46(1):93–122.

- 136. Fiszbein A, Schady NR, Ferreira FH. Conditional cash transfers: reducing present and future poverty. World Bank Publications; 2009.
- 137. Fernald LC, Gertler PJ, Neufeld LM. 10-year effect of Oportunidades, Mexico's conditional cash transfer programme, on child growth, cognition, language, and behaviour: a longitudinal follow-up study. The Lancet. 2009;374(9706):1997–2005.
- 138. Ferro AR, Kassouf AL. Avaliação do impacto dos programas de bolsa escola sobre o trabalho infantil no Brasil. Pesquisa e Planejamento Econômico. 2005;35(3):417–44.
- 139. Soares SSD. Bolsa Família, its design, its impacts and possibilities for the future. Working Paper, International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth, 2012.
- 140. Attanasio O, Battistin E, Fitzsimons E, Mesnard A, Vera-Hernandez M. How Effective are Conditional Cash Transfers? Evidence from Colombia. London: Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2005.
- 141. Lindert K. Brazil: Bolsa Familia Program scaling-up cash transfers for the poor. 2006. In: Sourcebook on emerging good practice in managing for development results [Internet]. Washington D.C: World Bank.
- 142. Farrington D, Ttofi M. School-based programs to reduce bullying and victimization. Campbell Systematic Reviews. 2009;6.
- 143. Burrell NA, Zirbel CS, Allen M. Evaluating peer mediation outcomes in educational settings: A meta-analytic review. Conflict Resolution Quarterly. 2003;21(1):7–26.
- 144. Dodge K, Dishion T, Lansford J, editors. Deviant peer influences in programs for youth: problems and solutions. New York: The Gilford Press; 2006.
- 145. Landry R. Peers making peace: Evaluation report. Houston, TX: Research and Educational Services; 2003.
- 146. Durlak JA, Weissberg RP, Pachan M. A meta-analysis of after-school programs that seek to promote personal and social skills in children and adolescents. Am J Community Psychol. 2010;45(3–4):294–309.
- 147. Mahatmya D, Lohman B. Predictors of late adolescent delinquency: The protective role of afterschool activities in low-income families. Children and Youth Services Review. 2011;33(7):1309–17.
- 148. Wright R, John L, Sheel J. Lessons learned from the National Arts and Youth Demonstration Project: Longitudinal study of a Canadian after-school program. Journal of Child & Family Studies. 2007;16(1):48–58.
- 149. Open Schools: education and culture for peace. Brazilia: UNESCO; 2008.
- 150. Abramovay M. Abrindo espaços Bahia: avaliação do programa: UNESCO: Observatório de Violências nas Escolas: Universidade Católica de Brasília: UNIRIO; 2003 (http://unesdoc.unesco. org/images/0013/001313/131368por.pdf, accessed 11 June 2015).
- 151. Garrido V, Quintro LAM. Serious (violent and chronic) juvenile offenders: A systematic review of treatment effectiveness in secure corrections. Campbell Systematic Reviews. 2007;3(7).
- 152. Lipsey M, Landenberger NA, Wilson SJ. Effects of cognitive-behavioral programs for criminal offenders: A systematic review. Campbell Systematic Reviews. 2007;3(6).
- 153. Litschge CM, Vaughn MG, McCrea C. The empirical status of treatments for children and youth with conduct problems: An overview of meta-analytic studies. Sage: Research on Social Work Practice; 2009.
- 154. Aos S, Phipps P, Barnoski R, Lieb R. The comparative costs and benefits of programs to reduce crime. Version 4.0. 2001.
- 155. Henggeler S, Pickrel S, Brondino M. Multisystemic treatment of substance-abusing and dependent delinquents: Outcomes, treatment fidelity, and transportability. Mental Health Services Research. 1999;1(3):171–84.
- 156. Ross RR, Ross R. Thinking straight: The reasoning and rehabilitation program for delinquency prevention and offender rehabilitation. Air Training & Publications; 1995.

- 157. Joy Tong L, Farrington DP. How effective is the "Reasoning and Rehabilitation" programme in reducing reoffending? A meta-analysis of evaluations in four countries. Psychology, Crime & Law. 2006;12(1):3–24.
- 158. Griffin Jr JP, Holliday RC, Frazier E, Braithwaite RL. The BRAVE (Building Resiliency and Vocational Excellence) Program: evaluation findings for a career-oriented substance abuse and violence preventive intervention. Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved. 2009;20(3):798–816.
- 159. Sigal AB, Wolchik SA, Tein J-Y, Sandler IN. Enhancing youth outcomes following parental divorce: A longitudinal study of the effects of the New Beginnings Program on educational and occupational goals. Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology. 2012;41(2):150–65.
- 160. Casey RE. Delinquency prevention through vocational entrepreneurship: The New Smyrna Beach employability skill training model for youthful offenders. Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth. 1996;40(2):60–2.
- 161. Everson-Hock E, Jones R, Guillaume L, Duenas A, Goyder L, Chilcott J et al. Review E1: The effect of support services for transition to adulthood/leaving care on the adult outcomes of looked after young people. 2010.
- 162. Cunningham W, Cohan LM, Naudeau S, McGinnis L. Supporting youth at risk: A policy toolkit for middle-income countries. Washington D.C.: World Bank; 2008.
- 163. Aedo C, Pizarro M. Rentabilidad económica del programa de capacitación laboral de jóvenes Chile Joven. INACAP and Mideplan Santiago de Chile; 2004.
- 164. Tolan P, Henry D, Schoeny M, Bass A. Mentoring Interventions to affect juvenile delinquency and associated problems. Campbell Systematic Reviews. 2008;16.
- 165. De Wit DJ, Lipman E, Manzano-Munguia M, Bisanz J, Graham K, Offord DR et al. Feasibility of a randomized controlled trial for evaluating the effectiveness of the Big Brothers Big Sisters community match program at the national level. Children and Youth Services Review. 2007;29(3):383–404.
- 166. Jackson Y. Mentoring for delinquent children: An outcome study with young adolescent children. Journal of Youth and Adolescence. 2002;31(2):115–22.
- 167. Herrera C, Grossman JB, Kauh TJ, Feldman AF, McMaken J. Making a difference in schools: The Big Brothers Big Sisters school-based mentoring impact study. Public/Private Ventures. 2007.
- 168. Lafontaine T, Ferguson M, Wormith J. Street gangs: A review of the empirical literature on community and corrections-based prevention, intervention and suppression strategies. Saskatoon: University of Saskatchewan; 2005.
- 169. Klein MW, Maxson CL. Street gang patterns and policies. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2006.
- 170. Hodgkinson J. Reducing gang related crime: a systematic review of 'comprehensive' interventions. London: EPPI-Centre; 2009.
- 171. Cooper A, Ward CL. Prevention, disengagement and suppression: A systematic review of the literature on strategies for addressing young people's involvement in gangs. Cape Town, South Africa: Human Sciences Research Council; 2008.
- 172. Fisher H, Gardner F, Montgomery P. Cognitive-behavioural interventions for preventing youth gang involvement for children and young people (7–16). The Cochrane Library. 2008.
- 173. Houston J. Correctional management: Functions, skills, and systems. Nelson-Hall; 1995.
- 174. Knox GW, Harris JM. The facts about gang life in America today: A national study of over 4000 gang members. Peotone, Illinois: National Gang Crime Research Center; 1997.
- 175. Huff CR. Comparing the criminal behavior of youth gangs and at-risk youths. Research in Brief. Washington D.C.: US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs; 1998.
- 176. Seelke C. Gangs in central America. Washington D.C.: Congressional Research Service; 2013.
- 177. Rodgers D. Youth gangs and violence in Latin America and the Caribbean: A literature survey: World Bank, Latin America and the Caribbean Region, Environmentally and Socially Sustainable Development SMU; 1999.

- 178. Sherman LW, Gartin PR, Buerger ME. Hotspots of predatory crime: Routine activities and the criminology of place. Criminology. 1989;27(1):27–56.
- 179. Braga A, Papachristos A, Hureau D. Hotspots policing effects on crime. Campbell Systematic Reviews. 2012;8(8):1–96.
- 180. Braga A, Papachristos A, Hureau D. Hotspots policing effects on crime. Campbell Systematic Reviews. 2012;8.
- 181. Warburton A, Shepherd JP. Tackling alcohol-related violence in city centres: effect of emergency medicine and police intervention. Emergency Medicine Journal. 2006;23(1):12–7.
- 182. Florence C, Shepherd J, Brennan I, Simon TR. An economic evaluation of anonymised information sharing in a partnership between health services, police and local government for preventing violence-related injury. Injury Prevention. 2014;20(2):108–14.
- Information Standards Board for Health and Social Care. Information sharing to tackle violence.
 2014 (http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http://www.isb.nhs.uk/library/standard/265, accessed 3 June 2015).
- 184. Weisburd D, Gill C, Telep C, Bennett T. Community-oriented policing to reduce crime, disorder and fear and increase legitimacy and citizen satisfaction in neighborhoods. 2012.
- 185. Trojanowicz RC, Pollard B, Colgan F, Harden H. Community policing programs: A twenty-year view. Michigan: National Neighborhood Foot Patrol Center, School of Criminal Justice, Michigan State University; 1986.
- 186. White MD, Fyfe JJ, Campbell SP, Goldkamp JS. The police role in preventing homicide: Considering the impact of problem-oriented policing on the prevalence of murder. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency. 2003;40(2):194–225.
- 187. Alves MC, Arias ED. Understanding the Fica Vivo programme: Two-tiered community policing in Belo Horizonte, Brazil. Policing and Society. 2012;22(1):101–13.
- 188. Room R, Babor T, Rehm J. Alcohol and public health. The Lancet. 2005;365(9458):519–30.
- 189. WHO, John Moores University CfPH. Youth violence and alcohol. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006.
- 190. Norström T. Per capita alcohol consumption and all?cause mortality in 14 European countries. Addiction. 2001;96(1s1):113-28.
- 191. Wagenaar AC, Tobler AL, Komro KA. Effects of alcohol tax and price policies on morbidity and mortality: a systematic review. American Journal of Public Health. 2010;100(11):2270–8.
- 192. Sornpaisarn B, Shield K, Cohen J, Schwartz R, Rehm J. Elasticity of alcohol consumption, alcoholrelated harms and drinking initiation in low-and middle-income countries: A systematic review and meta-analysis. The International Journal of Alcohol and Drug Research. 2013;2(1):45–58.
- 193. Booth A, Meier P, Shapland J, Wong R, Paisley S. Alcohol pricing and criminal harm: a rapid evidence assessment of the published research literature. 2011.
- 194. Stockwell T, Auld MC, Zhao J, Martin G. Does minimum pricing reduce alcohol consumption? The experience of a Canadian province. Addiction. 2012;107(5):912–20.
- 195. Kypri K, McCambridge J, Vater T, Bowe SJ, Saunders JB, Cunningham JA et al. Web-based alcohol intervention for Maori university students: double-blind, multi-site randomized controlled trial. Addiction. 2013;108(2):331–8.
- 196. Karlsson T, Lindeman M, Österberg E. Does alcohol policy make any difference? Scales and consumption. Alcohol Policy in Europe: Evidence from AMPHORA. 2012:15.
- 197. Swahn M, editor. Alcohol marketing exposures among school students in the Philippines: A repeated cross sectional survey design of GSHS data from 2003 to 2011. The 20th IEA World Congress of Epidemiology (17–21 August 2014, Anchorage, AK); 2014.
- 198. Foxcroft DR, Ireland D, Lister, Sharp DJ, Lowe G, Breen R. Longer-term primary prevention for alcohol misuse in young people: A systematic review. Addiction. 2003;98(4):397–411.

- 199. Blow FC, Walton MA, Murray R, Cunningham RM, Chermack ST, Barry KL et al. Intervention attendance among emergency department patients with alcohol- and drug-use disorders. Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs. 2010;71(5):713.
- 200. Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.
- 201. Anderson P, Chrisholm D, Fuhr D. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of policies and programmes to reduce the harm caused by alcohol. Lancet. 2009;373:2234–46.
- 202. Duailibi S, Ponicki W, Grube J, Pinsky I, Laranjeira R, Raw M. The effect of restricting opening hours on alcohol-related violence. American Journal of Public Health. 2007;97(12):2276–80.
- 203. Shaw M, Travers K, editors. Strategies and best practices in crime prevention, in particular in relation to urban areas and youth at risk. Proceedings of the workshop held at the Eleventh United Nations Congress on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice, Bangkok, Thailand; 2005.
- 204. Hawkins JD, Catalano RF, Arthur MW. Promoting science-based prevention in communities. Addictive behaviors. 2002;27(6):951–76.
- 205. International standards on drug use prevention. Vienna: UN Office on Drugs and Crime; 2013.
- 206. World Drug Report. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2012.
- 207. Boles SM, Miotto K. Substance abuse and violence: A review of the literature. Aggression and Violent Behavior. 2003;8(2):155–74.
- 208. Sussman S, Dent CW, Stacy AW. Project towards no drug abuse: A review of the findings and future directions. American Journal of Health Behavior. 2002;26(5):354–65.
- 209. Gerra G, Clark NC. From coercion to cohesion: treating drug dependence through health care, not punishment. 2009.
- 210. Chandler RK, Fletcher BW, Volkow ND. Treating drug abuse and addiction in the criminal justice system: improving public health and safety. JAMA. 2009;301(2):183–90.
- 211. Stallwitz A, Stöver H. The impact of substitution treatment in prisons: A literature review. International Journal of Drug Policy. 2007;18(6):464–74.
- 212. Corsaro N, Hunt ED, Hipple NK, McGarrell EF. Overview of the impact of drug market pulling levers policing on neighborhood violence: An evaluation of the high point drug market intervention. Criminology & Public Policy. 2012;11(2):165–6.
- 213. Volkow ND. Principles of drug addiction treatment: A research-based guide. DIANE Publishing; 2011.
- 214. Sistematización del modelo policial comunitario proactivo de Nicaragua. 1st Edition. Managua; Policía Nacional de Nicaragua: 2011 p62 (http://www.policia.gob.ni/cedoc/sector/revistas/ sistematizacion.pdf, accessed 11 June 2015).
- 215. UNGA. United Nations Protocol against the Illicit Manufacturing of and Trafficking in Firearms, Their Parts and Components and Ammunition. 2001.
- 216. Hemenway D, Miller M. Firearm availability and homicide rates across 26 high-income countries. Journal of Trauma-Injury Infection and Critical Care. 2000;49(6):985–8.
- 217. Global Study on Homicide 2013: Trends, context, data. Vienna: UN Office on Drugs and Crime; 2013.
- 218. Hahn RA, Bilukha O, Crosby A, Fullilove MT, Liberman A, Moscicki E et al. Firearms laws and the reduction of violence – A systematic review. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2005;28(2):40–71.
- 219. Makarios MD, Pratt TC. The effectiveness of policies and programs that attempt to reduce firearm violence: A meta-analysis. Crime & Delinquency. 2012;58(2):222–44.
- 220. Koper C, Mayo-Wilson E. police strategies for reducing illegal possession and carrying of firearms. 2012.
- 221. Matzopoulos RG, Thompson ML, Myers JE. Firearm and nonfirearm homicide in 5 South African cities: A retrospective population-based study. American Journal of Public Health. 2014;104(3):455–60.

- 222. Hepburn L, Miller M, Azrael D, Hemenway D. The US gun stock: results from the 2004 national firearms survey. Injury Prevention. 2007;13(1):15–9.
- 223. Webster DW, Vernick JS, Zeoli AM, Manganello JA. Association between youth-focused firearm laws and youth suicides. Jama. 2004;292(5):594–601.
- 224. Allard D, Burch V. The cost of treating serious abdominal firearm-related injuries in South Africa. South African Medical Journal. 2005;95(8):591–4.
- 225. Ward E, McCartney T, Brown DW, Grant A, Butchart A, Taylor M.Technical Working Group for the Costing Study. Bhoorasingh P, Wong H, Morris C, Deans-Clarke AM, East J, Valentine C, Dundas S, Pinnock C. Results of an exercise to estimate the costs of interpersonal violence in Jamaica. West Indian Med J. 2009;58(5):446–51.
- 226. Newman O. Defensible space. New York: Macmillan; 1972.
- 227. Cassidy T, Inglis G, Wiysonge C, Matzopoulos R. A systematic review of the effects of poverty deconcentration and urban upgrading on youth violence. Health & Place. 2014;26:78–87.
- 228. Welsh B, Farrington D. Effects of improved street lighting on crime. Campbell Systematic Reviews; 2008.
- 229. Jerry HRe, Tr vi T, Ralph B T. Crime reduction effects of public CCTV Cameras: A multi-method spatial approach. Justice Quarterly. 2009;26(4):746 to 70; 25.
- 230. Cerda M, Morenoff JD, Hansen BB, Hicks KJT, Duque LF, Restrepo A et al. Reducing violence by transforming neighborhoods: A natural experiment in Medellin, Colombia. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2012;175(10):1045–53.
- Kling JR, Ludwig J, Katz LF. Neighborhood effects on crime for female and male youth: Evidence from a randomized housing voucher experiment. The Quarterly Journal of Economics. 2005:87– 130.
- 232. Sciandra M, Sanbonmatsu L, Duncan GJ, Gennetian LA, Katz LF, Kessler RC et al. Long-term effects of the Moving to Opportunity residential mobility experiment on crime and delinquency. Journal of Experimental Criminology. 2013;9(4):451–89.
- 233. Preventing injuries and violence: a guide for ministries of health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007.
- 234. Strengthening the role of the health system in addressing violence, in particular against women and girls, and against children (WHA 67.15). 2014.
- 235. Implementing the recommendations of the World Report on Violence and Health (WHA 56.24). 2003.
- 236. ECOSOC. Strengthening social policies as a tool for crime prevention (E/2014/30). 2014.
- 237. Holder Y, Peden M, Krug E et al (Eds). Injury surveillance guidelines. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2001.
- 238. Guidelines for conducting community surveys on injuries and violence. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004.
- 239 World Health Organization. Teach violence and injury prevention, 2nd edition. Geneva: 2002.



Management of Noncommunicable Diseases, Disability, Violence and Injury Prevention (NVI)

World Health Organization 20 Avenue Appia CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

Tel +41-22-791-2064 violenceprevention@who.int

Download this document at http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/181008/1/9789241509251_eng.pdf?ua=1 ISBN 978 92 4 150925 1

